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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the main board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the“Director(s)”) of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the”GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Liang (Chairman)
Mr. Feng Xianhuai (Managing Director)
(appointed on 3 August 2024)
Mr. Wang Hongpeng (resigned on 16 March 2025)
Mr. Xiao Yong (resigned on 20 May 2024)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chen Zheng (Deputy Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Yiu Kin

Mr. Zheng Xiaodong

Ms. Wu Chunhua

Ms. Yang Siwei (appointed on 19 August 2024)

Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law (retired on 24 May 2024)
Mr. Li Yao (resigned on 1 August 2024)

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Xu Liang (Chairman)
Mr. Feng Xianhuai (Managing Director)
(appointed on 3 August 2024)
Mr. Wang Hongpeng (resigned on 16 March 2025)
Mr. Xiao Yong (resigned on 20 May 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lam Yiu Kin (Chairman)
Mr. Zheng Xiaodong
Ms. Wu Chunhua
(appointed as a member on 1 August 2024)
Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law (retired on 24 May 2024)
Mr. Li Yao (appointed as a member on 24 May 2024 and
resigned on 1 August 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Xu Liang (Chairman)

Mr. Lam Yiu Kin

Mr. Zheng Xiaodong

Ms. Wu Chunhua (appointed as a member on 24 May 2024)
Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law (retired on 24 May 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Wu Chunhua (Chairman)
(appointed as Chairman & member on 24 May 2024)
Mr. Xu Liang (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Lam Yiu Kin
Mr. Zheng Xiaodong
Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law (retired on 24 May 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Xu Liang
Mr. Shang Yuxiong
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Shang Yuxiong
Member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants and
Registered PIE Auditor

BERMUDA PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services
(Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG

5/F., Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre
56 Gloucester Road

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

8271

WEBSITE

www.gdc-world.com
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Liang, aged 59, is a senior accountant, graduated
from Fudan University and obtained a bachelor’s degree in
statistics and a master’s degree in business administration
from Tsinghua University. Mr. Xu has been the Chairman of
the board of Directors (the “Board”), the Chairman of each
of the executive committee (the “Executive Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the Vice Chairman of the remuneration
committee (the “"Remuneration Committee”) of the
Company between June 2017 and July 2018 and since June
2021, and an Executive Director and a member of each of
the Executive Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee of the Company since June
2017. Mr. Xu joined Shougang Group Co., Ltd. (“Shougang
Group”), the ultimate holding company of Shougang
Holding (Hong Kong) Limited (“Shougang Hong Kong”) in
1988 and held various senior positions. He is the managing
director of Shougang Hong Kong and an executive director
of Shoucheng Holdings Limited (“Shoucheng Holdings”)
which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Shougang Group
and Shougang Hong Kong are substantial shareholders
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws
of Hong Kong (“SFO"). Mr. Xu has extensive experience in
management. He was a chairman and an executive director
of Capital Industrial Financial Services Group Limited
(formerly known as “Shougang Concord Grand (Group)
Limited”) (“Capital Financial”) in the past three years.

Mr. Feng Xianhuai, aged 45, is a senior economist, holds a
bachelor’'s degree in Economics from Zhongnan University
of Economics and Law. Mr. Feng was appointed as an
Executive Director, the Managing Director and a member of
the Executive Committee of the Company in August 2024.
Mr. Feng joined Shougang Group in August 2002 and held
various senior positions in Shougang Group’'s subsidiaries.
Mr. Feng has extensive experience in corporate
management and financial management. Currently, he is a
deputy general manager of Shougang Hong Kong.

6 Annual Report 2024 F£ &£ 3R

HBITES

BREXRE  HFI - BB TEE  2ER
EEREBVESHERTB SN HEBES
BEABIFERELTENMN - REER2017
F6HZE2018F7 A A M B2021F6 AR AL
ARAZEEG([EEC)EF WTZET
(IarTZeg]) RIRREES ([RERZEg])
CEBURFHEZES ([FMEES]) 28
THE - UAKRB2017F6 AR ARRRNITES
MATEES REZEBEChFWNZESZ
KE - RAEAEMIIBSFIMAEMERFR A
Al (TEWMER]  AEMEZER(FE) BRAA
([BAEE]) 2H&EERATR)  TEETSZ
EEREi - FRATSEEZESTHALER
BRIZERBERAR ([HRRER]) ZHITES -
BRERREIET BMEEREEEE
BARNRZEBRE (REBEEBEFIFE71E
(BEHEMHBEEN) (EHRBEKEDN)) EXV
HEF2HE) BELENERNBAELE
KE - RIEREA-FEETEEELESRRSE
SEERAR(FIRAIERES (5B AR
rE)((BEEMD ZEFERNITES -

BERMAE  IRFAE - B BSER - #48
PR EEAERNBLBEEBE T BA o FiER
2024F8AEEZEARNRRIZHTESTHRES
RSB RWMITEZEGKE - HF1KR20026F8A N
ABHEE TEREREEET ZHEBERR
BEEZESEBA - BEERTCEEERME
ERITEHABLELR FRABBEIRZE
HEARIE o



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited R X E B A Z X R ER 2 5

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESNEREEBABZERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Zheng, aged 65, is an engineer and senior
economist. He holds a bachelor's degree in chemical
engineering and a master's degree in business
administration. Mr. Chen was appointed as an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
in February 2005. He was re-designated as the Deputy
Chairman of the Board and a Non-executive Director in
December 2018. He also serves as an executive director
of Greater China Financial Holdings Limited and an
independent non-executive director of Jiu Rong Holdings
Limited, both of which are companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Chen has extensive experience in investing
business and corporate management.

FHUTES
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREBANEZERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Yiu Kin, aged 70. Mr. Lam was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in July
2015. He is also a member of each of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
In May 2020, Mr. Lam was appointed as the Chairman
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Lam is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales,
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and
New Zealand and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), and a honorary fellow of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam was an Adjunct
Professor in the School of Accounting and Finance of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University from September
2014 to August 2016, and was a member of the Finance
Committee of the Hong Kong Management Association.
Mr. Lam has extensive experience in accounting, auditing
and business consulting. Mr. Lam was a member of the
Listing Committee and the Financial Reporting Advisory
Panel of the Stock Exchange from 1997 to 2003, a
committee member of HKICPA from 1994 to 2009, and
a partner with PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong from
1993 to 2013. Mr. Lam graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a higher diploma in June 1975.
Mr. Lam currently serves as an independent non—executive
director of Shougang Century Holdings Limited, Spring Real
Estate Investment Trust, COSCO SHIPPING Ports Limited,
Nine Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited, CITIC Telecom
International Holdings Limited and Topsports International
Holdings Limited, all of which are companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of Shanghai Fudan-Zhangjiang Bio-Pharmaceutical
Company Limited. and WWPKG Holdings Company Limited
in the last three years.

Mr. Zheng Xiaodong, aged 48, obtained a bachelor's
degree in international economics in July 1998 and
a master’'s degree in world economics in June 2006
from Fudan University. Mr. Zheng was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
June 2019. In May 2020, he was appointed as a member
of each of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee. He serves as the president of
marketing and chief executive officer of Leo Digital Network
and the president of Shanghai MediaV Advertising Co.,
Ltd., in which he is responsible for operation and agency
businesses. Mr. Zheng served as a director and the deputy
general manager of Leo Group Co., Ltd., a company listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002131), the
marketing manager of Great Wall Broadband Network
and the general manager of eastern China region and the
vice president of Allyes AdNetwork. He has extensive
experience in the internet industry and marketing field.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESNEREEBABZERE

Ms. Wu Chunhua, aged 51, holds a bachelor's degree
in biology from Beijing Normal University. Ms. Wu was
appointed as an independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in June 2023, she was appointed as a chairman
and member of Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of Nomination Committee in May 2024, she was
also appointed as member of Audit Committee in August
2024. Ms. Wu has over 20 years of extensive experience
in human resource management. She was the director
and legal representative of Beijing Weiji Consultation Co.,
Ltd. * (b RMEBREERFZ AR 2 7)), the business director and
senior consultant of Beijing Orient Huibo Human Resources
Co., Ltd*(ItREFEBANERER AF), the human
resources assistant to the chairman of Zhuhai Zhenwei
Group*( Bk/BIRE(5E ), and the human resources manager
of Oriental United Recording Co., Ltd*( RS & =& ER
72d]). Ms. Wu has been the legal representative of Hainan
Wenchang Weiming Technology Co., Ltd.*(/&r X & ARl
FABMR/AT]) since September 2022.

Ms. Yang Siwei, aged 40, holds a bachelor degree in
directing from the Department of Directing and Acting at
the Communication University of China and an executive
master’'s degree in business administration from the
National School of Development at Peking University. Ms.
Yang was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2024. Ms. Yang has
extensive experience in brand management and corporate
management. She worked as an artiste manager for Orange
Sky Entertainment Group and the publicity director and
deputy general manager of Fan Bingbing Studio, she had
founded and operated a garment brand. She is currently the
chairman of the board of Easy Entertainment* (3t =031

BRARRNT).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors are also the senior management of the
Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
ETEHRESE

RERRZF

Xu Liang R £

a

Chairman £/

The golden snake welcomes the spring, and the new year
unfolds with great desire. On behalf of the Board of Global
Digital Creations Holdings Limited (the “Company”), |
would like to report on the business performance of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or "GDC") for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Business Review

Although GDC's businesses experienced greater challenges
in 2024, the Company continued to actively expand into
emerging areas such as interactive entertainment and
digital assets, becoming a supplier to Qualcomm, Huawei
and Tencent. At the same time, we strengthened the
application of artificial intelligence generated content
technology in our film and television business, and invested
resources in resolving residual issues, operation and
optimising our operations.
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Business Focus and Development

We focus on interactive entertainment and digital asset-
related products, covering the fields of animation film,
digital virtual characters and IP operations. By providing
turnkey solutions from planning to promotion, we are
committed to promoting the high-quality development
of our cultural digital business. The creation of several
city name card IPs has further boosted the sales of local
themed events and cultural and creative products.

Technological Innovation

In terms of technological innovation, we have actively
explored cooperation with renowned companies in the
industry and launched diverse projects. We adopted live link
face technology for the first time in the Transsion project
to enhance the realism of digital character performance.
The “Yuyuan Lantern Festival Short Film” project, which
was produced for Fosun, received more than 180 million
view count to its digital asset modeling and real-life
motion capture technology. We utilized unreal engine 5
(UEB) technology to improve the production quality of
Qualcomm'’s project, which won high recognition from the
client.

Policy Orientation and Brand Influence

We follow the government orientation and actively
participate in award application, and have won several
enterprise qualification awards, including National High-
Tech Enterprise, Shenzhen Science and Technology Small
and Medium Enterprises, etc. Meanwhile, we have won
awards in various competitions, further expanding our brand
influence.

Future Prospect

GDC has been operating in Shenzhen GDC Building for
many years, and has cultivated a team from industrial
planning to operation, laying the foundation for developing
new space business in the future. We will continue to
take “unleash the potential of digital visual technology
and present exciting Chinese stories” as our mission,
plowing deep into digital cultural content, exploring new
industries, and innovating with the public to seek common
development.

Thank you for your support and trust, and we look forward
to working with you towards a more brilliant future.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRBES
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRBES

On behalf of the Board of the Group, | would like to express
my deepest gratitude and appreciation to all our staff for
their hard work and dedication, and | would also like to
extend our sincere gratitude to our shareholders, business
partners and clients for their utmost support to the Group.
Last but not least, | would like to show my highest respect
and my most sincere blessings to all the leaders and friends
who care about and support the development of the Group.

Xu Liang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the"Year") ,
revenue from continuing operations amounted to
HK$70,432,000, representing an increase of HK$243,000
as compared with HK$70,189,000 in 2023, which was
mainly attributable to a combination of factors such as the
decrease in rental income and the decrease in the average
exchange rate of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars by
approximately 2% as compared with the corresponding
period last year, the distribution of two (2023: one) original
animated film during the Year which led to a year-on-year
increase in income from original projects.

Interactive
Entertainment
and Digital Assets
BB
R#FEE

Mainland China
AR A D,

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales from continuing operations for the Year
amounted to HK$85,488,000, representing an increase of
HK$20,396,000 as compared with HK$65,092,000 in 2023,
which was mainly attributable to provision for impairment of
productions work in progress and an increase in operating
costs and impairment loss on right-of-use assets of the
Suzhou Technical Service Center during the year.

Other Income

Other income from continuing operations for the Year
amounted to HK$11,132,000 (2023: HK$10,053,000) was
mainly from government grants of HK$5,942,000 and
interest income of HK$4,577,000.

64%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses from continuing
operations for the Year amounted to HK$16,967,000,
representing an increase of HK$8,104,000 as compared
with HK$8,863,000 in 2023, which was mainly attributable
to the increase in marketing expenses required to distribute
the animated films.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses from continuing operations
for the Year amounted to HK$31,017,000, representing
an decrease of HK$2,047,000 as compared with
HK$33,064,000 in 2023, which was mainly attributable to
the decrease in professional service fees and office running
expenses.

Reversal of Provision for Impairment of Financial Assets
and Contract Assets

Reversal of provisions for impairment of financial assets
and contract assets from continuing operations for the Year
amounted to HK$119,000 (2023: HK$145,000), which was
attributable to the adjustment to provisions for impairment
of trade receivables.

Other Losses, Net

Other net losses from continuing operations for the Year
amounted to HK$12,050,000, representing an increase of
HK$8,792,000 as compared with HK$3,258,000 in 2023,
which was attributable to HK$8,627,000 loss on the fair
value of investment properties as compared with 2023.

Finance Cost

Finance cost from continuing operations for the Year
amounted to HK$502,000 (2023: HK$5,000). The Group
does not have any borrowings and such finance costs were
the interest component of lease liabilities.

Loss from Continuing Operations

Based on the above factors, loss from the continuing
operations for the Year amounted to HK$57,960,000,
representing an increase of HK$24,762,000 as compared
with HK$33,198,000 for the corresponding period of 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Loss),/Profit from Discontinued Operation

Loss from the discontinued operation for the Year
amounted to HK$5,852,000, representing an increase
in loss of HK$28,908,000 as compared with profit of
HK$23,056,000 in 2023, which was attributable to the
adjustment of provisions for rent and settlement payables
due to the litigation judgment regarding Guangzhou
Pearl River Film Cultural Park last year, whereas no such
adjustments were made in the current year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of HK$223,713,000 (2023: HK$248,039,000),
which were mainly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"),
United Stated (“US") dollars and Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), and restricted bank deposits amounted to
HK$23,000 (2023: HK$21,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no borrowings
or overdrafts. The Group’s current ratio was 1.05 (2023:
1.27), which was calculated based on current assets of
HK$236,689,000 and current liabilities of HK$224,621,000.

The Group adheres to the principle of prudent financial
management and strives to maintain healthy financial
position.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to HK$358,266,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$432,883,000). The decrease was mainly due to
exchange differences of HK$12,677,000 on translation
of financial statements from functional currency to
presentation currency and the loss attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$61,940,000.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not have any material acquisitions, disposals
and significant investment during the year ended 31
December 2024.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, there were no charges on any of
the Group's assets for loans and bank facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant
exposure under foreign exchange. Currently, the Group
earns revenue mainly in RMB, and incurs costs mainly
in RMB and HKS$. The Directors believe that the Group's
operational cash flow and liquidity do not have significant
foreign exchange exposure, and thus has not implemented
any foreign currency hedging policy at the moment.
However, if necessary, the Group will use reasonable
measures to hedge against foreign currency exposure.
The closing RMB exchange rate as at 31 December 2024
was approximately 3.5% lower than the exchange rate
as at the end of 2023, and such exchange differences
led to an additional exchange loss of HK$8,426,000 being
recognised in the other comprehensive income upon
translation of financial statements from functional currency
to presentation currency for the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save for the disclosure in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 109 (31
December 2023: 148) full time employees (other than
employees of the Group's associates).

The Group remunerates its employees mainly with
reference to the prevailing market practice, individual
performance and experience. Other benefits, such as
medical coverage, insurance plan, mandatory provident
fund, and discretionary bonus are also available to the
employees of the Group. During the Year, neither the
Company nor its subsidiaries had paid or committed to pay
any amount as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Company and/or its subsidiaries to any individuals.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
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KBOE

Feng Xianhuai 5 % #

Executive Director and
the Managing Director
BITEFREFHLE

The year 2024 was a challenging year for GDC. Facing
the limitations of our traditional businesses, we had
been actively expanding our business in new directions,
capitalising on our strengths, and focusing on the
development of emerging areas such as interactive
entertainment and digital assets. We have become one
of the suppliers for industry leaders such as Qualcomm,
Huawei and Tencent, and at the same time, we have
strengthened the iteration of artificial intelligence generated
content (AIGC) technology in our film and television
business, of which costs were incurred to resolve certain
residual issues and optimise our divisions and business.

Interactive Entertainment and Digital Assets

The revenue of the Interactive Entertainment and Digital
Assets division of the Group was mainly attributable to:
(1) the income from production services of animated films,
television series, interactive entertainment and digital
virtual characters; (2) box office receipts of animated films
and distribution revenues of television series; (3) licensing
income of animated films and television series; and (4)
licensing income derived from the animation intellectual
property (“IP").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Interactive Entertainment and Digital Assets division,
with animated films, digital virtual characters and I[P
operations as its main delivery products, focuses on digital
interactive content and media videos, providing turnkey,
distribution and integration solutions from planning to
production to promotion. The business covers different types
of animation works, including promotional videos, animated
films, virtual characters, game commentaries, human-
computer interactions and other applications. The ocean-
themed animated film series 11 has fully entered mid-term
production and is expected to be completed by the end of
March 2025. A number of urban cultural IPs were created
in 2024, including Jiangxi-Hukou, Guangxi-Xingning and
Guangzhou-Liede. Revenue of the interactive entertainment
and digital assets business are generated from animated
films, publicity, promotion of local themed events, cultural
tourism projects, upgrading digital interactive entertainment
experience products and sales of cultural and creative
products.

The Group has actively explored the cooperation mode with
renowned enterprises in the industry, and has become one
of the suppliers for industry leaders such as Qualcomm,
Huawei and Tencent, etc., presenting diversified projects
such as digital characters, television commercials (TVCs),
artificial intelligence training, etc. In the Transsion project,
we adopted live link face technology for the first time
to enhance the authenticity of the digital characters
performance. In Fosun’s “Yuyuan Lantern Festival Short
Film" project, digital asset modeling and real-life motion
capture technology were used to create a fantastic
digital Yuyuan Garden, with over 180 million views. In
Qualcomm’s cooperation project, we utilized unreal engine
5 (UEb) technology to improve the production quality and
efficiency of TV commercials, which won high recognition
from our clients. Digital virtual characters independently
developed and completed the “Phantom Mirror Digital
Twin” 2D platform product and achieved sales revenue,
laying the foundation for future bulk sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group followed the government’'s orientation and
expanded its brand influence, actively followed up the
latest policies, applied for 26 government awards and
subsidies, and completed the application of 20 software
copyrights and 102 copyrights of works. In terms of
enterprise qualification and awards, the Group was awarded
as a National High-Tech Enterprise, the 20th Cultural Expo
Outstanding Branch, Shenzhen Science and Technology
Small and Medium Enterprises, and won the second prize
of the Third MediaAIAC in the category of virtual digital
human technology application, the Gold Award of the 11"
Shenzhen Copyright Works, the ocean-themed animated
film series “Around the Earth in 80 Days"* ({Ix %70 Fk80
X)) was awarded the 2024 Quality Films Awards by the
China Film Administration, the 2024 Jade Monkey Award:
"Top 10 Most Commercially Valuable Cultural Tourism
IPs”, and the Top 10 Most Commercially Valuable Cultural
Tourism IPs, and the Best Animation Brand Award of the
First Bay Area National Customs Animation and Game
Awards in 2024.

New Cultural and Sports Space

Revenue from the Group’s New Cultural and Sports
Space business is mainly derived from rental income and
management fee income.

GDC has been operating Shenzhen GDC Building for
many years. Relying on the industrial highland resources
in Shenzhen, GDC is endowed with the resources for
investment promotion and ecological operation around the
upstream and downstream industrial chain, and through
years of exploration in Shenzhen, it has cultivated a team
from industrial planning to operation, which lays the
foundation for the development of new space business in
the future.

We signed strategic cooperation agreements with a number
of local governments, with a view to creating standardized
and replicable solutions to provide strong support for
subsequent industrial services in various places.

The occupancy rate of our existing property, Shenzhen GDC
Building, is currently maintained at a high level, providing
basic financial support for the transformation of GDC's
business.
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Research and Development

The Group has a first-mover advantage in the technical
accumulation of Metaverse infrastructure and the
construction of virtual reality. On the basis of the virtual
digital simulation and full-real digital natives automatic
intelligent control, highly accurate full-body motion capture
solutions, the Group continues to develop cutting-edge
technologies such as artificial intelligence-based speech
and language recognition, graphic image acquisition and
intelligent recognition, large-model database training,
and Q&A on professional knowledge. The research and
development team has completed the development of
computer animation, and the improvement and application
of new technologies such as the combination of unreal
engine and artificial intelligence, and has already formed the
digital virtual character all-in-one products.

Based on the open source code of Conversation Language
Model (ChatGLM), the private domain model is deployed
within the enterprise. Combined with the Faiss vector
database and imported enterprise related information,
it initially has the function of an enterprise artificial
intelligence assistant, and has already realized the Q&A
of 10,000 bytes in a single paragraph, which has been
assembled in the “Globe Cloud” enterprise application.

In addition, GDC is also in the leading position in the
application of 3D laser scanning technology combined with
special effects movies, AIGC character expression repair
technology, SD ComfyUl process construction, HeyGen labs
audio and mouth shape conversion, UE5 expression fusion
and blueprint development, and other technologies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

The Interactive Entertainment and Digital Assets will focus
on strengthening two core technologies and two core
scenarios: 1) the core technology of digital Virtual character,
which deepens the research and development of all-round
functions of the Al Holographic Virtual BOX, and maintains
its leading position in the research and development and
application of new technologies such as overseas remote
for virtualization, and fully Al-powered movement and facial
expressions; 2) the improvement of the AIGC production
technology, which realizes more efficient, accurate and
low-cost video content production and consolidate our
leading position in the industry. We will select two core
scenarios, namely Interactive Entertainment and Digital
Cultural Tourism, to become a high-quality content provider
for leading enterprises and the government, and strive for
higher growth in the Interactive Entertainment and Digital
Assets through continuous enhancement of technology and
scenarios.

The film and television business will continue to explore
the unique, local cultural content, and develop multiple
themes such as ocean exploration, Yangtze River stories
and science fictions in the future. Self-production and co-
production modes will both be adopted to produce one to
two animated films every year.

We will continue to work on existing projects to seek more
cooperation opportunities and expand our business scope
of New Cultural and Sports Space, especially combining
the industrial development with the main business global
digital, and create more growth points for the Company.

The Group continues to commit to talent development and
technology optimization to improve business quality. At
the same time, we will actively expand the market, and
make every effort to become China’s leading digital asset
management group.

BEE WA DA

RE

ERRENBFEEZRHHEH R(CMEX
OEMMEMEZ OSSR  NVBEFERAZOR
i RIEATRREZEERE TR
e RISERABINERES  2ATER
BEEXIEEIEH MR EAORLH
i » 2RFTAIGCEER T - BERERW - i
FEMEXANRIBABTEE - BEITEANE
SOOI o IR B IR AL BB T SR A0 5
RRABEBEENMBANEL AR HER -
BB S RN E gl - NFEERER
BFEEXBERBRER -

TRERBEEZE T HEUEAT  FE
BARR  RIBEAMAORRESZEEE -
NREIFAMENETT  MESFHR—EM

NHEBE -

X EEEBEERNFEERR EEHS
KEZEERE  BAXKHRE  BrIESE
FERERMBBIXAES  RARTEERE
ZIRERA -

AEBEERHEBCAT BN - BAXKE
B ANERBRTS  BITER ST BIE
ENBFEETEEHR -

Annual Report 2024 FF 3 21



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited R K E B A Z =R ER 2 5

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TREGHRE

INTRODUCTION

The Company is steadfast in its pursuit of its goals and has
embraced the mission and responsibility of “presenting
Chinese legends with digital vision technology” while
fostering a culture that is building a long-term sustainable
business where every customer, partner, investor, supplier
and employee can benefit in the shared value of business
success. The desired culture is reflected in the Group’'s
operational practices, workplace policies, and interactions
with stakeholders.

The Company is committed to maintain high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests
of all shareholders and to enhance accountability and
transparency.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has applied the principles of and complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code"”) as set out in Appendix C1 under the GEM Listing
Rules to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM (the "GEM Listing Rules"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), except for the
following deviation:

Under the code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should attend general meetings to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law, the former independent non-
executive Director of the Company, was unable to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24
May 2024 due to other engagement. Prof. Japhet Sebastian
Law retired as an independent non-executive director of the
Company following the conclusion of that annual general
meeting.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings as set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiries with the Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with such code of conduct and
the required standard of dealings regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

Up to the date of this annual report ,the Board comprises
seven members, consisting of two executive Directors,
one Non-executive Director and four Independent Non-
executive Directors. Details of the composition of the
Board and biographies of the Directors are set out on page
4 of this annual report in the section of “CORPORATE
INFORMATION" and on pages 6 to 9 of this annual report
in the section of "BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT", respectively. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Board has met at all times
the requirements under rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
independent non-executive Director possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.

The Company has also complied with Rule 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
independent non-executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board. The Company confirms it
has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, and
considers that the independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.

Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company with the term not exceed than three
years, setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointments which shall start on the date of appointment,
subject to the provision on retirement by rotation of
Directors under the Bye-Laws of the Company (the "Bye-
laws").
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors
have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each of the executive Directors and non-executive
Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) has sufficient experience, knowledge and
execution ability to hold the position so as to carry out his/
her duties effectively and efficiently. Details of backgrounds
and qualification of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “"BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of this annual report.

Meetings and Attendance Record

Other than regular Board meeting held during the
Year, additional Board meetings, or meetings of Board
committees established by the Board to consider specific
matters, were convened, when necessary.

The attendance of the Directors at the meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Exg(#)

HR(E)

RE E2024F12A31BILFEE - FTAEESEY
ERHRANEREIEIREAESENS
%o SRTEERIIANTES (BIEBILIEHR
TES)HEBETBRUNIZHLER - NE X
HMITEE N BEER AR BITERE - 25
ZEEERRERFBIERATRIIEER
SREBABZRERE]IEZH -

SRR HFERLE
BRRAFERTNEHESTST SR W
2 NTeATEOREFESARBEFTENUN
ExgLBegw FRFESRE-

BHIE2024F12A3MBIEHFE BEEHFEESH
ZERFETIWT

Number of meetings attended/Number of Meetings Eligible to Attend
HEEERY AEREENE

Annual

Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Exng Exg ENZES FWZES REZEE8 RRBEAE
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Xu Liang (Chairman) 6/6 N/A 3/3 4/4 1/1
RERE(FE) TER
Mr. Feng Xianhai' (Managing Director) 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BEREE (EFLHLE) TERA TR TEH TiEHA
Mr. Wang Hongpeng’ 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
TREBESE TERA TERA TER
Mr. Xiao Yong* 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
HBEE TEH TEH TEH TEHA
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Meetings and Attendance Record (Continued)

TERERHRE

Exg(#)

= nﬁ& :ﬂjﬁnaff (ﬁ%)

Number of meetings attended/Number of Meetings Eligible to Attend
LEEBRY,SEREBRY

Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Exg EREEE FMzEe REZEE RREAFAE
Non-executive Director
FHUTES
Mr. Chen Zheng (Deputy Chairman) 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
WAL (BILE) TEA NER MER
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFYTES
Mr. Lam Yiu Kin 6/6 2/2 3/3 4/4 il
MBREE
Mr. Zheng Xiaodong 4/6 2/2 2/3 3/4 1/1
R EE
Ms. Wu Chunhua? 6/6 il 3/3 3/3 11
fEEHL
Ms. Yeng Siwei® 1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
FRER TS i A i T TiEMA
Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law® 2/3 1 N/A il 0/1
B EHES TERA
Mr. Li Yao® 3/3 N/A N/A N/A il
FRRAS i TiEA TiEH
Notes: Bat -
1. Mr. Feng Xianhuai was appointed as an executive Director and 1. R R 5T 7)5(\2024¢8)5]3E|Z§>z&7%$ﬂﬁ§$
Managing Director on 3 August 2024. REEHELE -
2. Ms. Wu Chunhua was appointed as a member of the 2. REZEL EQZOZ4¢5H24EIZ§Z§E Tm% %=
Nomination Committee and a member as well as the Chairman EgRERFHMESG s KERER - kR
of the Remuneration Committee on 24 May 2024 and appointed 20248 H1HEZEREREZEGKE °

as a member of the Audit Committee on 1 August 2024.

3. Ms. Yang Siwei was appointed as an Independent Non- 3.
executive Director on 19 August 2024.

4. Mr. Xiao Yong resigned as an executive Director on 20 4.
May 2024 and ceased to act as a member of the Executive

Committee on the same day.

b. Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law retired as an Independent Non- 5.
executive Director at the 2024 AGM and ceased to act as the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee on the same

day.

6. Mr. Li Yao resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director 6.
on 1 August 2024 and ceased to act as a member of the Audit

Committee on the same day.

7. Mr. Wang Hongpeng resigned as an executive Director on 16 7.
March 2025 and ceased to act as a member of the Executive

Committee on the same day.

Bk ©§6

et
I s
AEHF ﬂﬂﬁ

B 0 S H20B BT AITE S
A B EERITEEGKE -
B XSERIR 2024 F MR BF ARG MR 12BE
BUATEE  RRRABLILETHWNES
XK BREZEGRIREERZEGIME -
T EN2024F8A B BB EHITE
FRRAAREEEERZEGKE
T RS 20253 A 16 BB HITE R
REABRIEETFHRITEEGHKE -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director are
separate and are not performed by the same individual to
reinforce their independence and accountability. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Chairman of the
Board is held by Mr. Xu Liang. The managing director of the
Company (the “Managing Director”) is held by Mr. Feng
Xianhuai since 3 August 2024 (From 1 January 2024 to 3
August 2024, it was held by Mr. Wang Hongpeng, a former
executive Director). The Chairman provides leadership
for the Board and overall strategy formulation for the
Group. The Managing Director has overall responsibility
for the Group's business development and day-to-day
management. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the Managing Director is clearly established
and set out in writing.

With the support of the Executive Directors and the
Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and receive adequate information, which must be
complete and reliable in a timely manner.

The Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-—
executive Directors are of sufficient calibre and number for
their views to carry weight. The functions of Non-executive
Directors include, but are not limited to:

° making an independent judgment at Board meetings;

° ta!<ing the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise;

o serving on Board committees if invited; and

o scrutinising the Company’s performance.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Role and Functions

The Board is responsible for overall strategy formulation,
overseeing the risk management and internal control
system on ongoing basis and monitoring performance
of the Group. It delegates day-to-day operations of the
Group to the Executive Committee within the control
and authority framework set by the Board. The Board
assumes full responsibility for environmental, social and
governance (“ESG") related issues, policies, and reporting
and exercises top-down oversight of the implementation of
the Group's sustainability strategy. The Board recognizes
the importance of identifying and addressing ESG-related
risks, including those related to climate, and believes
that a focus on managing these factors can result in
enhanced and long-lasting business value for the Group. In
addition, the Board has delegated various responsibilities
to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Further details of these
committees are set out in this corporate governance report.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

A Director may be appointed either by the shareholders in
a general meeting or by the Board on recommendation of
the Nomination Committee. The Board takes into account
criteria such as expertise, experience and commitment
when considering a new appointment.

According to the Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the
Board shall hold office, only until the first annual general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment,
and shall then be eligible for re-election at such general
meeting. Every Director (including the Non-executive
Director and Independent Non-executive Directors) is
appointed for a specific term and is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Induction and Training for Directors

Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive
and induction on appointment. Besides, the Company
provides Directors with regular updates on changes to and
developments of the Group's business, and on the latest
developments in the laws, rules and regulations relating
to Directors’ duties and responsibilities to help them
make informed decisions and discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors.

TERERHRE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Induction and Training for Directors (Continued)

In compliance with Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules,
Mr. Feng Xianhui and Ms. Yang Siwei who were appointed
as executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Director in August 2024, both received training and legal
advice on 26 June 2024 and 15 August 2024 from Deacons
respectively. They confirmed that they understood their
obligations as Director.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development and provided to the Company a record of
training which they received during the period from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024. According to the
records provided by the Directors, a summary of the
training received by the Directors are set out as follows:

Exg(#)

BEEMEAMREZI(E)
RIEGEM T 48 BII 855.02D1§ » 7202448 8
EZXAERTESERB MR ATERB I IEHR
TEENGRERLT - HRI2024F6H26H
N2024F8 A1 B M RAMITEEVAEER
MERPAAREFAARREEZET -

F2024F1 818 £2024F12A31H I #if 2
BESHA2EREIXER YO AARQF
REEMES 2FJIRE - REEFREHZE
B BEEAEZZEYIgSAT

Attending or
participating in
seminars/workshops/
reading materials and
updates relating to
the latest development
of the GEM Listing
Rules

and other

applicable regulatory
requirements

HERSMAFEE HE

¥, BIEEBGEM

LR A& E A 5E AR

Name of Directors EEng ERBHERNWERN

Mr. Xu Liang (Chairman) HREREEE) v
Mr. Feng Xianhuai (Managing Director) KSR (E FARACFE)

(appointed on 3 August 2024) (20245 8A3HEZET) v
Mr. Chen Zheng (Deputy Chairman) FRAE o5 A& (Bl 3 /) v
Mr. Lam Yiu Kin PR R BR S A v
Mr. Zheng Xiaodong BRRRER So 4 v
Ms. Wu Chunhua REELL v
Ms. Yang Siwei HRELZ L

(appointed on 19 August 2024) (202458 R19HEZT) v
Mr. Wang Hongpeng TR E

(resigned on 16 March 2025) (7202543 A 16 H BHT) v
Mr. Xiao Yong (resigned on 20 May 2024) ¥ B4 (7202455208 & F) v
Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law 7R

(retired on 24 May 2024) (72024524 H R E) v
Mr. Li Yao (resigned on 1 August 2024) T E (20248 A1HEIT) v
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability

Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’
liabilities are in force to protect the Directors and officers
of the Group from their exposure to risk arising from the
businesses of the Group.

If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director
has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board (including material transaction with connected
persons) which the Board has determined to be material,
a physical Board meeting will be held instead of by way of
written resolution to deal with the matter.

Access to Information

The Directors may seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
The Company will, provide independent professional
advice to the Directors to assist the relevant Directors in
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board is supplied with relevant information by the
management pertaining to matters to be brought before
it for decision making as well as reports relating to
operational and financial performance of the Group at
least three days before each Board meeting. All Directors
are provided with monthly updates on the Company's
performance and financial position to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. Where
any Director requires more information than is supplied
by the management, they have the right of separate and
independent access to the Group’s management to make
further enquiries if necessary.

Board Diversity

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will review annually the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation
to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the
Nomination Committee is committed to diversity at all
levels and will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, experience, expertise, qualifications,
skills and knowledge as well as independence of the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Diversity (Continued)

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of
educational background, professional knowledge, industry
experience and length of service. The diversity mix of the
Board as at 31 December 2024 is summarized as follows:

Number of Directorss
BEAH

BExg(#)

EEES UL (E)
BRMESESHNRBRTHESS  HEAH
B TELCRHREBRBFRANSZ TLES c HE
2024F12A31H - EFE2@MZnbBEE B
N

Designation Age Group Length of Services Gender
BE4T FEa R (No. of years) 45l
PR 7% 5 HA(5F)
Diversity Mix
ZlbEs

The Board has 2 female board members out of a total of
eight board members (which include one executive Director
who resigned on 16 March 2025). Currently, the Nomination
Committee considered that the diversity of the Board is
sufficient. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Group also adhered to the diversity concept, including
but not limited to the gender perspective, in recruitment
of employees. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group had 109 employees (including senior management),
of which approximately 51% were female. The Company
is of the view that, the gender diversity in respect of the
current composition of the workforce is satisfactory.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

The Board has established the following committees to
oversee particular aspects of the Group's affairs and to
assist in the execution of the Board's responsibilities. All
committees have their own written terms of reference. All
resolutions passed by the committees will be reported to
the Board at the next Board meeting.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of all Executive
Directors. As of 31 December 2024, the Executive
Committee consists of three Executive Directors namely,
Mr. Xu Liang, Mr. Feng Xianhuai and Mr. Wang Hongpeng, a
former executive Director who resigned on 16 March 2025.
It is chaired by Mr. Xu Liang.

The Executive Committee has been conferred with the
general powers of the Board (except those matters
specifically reserved for the Board) to manage and oversee
the operations of the Group.

Audit Committee

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, with the
inclusion of the corporate governance functions, follow
the guidelines set out in the CG Code. As of 31 December
2024, the Audit Committee consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Yiu Kin, Mr.
Zheng Xiaodong and Ms. Wu Chunhua. It is chaired by Mr.
Lam Yiu Kin. None of the members of the Audit Committee
are former partners of the auditors of the Company.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include:

° overseeing the relationship with the Company’s
auditor;

° reviewing the interim and annual financial statements;
and

° overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system,

risk management, internal control system and policies
which include the whistleblowing policy reporting
system.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate
any activity within its terms of reference and obtain external
legal or other independent professional advice if it considers
necessary. It is given access to and assistance from the
employees of the Group and reasonable resources to
discharge its duties properly.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings.
Details of each committee member’'s attendance at the
Audit Committee meetings are set out in “Meetings
and Attendance Record” above. In addition, the Audit
Committee members had two meetings with the external
auditor during the Year.

The work of the Audit Committee during the Year is
summarized below:

o reviewed the interim and annual results of the Group,
and recommended the Board to adopt the relevant
results;

° made recommendations to the Board on the

re-appointment of the external auditor;

o reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
audit function;

° discussed the risk management and the internal
control systems with the management of the Group
to ensure that the management of the Group has
performed its duty to have effective internal control
systems; and

o performed an annual review of the CCTs of the
Group.

Nomination Committee

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have
been determined with reference to the CG Code. As of
31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee consists
of four Directors, namely, Mr. Xu Liang, Mr. Lam Yiu Kin,
Mr. Zheng Xiaodong and Ms. Wu Chunhua. It is chaired by
Mr. Xu Liang. The Independent Non-executive Directors
constitute the majority of the Nomination Committee
members.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board;
° identifying and making recommendations to the

Board suitable and qualified individuals nominated for
directorships;
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

° making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and
succession planning for the Directors; and

° assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Details of each committee member’'s attendance at the
Nomination Committee meetings are set out in “Meetings
and Attendance Record” above.

The work of the Nomination Committee during the Year is
summarized below:

° recommended to the Board the appointment of new
Directors;
° assessed the independence of Independent Non-executive

Directors; and

° reviewed the structure of the Board taking into
account the Board Diversity Policy.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted the nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”). The Board will also review and
monitor the implementation of the Nomination Policy from
time to time so as to ensure its continued effectiveness
and compliance with regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practices. The selection of director
will be based on merit and contribution such candidate
can bring to complement other Directors and improve
the overall capability, experience and perspective of the
Board, taking into account the corporate strategy of the
Group and the benefits of various aspects of diversity,
including gender, age, culture, educational background,
professional experience and other factors that the
Nomination Committee may consider relevant from time to
time towards achieving a diversified Board. The Nomination
Committee is authorised by the Board to assist the Board
to identify suitable candidates and make recommendations
regarding the candidates for consideration by the Board and
Shareholders. Shareholders may also nominate a person
to stand for election as Director at a general meeting in
accordance with the Bye-Laws and the applicable laws and
regulations. Such nomination procedures are published on
the Company’s website.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

As of 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
consists of four Directors namely, Ms. Wu Chunhua,
Mr. Xu Liang, Mr. Lam Yiu Kin and Mr. Zheng Xiaodong.
It is chaired by Ms. Wu Chunhua. The Independent
Non-executive Directors constitute the majority of the
committee members.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
have been determined with reference to the CG Code. The
principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

° making recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure for the remuneration
of all Directors and senior management of the
Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;

° reviewing and approving the Directors’ remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate
goals and objectives;

° determining, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages and terms of service
contract of individual Executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of the Non-executive
Director and Independent Non-executive Directors;

° reviewing and approving the compensation payable to
the Executive Directors and senior management and
the compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of Directors for misconduct;

° reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules;
and

° ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is

involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman of
the Board about its proposals relating to the remuneration
of the Executive Directors.

Details of member's attendance at the Remuneration
Committee meetings are set out in “"Meetings and
Attendance Record” above.

The work of the Remuneration Committee during the Year
is summarized below:

° the salaries of the Executive Directors for year 2025
and discussed the bonuses of the Executive Directors
for year 2024,

° made recommendations to the Board on fees for
the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-
executive Directors for year 2025;

° reviewed the terms of service agreement of the
Executive Director and the terms of letter of
appointment of an Independent Non-executive
Director; and

° determined the salary of the new Directors.

The remuneration policies applicable to the Directors and
senior management of the Group are performance-based
and in line with market practice. The Company reviews
the remuneration packages from time to time taking into
consideration market practice, the competitive market
position and individual performances.

Corporate Governance Function

The Company's corporate governance function is carried out
by the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of reference
adopted by the Board in compliance with the code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code, which include (a) to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board; (b) to
review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of
the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (d) to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees of the Group and the Directors; and (e) to
review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (Continued)

Company Secretary

During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an
employee of the Company, duly complied with Rule 5.15 of
the GEM Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing financial statements of the Group which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
on a going concern basis. In presenting the interim and
annual financial statements, announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing
Rules, the Directors aim to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects.

A statement by the auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, on its reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is
set out in the section headed "INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S
REPORT" on pages 104 to 111 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company is aiming to develop a sound and good
internal control system and build risk awareness and control
responsibility into the Group. The Board acknowledges its
responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
its effectiveness in order to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The Board is responsible for monitoring, maintaining and
overseeing the internal control systems of the Group. The
Executive Committee helps the Board to discharge its
responsibilities of ensuring and maintaining sound internal
control functions by regularly and continuously reviewing
and monitoring the internal control systems and processes
so as to ensure that they can provide reasonable assurance
against material errors of the Group.

The internal control system is documented and if any
revision is required, such information will be submitted to
the Audit Committee for evaluation.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
role in overseeing the Group's internal control function by
reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of the internal
control system.

The Company has set up an internal audit department (the
“I.A. Department”) which assists the Executive Committee
and the Audit Committee in discharging their internal
control duties. The [.A. Department, which is independent
of the operational departments of the Group, is responsible
for conducting regular audits on the major activities of the
Group. Its objective is to ensure that all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls
as well as risk management, are in place and functioning
effectively. The |.A. Department reports to the Executive
Committee and the Audit Committee with its findings and
makes recommendations to improve the internal control
system of the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The internal control system is embedded within the
business processes so that it functions as an integral
part of the overall operations of the Group. The system
comprises a comprehensive organisational structure with
assignment of definite accountabilities and delegation
of the corresponding authorities to each post. Based on
the organisational structure, a reporting system has been
developed under which the division head of each principal
business unit reports to the Executive Committee directly.

Business plans and budgets are prepared by the division
head of each principal business unit annually. In preparing
the business plans and budgets, the management identifies
and evaluates any potential risks. Measures will be put in
place with an aim to ultimately manage, control or eliminate
such risks.

The business plans and budgets are subject to review
and approval by the Executive Committee. The Executive
Committee reviews the monthly management reports
on the operational and financial results of each principal
business unit and measures the actual performance of the
Group against the business plan and budget concerned.
During such reviews, the Executive Committee also
considers and assesses the effectiveness of all material
controls. The Executive Committee holds periodical
meetings with the management of each principal business
unit and the finance team to, amongst other matters,
address the issues in such controls, identify areas of
improvement and put the appropriate measures in place.

Moreover, the Group has established Whistleblowing
Policy, Anti-corruption Policy, Procurement Policy and
Guideline and Delegation Policy in order to strengthen its
internal control system.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has
been, through the Executive Committee and the Audit
Committee (with the assistance from the |.A. Department),
continuously reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control system. The division head
of each principal business unit and the Managing Director
made representations as to compliance by themselves
and their subordinates of key internal control system
for year 2024 to the Board. The requirement for making
representation letters by the management can strengthen
individual responsibility for corporate governance and
controls. The Company considered its risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

To comply with the code provision D.2.2 of the CG Code,
the Board also included a review of adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, internal audit
as well as the function relating to its ESG performance
and reporting, their training programmes and budget in its
annual review for year 2024.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL BEEEERAIBEE(£E)
(Continued)

In relation to the handling and release of inside information, FEEIXZEHRRNBEEMS @ AEEEHEH
the Group has established corresponding policies to restrict BIBURIAAZE IF B T ARKEREF B - BRI Y
its employees from unauthorized use, handling or external — SNEEHR A B0{F A B9 48 R BT K E R - RS
release of the operating and financial information which is  ABRE A I ELAR A »

for internal use, to ensure the Group is in compliance with

the relevant laws and regulations.

Internal Control System NEBESIZ R 4

Division

Head/ Executive
Management Co’Tmlt;ee
EEEE NITZEES

BEE

Internal
Audit Department

RBBEEHERPS

Conduct regular audit

ERETERX

- ldentify & evaluate potential
risks,including ESGandclimatechange
risks, when preparing the annual
businessplan&budget
RiREEFEBTERBERS
WEBRMEEERE  BFERE 48R
ERRRRE( L2 AR

+ Put measures in place for managing,
controlling or eliminating risks
MER - EHESUERE R B Y BN EE

+ Implement business plan

- Review & approve business plan & budget

ERRIMEEB T BIRAESR

+ Review monthly management report for:
EHEAEERE
(i) measuring actual performance
against business plan & budget; &
DEBTERBERHEERRRE R
(ii) reviewing & assessing effectiveness of
all material controls

WA RFTEMAEREZESEBNEN

Report findings & make
recommendations

EHTEERR
REES

HATHEK
P thi t ; Audit Committee
+ Prepare monthly management repor: -
FREATERS BRZEES
+ Revise business plan from time to time
ENSIERES e

- Review & evaluate the overall
effectiveness of internal control system

FHRFARNEEFENERE NG
- Make recommendations
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL BEEEERAIBEE(£E)
(Continued)

Internal Audit Functions A EBZEETTh B

Financial
Control

Operational
Control

BEEE

P RS

Internal
Audit

AL

Risk Compliance

Control

Management
Rk EE
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Risk Management Framework

The Group has established an Enterprise Risk Management
("ERM") framework to effectively identify, assess and
manage risks. Enterprise operates in environments where
factors such as competition, restructurings, changing
markets and technology create uncertainty. Uncertainty
comes from an inability to precisely predict the likelihood
that events (risks) will occur and the associated impacts.

The ERM framework enables management to adopt a
proactive and systematic approach for identifying and
managing risks across the organization to evaluate risk
impact and likelihood of occurrence. Risk managing
workshops are conducted in each operating unit and
an ERM Implementation Pack is prepared to guide the
implementation of the risk managing work.

The objective of this ERM Implementation Pack is for
establishing the Group’'s ERM framework and policies,
including defining roles and responsibilities; providing key
principles and concepts, a common language, and clear
direction and guidance; and setting up a foundational basis
needed to design and implement an ERM process that
effectively addresses the Group's operations. The ERM
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Audit
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Risk Management Structure

The Board oversees the overall management of risks,
including ESG risks. The Risk Management Working Group
assists the Board and Audit Committee to review and
monitor key risks. Operating units are responsible for the
identification and management of risks in their operations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Risk Management Process

By applying the principles and methodologies described in
the ERM Implementation Pack, management develops five
key steps for implementation.

(4)

(5)

42

Risk
Identification

L B 585 5

Risk
assessment

[ B ¥4

Objectives

BiR

Objective setting is a precondition to event
identification, risk assessment, and risk response.
There must first be objectives before the
management can identify and assess risks, and take
necessary actions to manage the risks.

Risks are identified at the entity, activity and process
level by using various techniques.

Risks are evaluated from two perspectives -
likelihood and impact. Criteria are developed upon
which identified risks will be measured in terms
of likelihood and impact. Following this, risks will
then be prioritized according to their “Risk Rating”
which is the combination effect of “Likelihood” and
“Impact”.

In evaluating response options, the management
considers the effect on both risk likelihood and
impact, recognizing that a response might affect
likelihood and impact differently. Having selected
risk responses, management identifies control
activities needed to ensure that the risk responses
are carried out properly and in a timely manner. The
effectiveness of the controls are assessed by using
the three-point scale.

A risk management report that highlights key risks
and action plans is presented to the Audit Committee
and the Board annually. Significant changes in key
risks on a day-to-day basis are promptly reported to
the Group’s management and immediately handled.

Annual Report 2024 FF 3

RERRZF

Rk EERAIEELE (F)

Bk EE R
EEEREEAAREEFMP 2RAET
o BIET REERNBER SR -

isk response
and control
activities
BB FE Y
REEEE

Monitoring
and reporting

ERREE

I BIEAREREA - RS MR R
e Z SEIRIGM - REEEER - FHAE
B N ERER 0 B R 2 BT - W6 SER]
VASRER

EHEATEROAELEER - £F&
B & m N2 & (F IR AR B R Bl LR

M E T m=HERR — IRt MBS
o RIRE HIERE - EFRIERASR
BERANAEERELERNBEELEE
B Big REAEEMEEENES
S o E 77 R AR B TE BR B YR o

R EERES RN ERETERE
FREEERR 2 RBEEN 2K
B EHFREAUEESEEEEET
FIRIR - RiBERREH A RE &
BEHTEEEE  AEERRKRESS
REEMEEBRIT - BEREOKED
= AETTREE ©

BFERNELZEGEREEERR —XE
fRERWRE  EXMERERRRNMTH
AHE - HRBERER ZERNES M
MASEZEEERSEL AR



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited 3% Bk 2 1§ A =

ERABERLQA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Risk Management Process (Continued)

Risk management changes over time. Risk responses
that were once effective may become irrelevant; control
activities may become less effective, or no longer be
performed; or entity objectives may change. In the face of
such changes, management continually works to improve
the risk management framework in order to keep pace with
the changing dynamics of businesses.

The Board has reviewed the risk management report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and evaluated
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system,
including (a) the changes, since the last annual review, in
the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG
risks), and the Group's ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment; (b) the scope
and quality of management’'s ongoing monitoring of risks
(including ESG risks) and of the internal control systems,
and where applicable, the work of its internal audit function
and other assurance providers; (c) the extent and frequency
of communication of monitoring results to the Board and its
committees; (d) significant control failings or weaknesses
that have been identified during the period and the extent
to which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or
contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in the
future have, a material impact on its financial performance
or condition; and (e) the effectiveness of its processes for
financial reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.

Principal and Key Risks of the Group

As an objective of risk management, we must first
understand the principal and key risks currently faced by the
Group and the corresponding strategies against such risks.
The table below sets forth the principal and key risks which
the Group is currently facing:

Principal Risk
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HlﬁﬁTMEﬁﬁﬁafﬁﬂ 2 A K eI 5% 5B B

FEERRRE - TREAXAKERBNEAYNER
&E@%@FLM:

Corresponding Strategy
JE ¥ SR g

Disputes with the contracted party involved in a
cultural park development project. This might have
significant impacts on the Group's asset value and
profit.

—EFERRABEMKLE FREETEERUY
$EI£\FTE$W7TIJ§/% 2

B3|

We have appointed lawyers to follow up on the
litigation proceedings with the aim to achieve the
best outcome.

B & LR A0 B R AE R R AL

FHRE S
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)
Principal and Key Risks of the Group (Continued)

Key Risks
7 42 [ B

EREERAMEE(E)

AEEzEERBERRAR(Z)

Corresponding Strategy
PE ¥ SR g

To protect the Group's intellectual property rights
and also to avoid unintentional infringement of
others’ intellectual property rights.
RERNEEMBERE - RFEL2EERRILMAMNE
EENITR °

Cyber security issues compromising data integrity
and system availability.

B 2RBEERBIENTRBEMARF AR -

ESG-related risks (e.g. acute event-driven climate
change or long-term climate shifts) may expose us
to public health threats, business disruptions, and
increase the risk of physical damage to properties.

RIR - g RER *EF'%I—L 2 (R ZR M RARE L F 13k
RIEREREBZ) A RMEBERNZZEE
Ey ] L/{)Siibﬂﬁiﬁﬁi‘fﬁ%aﬂﬁﬂ&
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We register copyrights immediately upon the
completion of images, innovative designs, texts
and graphics and require the related parties to sign
a confidentiality agreement. We closely monitor if
there is any infringement of the Group's intellectual
property rights in the market while avoiding
unintentional infringement of others’ intellectual
property rights.

R BIEHR:  XF BRTKEAETHREER

SN &S]
Rk ERBEERRITRERZ  BYEEDSEHA
El%ﬂ.ﬁk?@éé’ﬂaﬁgfﬂ% () By 38 4 4 5 AR IR AL M A AN
BEENITR -

Strictly enforce data backup and implement various
security measures such as setting up firewall and
installing anti-virus software to enhance data integrity
and confidentiality. We regularly provide cyber
security training for staff.

TEEBDGIE AR L 2E BB A AE P & 84 &
BERIT  BRBEBENTEBEENREN  YEHAETIR
TP/ L2 HEI -

An environmental policy is in place. We closely
monitor the changes in applicable laws and regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance. Details of the
ESG-related risks of the Group are set out in the
section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT"” on pages 48 to 87 of this
annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
paid/payable to the Company'’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
is set out as follows:

TERERHRE

3 L

B E2024F12A31B L FEX N A F A
NEEEE - BEFBACES I EBTONS
;AT

Fee paid/payable

Services rendered FriR AR % gt ERER

HK$'000

FET

Statutory audit services EEERT R 1,180
Non-statutory audit services: IEETEERT R -

Review on interim financial report EH P EAM SRS 360

Others HAb 30

1,570

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted the shareholders communication
policy (the "“Shareholders Communication Policy”) with
the objective of ensuring that the shareholders and
potential investors are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company. The Board reviews the Shareholders
Communication Policy on an annual basis to ensure its
effectiveness. The Board has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication
Policy and considered that the Shareholders Communication
Policy has been properly implemented during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and was effective.

To foster effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”), the Company
provides extensive information in its annual and interim
reports, announcements and circulars. All Shareholders’
communications are also available on the Stock Exchange's
website and the Company’s website.

The general meetings of the Company provide a useful
forum for Shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
The Directors and members of various Board committees
will attend the annual general meetings of the Company
to answer questions raised by the Shareholders. All
Directors will make an effort to attend. The Company's
external auditor, where appropriate, is available to answer
Shareholders’ queries at the general meetings.

ERRNBE

AAREERMREBABE ([REBHAK
K] BEBRBRERETREEFHGITRER -
FERBERRSEBAQARZHEM SN IEREK
B - EESEFRNIIRFBABOR - i
REEWE - EESERIRFEBABENE
BERERE  WRAEENE E2024F12H31
BIEFFEZEERRRBABREEERS -

REEEARFRR ([BER]) 2E0ERE
B ARBREFREFHRE - DERBK
FREEEEN - A BRREMER RN
P AL R AR R AR R B

ARrMBERAERBEREREETEM
EANERYE EFNEFEETZMEERE
GZREBRHEARRB ZBRBEFKE - A
EHRBRREL 2HE - 2REFHT SR LM
EHE ARBINEBAZBED (8 B) B HE
BRAE  BEERRZIER -
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EXERRS

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Special General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals at General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, any one or more Shareholder(s)
holding (at the date of deposit of the requisition) not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company with
the right to vote at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary by mail to the Company’s
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition and add proposed resolutions to meeting
agenda and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company ‘s website.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and
concerns to the Board in writing, addressed to the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Bye-laws during the year
ended 31 December 2024. A copy of the latest consolidated
version of the Bye-laws has been published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Dividend Policy

The Board adopted a dividend policy in December 2018,
which aims to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits whilst maintaining the adequate
cash reserves for the Company’s continuing business
development and future growth. Any dividends will be
declared or paid at the discretion of the Board pursuant
to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the Bye-laws
and will depend upon, among other things, the operations,
capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions of the Company and its
subsidiaries, and such other factors as the Board may deem
relevant. This policy shall be reviewed when necessary, and
can be revised by the Board from time to time.
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RE - HERERHE

FOREWORD AND REPORTING PERIOD

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “we")
is one of the leading digital and visual integration
conglomerates in the industry. Adhering to our sustainable
development philosophy and operating principles, we
establish good environmental, social and governance
("ESG") policies, endeavour to fulfil the corporate social
responsibilities and contribute to the development of green
digital technology. The ESG report of the Group (the “"ESG
Report” or the “Report”) gives an account of strategies
and overall performance on office operation and property
management business of the Group's headquarters and its
major subsidiaries in respect of environmental protection,
operation management, social welfare and working
environment during the year ended 31 December 2024
("2024" or the "Reporting Period”).

The Report has been approved by the board of directors
(the "Board”) of the Company on 26 March 2025.

BOARD STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the 2024
ESG Report. The Report demonstrates our commitment
to continuously improving our sustainability performance
in areas such as corporate governance, community
engagement, customer satisfaction and employee care.

The Group believes that a strong governance structure
is essential for the effective management of ESG-related
issues. The Board has overall responsibility for the ESG
issues of the Group, including formulating strategies,
ensuring that the Group has appropriate and effective
internal control and risk management systems, monitoring
the Group's ESG performance, and approving ESG reports
and collectively discussing on ESG matters annually. The
composition of the Board is diverse and its members are
equipped with appropriate skills, experience, knowledge
and perspectives required to oversee the Group's ESG
matters. In order to assist the Board in discharging
its responsibilities on ESG matters, the management
of the Group (the “Management”) are responsible for
implementing relevant policies and evaluating the Group's
performance in various aspects of ESG. Departments of
the Group are involved in coordinating and implementing
appropriate policies and measures in the daily operation to
implement the Group's policies and strategies in respect
of ESG issues. The Management reports to the Board on
the progress of ESG related work at least once a year,
and provides advice to the Board on relevant issues to
continuously improve the Group's ESG performance.
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BOARD STATEMENT (Continued)

In order to prioritise major ESG-related issues, the Board
and the Management take into account the views of various
stakeholders of the Group, continue to communicate with
the shareholders with reference to their opinions, and invite
them to participate in materiality assessment regularly
to examine various ESG issues in an orderly manner.
Information on stakeholder communication channels and
materiality assessment conducted by the Group are set
out in the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and
“Materiality Assessment”, respectively. In order to have
a better understanding of stakeholders’ expectations for
the sustainable development of the Group, the Group will
further strengthen communication with stakeholders, and
formulate relevant sustainable development policies and
measures with reference to their opinions, so as to enhance
the ESG performance of the Group.

Notwithstanding the Group has not generated any
significant environmental impact in terms of operation as a
digital and visual integration conglomerate, the Group still
actively responds to the environmental policies on carbon
neutrality, energy saving and waste reduction implemented
by the People’'s Republic of China (“PRC"”), and promotes
sustainable development. The Group takes corresponding
measures for different areas to reduce its impact on the
environment, and regularly reviews the effectiveness of
relevant measures. In addition, the Group believes that
setting ESG-related targets can enhance the Group’s
commitment to corporate social responsibility and allow
the Group’s stakeholders to better understand the Group’s
ESG performance. For the year ended 31 December 2021
("2021"), the Group has also formulated its targets in four
aspects including greenhouse gas (“"GHG") emissions,
waste management, energy efficiency and water usage
efficiency. The relevant targets are set out in the sections
headed “Emissions” and “Use of Resources”. The Board
reviews the progress towards the relevant targets annually
through reports by the Management, and ensures that the
Group has sufficient measures and resources to achieve the
targets set.
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BOARD STATEMENT (Continued)

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to the directors, management team and all employees for
their contributions to the sustainable development of the
Group. | would also like to express my appreciation to all
the stakeholders for their lasting love and support. In the
future, the Group will continue to enhance its governance
and transparency to provide quality services, and will focus
on the efficient use of resources to fulfil its corporate social
responsibility and achieve a sustainable future.

Chairman
Xu Liang

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

50 Annual Report 2024 F£ &£ 3R

E=ZEBH(#E)

AANERREFGRABMUES EEEBRK
EREEA/AEENFERRFELEM - XA
INEHMAT AR E —BARMBAE M XHF - K
SERRSEBRTERMERE BRHED
R EEHERINARERER - ABTHE
CEHEETRERAFEERAR -

1

R E

EF7 - 2025%3A26H



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited R X E B A Z X R ER 2 5

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING FRAMEWORK AND PRINCIPLES

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
reporting principles and standards of the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Report should be read in conjunction with the section
headed "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this
annual report.

The Group attaches great importance to materiality,
quantitative and consistency in the preparation of the
Report. The Group has applied the following reporting
principles in the ESG Reporting Guide:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to
identify material issues during the Reporting Period, thereby
adopting the identified material issues as the focus for
the preparation of the Report. The relative importance
of issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board and
the Management. Please refer to the sections headed
"Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”
for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in
the calculation of relevant data as well as the relevant
assumptions were disclosed in the Report. The key
performance indicators (“KPIs") are supplemented by
explanatory notes to establish benchmarks where feasible.

Consistency: The preparation approach of the Report
was substantially consistent with the year ended 31
December 2023 (“2023"). The Group will further explain
the data if there is any change in the scope of disclosure
and calculation method that may affect comparisons with
previous reports.
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REPORTING SCOPE

The principal businesses of the Group, namely (i) Interactive
Entertainment and Digital Assets; and (ii) New Cultural and
Sports Space (property leasing and management services)
are included in the reporting scope. The reporting scope
is determined by the Management. The Management
has considered the importance of the impact of various
business activities on the Group's policies and financial
performance when making decisions. This Report covers
the data generated by the entities with significant ESG
impacts in which the Group has actual operation and
control, namely self-use offices in Hong Kong, Shenzhen
and Foshan, as well as public areas of the GDC Building
located in Nanshan District, Shenzhen (the “Shenzhen GDC
Building”) and GDC Building located in Foshan (the “Foshan
GDC Building”) (the “Reporting Scope”).

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We believe that the opinions of different stakeholders
can contribute to the sustainable development of the
Group, therefore, we appropriately communicate with our
stakeholders and promote the participation of stakeholders
through different forms and channels of communication.
The followings are the main categories of stakeholders and
communication channels:
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Major Stakeholders
FEHGE

RE - dERERKRE

KESHR

Communication Channels

BERE

Shareholder
%5

Employee

(==

Client
®P

Supplier
HrEm

Government and regulatory authorities

BT MBS E R

Community, non-governmental
organisations and media

A - FEBRATARA K AR RS

e Company website
NSIEES

e Quarterly, interim and annual reports
FE - FHEFERS

e Announcements and circulars
NE KB

e General meetings

BERAE

e Employees’ activities
BEEE

e Staff communication
BT

e Regular meetings/training courses
g HIIRE

e Daily operation/communication
REEE R

e Regular meetings and visits
EHemE kD

e Regular client surveys
THETEFERRAS

e Procurement process
EEi BE

e Daily operation/communication
BEEE /XN

e Regular review and evaluation

TE B B AT

e Regular performance reports
EHIRIAER

e Email, letter and phone contact
BE - EHLEEBE

e QOccasional face-to-face meetings and visits
T EE&FD

e Exchange and study tours
RimERE

e Public welfare activities
NI

e Online media

MR Iee
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group determines the scope of its ESG disclosures
in accordance with the requirements of the ESG
Reporting Guide. After considering the Group's business
operations and the standards adopted by the industry, the
Management identified a series of material ESG-related
issues and invited internal stakeholders/representatives
of stakeholders to assess such issues. The impact of
such material issues is assessed based on the level of
significance of economic, environment and social impacts
as well as the influence on stakeholder assessment. The
relevant assessment is related to the current development
stage of the Group, and may change in the future. The
matrix in respect of the material ESG issues of the Group is
summarised as follows:

ERHRM
AEE2RERE HEREREINEREE
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Materiality Assessment Matrix

. EEM TR

ju g
ma

Talent Traini Product and Service Responsibility
alent Training = o

and Development EmRRIEEE
NS HIBUR Prevention of Child
and Forced Labour

Fp1EE T Roalss

Corporate Social
Responsibilities

Occupational Health and Safety

Bfpans

Climate Change
Privac PRy
Protecll\én SIRE b

Tl R

HERRNFEIZE

Supply Chain Management
e e

Intellectual Property Protection

R (R

$

A

Environment and
Natura\ Resources
W

SESHvE

w
¥

Use of Resources
BREA

Exhaust Gas and
GHG Emissions

JEE 5 BB 2 R BE B

Waste Management

PEEYER

Level of Influence on Stakeholder Assessment and Decisions

Low Level of Significance of Economic, Environment and Social Impacts High
& HiOE  RENLSBRETENEE =

BB EZMEFEONBERE RRPIRRAER
B g lkEa MR LR ERNEER
BiR YTEREEEBUHE NS LE
B RERRER -

We regard the results of materiality assessment as
important indicators in our future planning and policy
formulation in respect of ESG, and will continue to promote
the sustainable development process of the Group based
on these material issues.

FEEDBACK BERO&

Any opinions and advice are welcome from the ZHMEGNFEHERBREILEZ - BT
stakeholders. You may send your comments on the Report AMEXKMEAFEZR T AN RFEH
or our performance in respect of sustainability via email to EEE R + ¥ EEH Zcs@gdc-world.com.hk °
cs@gdc-world.com.hk.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.

Emissions
Emission Management

The Group attaches great importance to good
environmental management in order to fulfill the
Group’s social responsibilities. The Group has
formulated relevant environmental management
systems such as the “Environmental Policy” for
daily operations to protect the environment and
support sustainability. Such systems prescribe
management measures for GHG, exhaust
gas emissions as well as hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes generated from the Group's
operations.

The Group strictly abides by the regulations
and laws related to environmental protection
applicable to its operations, including but
not limited to “Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, "Air
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People's Republic of China”, and “Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People's Republic of China” of the PRC, and
“Air Pollution Control Ordinance” and “Waste
Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong as well
as other local laws and regulations related to
environmental protection. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not in any material non-
compliance with local laws and regulations in
relation to the environment due to air and GHG
emissions, discharge of sewage, hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes.
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A1l.

wE

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. RE(E)
Emissions (Continued) Al BERWD (E)
Exhaust Gas Emissions BER B
Due to the business nature of the Group, its ERAEENERMEE  HXE
major exhaust gas emissions are from the use FEEREFURBEWMER - N&E
of vehicles. During the Reporting Period, the wE B A BE RBE UK T E22023
exhaust gas emission level of the Group is FHHERBUKTERES ©
similar to the emission levels in 2023.
During the Reporting Period, the performance REE R @SR ERBEMEE
of exhaust gas emissions of the Group is as WA -
follows:

Unit

Pollutants’ BERER B 20245 2023%F
Nitrogen oxides (NOy) BEY (NOy) g7 6,376.15 6,474.62
Sulfur oxides (SOy) HFE(E? (SO g% 196.47 182.96
Particular matters (PM) SR (PM) g7 469.46 476.71
Note: Bt -
1. The calculation method of exhaust gas 1. BERBEMEE M E AR

emissions and the related emissions factors
were based on, including but not limited to,
“How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIls”
issued by the Stock Exchange.

The Group encourages employees to use green
transportation such as public transportation or
cycling as much as possible. The Group also
carries out regular maintenance on its vehicles
to reduce fuel consumption, thereby reducing
carbon emissions and exhaust gas emissions.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

Emissions (Continued)
GHG Emissions

The GHG emissions of the Group are mainly
derived from direct GHG emissions (Scope
1) caused by gasoline consumed by vehicles,
energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
caused by purchased electricity; and other
indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) caused by
disposal of waste papers and business travel.
In 2021, the Group set a GHG reduction target
with an aim to reduce the intensity of GHG
emissions intensity by at least 3% in the
year ending 31 December 2026 (“2026") as
compared with the level in the year ended
31 December 2020 (“2020") (i.e. 0.39 tCO,e/
m?). The Group is making positive progress
towards the above target. The Group will
review progress against the target regularly
and continue to work towards the set target.

In order to achieve the target, the Group
actively adopts power-saving and energy-
saving measures to reduce GHG emissions,
including stringent control of air conditioning
usage, lighting facility usage and office
appliance usage. Specific measures will be
described in the section headed “Energy
Efficiency”. In addition, the Group will conduct
video conferences instead of physical meetings
to reduce carbon emissions from business
travel.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’'s GHG
emission intensity decreased by approximately
4.5% from approximately 0.22 tCO,e/m? in
2023 to approximately 0.21 tCO,e/m? in 2024.

A. BE(E)

A1.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

A. BE(E)

Emissions (Continued) Al. BRI (&)
GHG Emissions (Continued) BEREHMK (E)
During the Reporting Period, the performance RERH - AEENEERE
of GHG emissions of the Group is as follows: PERRIBAAT ¢
Unit
Scope of GHG Emissions’ BRERBHREE Bfy 20245 2023 F
Direct emission =833
(Scope 1) (85E1)
Vehicle teams of the Group AEBEH tCOe
M_StiEe 35.67 33.11
Refrigerants 22| tCO.e
M_StiEe 451.10 345.00
Energy indirect emission RREEER
(Scope 2) (8E2)
Purchased electricity INEEE 7 tC0O,e
M_EtiEE 597.07 787.89
Other indirect emission Hin BN
(Scope 3) (85[E3)
Paper disposed to landfill2 EE T E G R tCO.e
M_StiEE 3.38 273
Business travel® EEHZE? tCO,e
M_StiEE 67.95 73.89
Total emission of GHG BERBENEE tCOe
M_StiEe 1,155.17 1,242.62
Total emission of GHG BEYLREAEREMN tCOe/m?
per square metre of floor area* BEREHRE W_SlthEs 0.21 0.22
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

Emissions (Continued)
GHG Emissions (Continued)

Notes:

GHG emission data are presented in terms
of carbon dioxide equivalent. The calculation
method and the related emissions factors
are based on, including but not limited to,
“The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard” issued by
the World Resources Institute and the World
Business Council for Sustainable Development;
“How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange; emission factors
of the national power grid in the “Notice
on the Management of Greenhouse Gas
Emission Reporting of Enterprises in the Power
Generation Industry in 2023-2025" and the
emission factors of Southern Power Grid in the
“Announcement on Release of 2022 Electricity
Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors” issued by
the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the PRC; global warming potential value from
“The Sixth Assessment Report” and “The Fifth
Assessment Report” of the United Nations
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; and
“Sustainability Report 2022" and “Sustainability
Report 2023" issued by HK Electric Investment.

The data consist of GHG emissions avoided
through paper recycling.

The Group recorded a decrease in the number
of employees who made business travel by air,
resulting in a corresponding decrease in indirect
emissions. Such emission is calculated based on
the emission factors used by the International
Civil Aviation Organisation Carbon Emissions
Calculator.

During the Reporting Period, the Hong
Kong Office downsized its office space due
to relocation. As a result, the total area of
commercial floor space of the Group reduced by
70.00 m? in 2024 as compared with 2023.
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wE

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

Emissions (Continued)

Waste Management

In 2024, the Group has continued to implement
the “Provisions of Classification and Reduction
of Domestic Waste"” in the Shenzhen GDC
Building according to the “Measures of
Administrating Classification and Reduction
of Domestic Waste of Shenzhen” issued by
the Shenzhen Urban Management Bureau,
a waste separation bins were placed and
harmless waste were properly recycled. In
addition, Regional offices purchase recyclable
and reusable office supplies as far as possible,
and implement double sided printing, recycling
paper and toner cartridge recycling scheme,
E-filing has been encouraged so as to reduce
the consumption of paper and toners to reduce
waste.

In 2021, the Group set a waste reduction
target with an aim to reduce the intensity of
non-hazardous waste (tonnes/m?) by at least
3% in 2026 as compared with the level in 2020
(i.,e. 0.002 tonnes/m?). The Group is making
positive progress towards the above target.
The Group will review progress against the
target regularly and continue to work towards
the set target.

Due to the business nature of the Group, the
Group did not generate any hazardous waste
as a result of its business operations during
the Reporting Period. Despite the fact that the
Group did not generate any hazardous waste
during the Reporting Period, the Group is
required to comply with relevant environmental
laws and regulations, and engage a qualified
waste recycler to dispose of the waste in case
of any hazardous waste generated.

During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous
waste per square metre consumed by the
Group was approximately 0.001 tonnes
consistent with the level in 2023. The Group
will continue to review the level of non-
hazardous waste generated in order to achieve
the Group’s waste reduction target.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1l.

A. BE(E)

Emissions (Continued) Al HERMWD (&)

Waste Management (Continued) BEEYELE ()

During the Reporting Period, the performance RBEPRH  AEEEANES

of non-hazardous waste generated by the FEEYRBOT :

Group is as follows:

Non-hazardous Waste BEREEY UnitE{ 20245 2023

Domestic waste AR tonnel 4.38 4.85

Paper KR tonneld 0.70 0.57

Plastic BB tonneld 0.20 0.10

Total non-hazardous waste EEREYHEE tonnelf 5.28 5.52

Total non-hazardous waste BYLREEEEN tonne/m? 0.001 0.001
per square metre of floor area EEBEYELLE W FHK

Saving Papers

One of the goals of the Group in promoting
environmental protection is to become a
paperless office. The Group continues to
advocate sending e-bills and e-notices to
its tenants and staff to save papers. By
implementing e-filing and e-approval instead
of in paper form, applying double-sided
printing and paper recycling, and adopting
e-communication, the Group has reduced
the use of papers and stationeries and
hence, indirectly avoided emission of GHG
in its operation process. The operational
efficiency has been enhanced after applying
e-approval procedure due to less onerous
procedures among departments and improved
environmental performance, compared to
traditional approval in paper form, and thus
enhanced the efficiency of the Group.
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wE

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2.

Use Of Resources
Energy Efficiency

The Group aims to actively promote the
efficient use of resources, and monitors the
use of energy and water resources during its
operations in real time. The Group has relevant
policies and systems, including but not limited
to the environmental policy, to manage the use
of resources during its operations in a more
effective manner.

The Group has formulated its target on energy
efficiency in 2021, aiming for a minimum 3%
reduction in energy consumption intensity
(kWh/m?) in 2026 as compared with the level
in 2020 (i.e. 325.81 kWh/m?). The Group is
making positive progress towards the above
target. The Group will review progress against
the target regularly and continue to work
towards the set target.

The Group strengthens environmental
protection and adopts the following energy-
saving measures in order to meet its goals.

In the Shenzhen GDC Building, only two
elevators were in service on weekends while
others were shut down. Air conditioners of
elevators were only operated during office
hours in the summer and air-conditioners in the
elevators machine room were only switched
on automatically when the room temperature
overheated. In the Shenzhen GDC Building,
except that sensor lights were installed in
public corridors and the number of lamps
installed was reduced, fluorescent lamps
have been gradually replaced by LED lighting
in order to reduce consumption of fuel for
electricity generation, and old water valves in
toilets and the drainage equipment of flushing
toilets on each floor were replaced to improve
energy efficiency. Moreover, operating hours
of decorative lights and the landscaped pool
of the Shenzhen GDC Building were adjusted
to further reduce consumption of electricity.
In response to the call of developing clean
energy vigorously with an aim to reduce carbon
emissions from the government, we offer
electric vehicle charging stations in the car
park of the Shenzhen GDC Building. The Group
installed 20 new energy recharging facilities for
vehicles in 2024 and will increase the number
of recharging facilities gradually in the future.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2.

Use Of Resources (Continued)

Energy Efficiency (Continued)

Offices at different locations were installed
with LED lighting and energy saving lighting,
and the lighting systems of office areas were
required to be turned off during non-office
hours. The temperature of air-conditioning
of each office was preset at 25.5°C and
automatic power shutdown function of air-
conditioners was applied during non-office
hours. In addition, the Group also utilised an
energy-saving function for computer systems.
The Group's image-rendering services are now
provided by a third-party public cloud, and the
Group’s rendering servers in the data centre
have been shut down. During the Reporting
Period, the Group continued to optimise and
upgrade the virtual server systems, to carry out
storage capacity consolidation for devices as
well as data transfer integration, which led to
a reduction in the energy consumption arising
from the physical servers.

The energy consumption of the Group is
mainly derived from gasoline consumption
for vehicles and electricity consumption for
daily operations. During the Reporting Period,
the energy consumption intensity of the
Group increased by approximately 12.3%
from approximately 267.17 kWh/m? in 2023
to approximately 300.04 kWh/m? in 2024.
During the Reporting Period, due to increased
electrical losses from aging equipment, as
well as an increase in electricity demand
from advertising, tenants, and electric vehicle
charging, the Group’s electricity consumption
has risen, leading to an increase in total
energy consumption and energy consumption
intensity.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. RE(E)
A2. Use Of Resources (Continued) A2. ERFEAE)
Energy Efficiency (Continued) BEIR a5 (&)
During the Reporting Period, the performance RMEHE - AEBEMERERE
of energy consumption of the Group is as FRWOT -
follows:
Energy Consumption’ BERERE UnitE{I 2024F 2023%F
Direct energy consumption — BERLRERE - KWhT BB 129,528.59 120,623.08
Gasoline? T2
Indirect energy consumption — B LR B FE - kWhTEE  1,533,778.83 1,379,150.10
Electricity EW)
Total energy consumption BEREERE kKWhTE R 1,663,307.42 1,499,773.18
Energy consumption per square S¥ 5 KEEEEN kWh/m? 300.04 267.17
metre of floor area BREETAR  TEE/FHK
Notes: Biat -
1. The calculation of unit conversion is based on 1. BABMEFHET A2 RBERE
the Energy Statistics Manual published by the IREEM 2 CEREFTFM) °

International Energy Agency.

2. The consumption of gasoline in 2023 and in 2. 20234 M20244F #) 5 H H 7
2024 was approximately 12,446.46 litres and E 9B A12,446.46 2 Ft AN
13,365.37 litres, respectively. 13,365.37 A F °
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2.

Use Of Resources (Continued)
Water Usage Efficiency

In order to further enhance the water usage
efficiency, the Group has installed automatic
sensor faucets in the Shenzhen GDC Building
and substantially shortened the operating
hours of its landscaped pool to save water.
In addition, the Group has strengthened the
checking for all the water valves and had
regular overhauls in leak-proof water pipes of
the Shenzhen GDC Building to prevent the risk
of leaking as well as continue to implement
the above-mentioned water usage efficiency
enhancement programme.

In 2021, the Group has set a target of water
usage with an aim to reduce the water
consumption intensity (m%/m?) by at least 3%
in 2026 as compared with the level in 2020
(i.e. 1.76 m3/m?). The Group is making positive
progress towards the above target. The Group
will review progress against the target regularly
and continue to work towards the set target.

Due to the geographical location of the Group's
operations, the Group does not have any major
problems in obtaining suitable water sources.
During the Reporting Period, the water
consumption intensity of the Group decrease
by approximately 6.5% from approximately
1.55 m¥m? in 2023 to approximately 1.45 m3/
m? in 2024.
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A2.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A, BE(E)
A2. Use Of Resources (Continued) A2, BIR{ER (&)
Water Usage Efficiency (Continued) Fok sz (5)

66

During the Reporting Period, the performance
of water consumption of the Group is as

RIS HE - NEEHANOER
REWMT

follows:

Water Consumption FEKE UnitE{u 2024%F 20234

Total amount of water used' #EHKE! ma3xz 77K 8,027.00 8,713.00

Amount of water used per #BFFKREEERE m3/m? 1.45 1.65

square metre of floor area HAKE SHKS
K

Note: Biat -

1. As the Hong Kong headquarters operates 1. AEBEBREERQ T E
in a leased office building, both supply and KRR REEZZE
disposal of water are controlled by the property XEBTES  MEEEEE
management office of the landlord, which R ARE R R4t Ak mEE
considers it is impracticable to provide separate KB R DRI AT » Bk
metre to measure water supply and disposal BREETRERSBIBOHA
for individual tenants, hence, the water KE o
consumption of the Hong Kong headquarters is
not included in such figures.

Use of Packaging Materials BEHEEH

Due to the business nature of the Group, the ERNAREENEREE  AEE

Group does not have any industrial production WiETHEARE - EEA IR

and factory facilities. Therefore, there were no e At WELBEERFERK

significant amount of packaging materials used EBREME -

for packaging products.

A3. Environment and Natural Resources A3. RERXAEBR

The Group continues to pursue environmental
protection and pay attention to the impact
of the Group's business on the environment
and natural resources. As a responsible
enterprise, the Group has reduced its
impact on the environmental and natural
resources arising from its operations, through
adjusting the management on its operation
model and adopting more eco-friendly
operational measures. In addition, the Group
has encouraged its employees to reduce
emission and waste as well as make good
use of resources, no matter at work or at
home, to put our best efforts to protect the
environment.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A3.

A4.

Environment and Natural Resources

(Continued)

The Group has formulated the “Environmental
Policy” to continuously track and monitor
the use of energy and water resources
for business operations of the Group, and
increased the use of innovative energy-saving
and water-saving technologies to reduce the
consumption of energy and water resources
in daily operations. In order to scale down the
production of wastes and the use of paper,
the Group advocates a paperless office and
encourages employees to communicate
with internal and external personnel through
electronic means. Meanwhile, where possible,
personnel in the Procurement Department
should purchase recyclable and reusable items
at their best effort.

Climate Change

In view that extreme weather is likely to be
more frequent and severe, addressing climate
change has become a global consensus.
The Group is aware that climate change will
affect its business operations in different
ways, therefore, we have established a
comprehensive set of procedures to identify,
monitor and manage ESG issues including
climate change. Based on these procedures,
we have identified the following climate-related
risks.

i -

HERERRE

A. BE(E)

A3.

A4,

RERRXAER (&)

AEBEHERBEHE - THE
BREREREERERBLETER
BERAMAKEIRAVIT RN - I IE IN{E

FA BIIE B &5 B 85 /K BT - DARL 2>
H & EP Y RMKEIRNH

FE o BBV EEEY B E & AR
RER  NEBEEEKLCHERD
T EHBEIRRNINBAEER
HHEFH 5 TS o AR - RN AT BE
EAT  REANABEEERE
BERBRREANERNYS -

TR
BimRAREMHELEMETABRE
MEE BHRERELCERAE
Ij»/\u_@ik ZISE.::_:_ :t‘J_L'ﬂ:z‘i'ft
BETRTHZEEEXBES
Hit - HPIREL T —ExEBNE
R - BEfE A E I B R R AR
BEAEANRE HehERHE
B RIBZERF BT
o B0 SRR A B LB
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ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A4,

Climate Change (Continued)
Physical Risks

First of all, the increased frequency and
severity of extreme weather such as typhoons,
floods and heavy rains caused by climate
change may lead to physical damage to the
properties owned and managed by the Group,
thereby increasing the Group's expenses
related to maintenance, disaster response,
etc. In severe cases, the normal operation of
the Group may be affected, and the personal
safety of building managers and users may
also be threatened. If such incidents are
not handled by the Group properly, it will
also have a negative impact on the Group's
reputation. Besides, rising sea levels may also
cause flooding and damage to infrastructure
and facilities, thereby increasing the cost of
repairing damaged facilities.

In response to these physical risks, the
Group has insured for employees and related
properties to protect corresponding interests
and reduce potential financial losses. In
addition, the Group maintains backups of
information technology systems and work—
related documents stored on local servers
and off-site locations to minimise the
potential impact of business interruption and
their impact on the Group’s business. The
Group also regularly reviews and updates
its business continuity plan to ensure that
normal operations can be maintained and core
business functions can be properly performed
during any material event.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A4,

Climate Change (Continued)
Transition Risks

In addition to the abovementioned physical
risks, the Group also faces transition risks
arising from the transition to a low-carbon
economy. A growing number of aggressive
climate policies and regulations formulated to
support the vision of global decarbonisation.
For example, the Stock Exchange has required
listed companies to enhance climate-related
disclosures in their ESG reports. PRC has also
made solemn commitments to “carbon peak”
in 2030 and “carbon neutrality” in 2060, and
promulgated relevant action plans and policies.
Stricter environmental laws and regulations
may expose enterprises to higher risks of
claims and litigation. Corporate reputation may
also be negatively affected by failing to meet
climate change compliance requirements,
thereby increasing the Company’s relevant
capital investment and compliance costs.

In response to policy and legal risks as well as
reputational risks, the Group regularly monitors
existing and emerging climate-related trends,
policies and regulations and is prepared to
remind the Management if necessary to avoid
increased costs, fines for non-compliance
or reputational risk due to slow response. In
addition, we have set a target for reducing
energy consumption and GHG emissions in
2021 to promote the sustainable development
of the Group.

A. BE(E)

A4,

SAREL (&)

27 g f

BT LM EERR  AEBEIN
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SOCIAL

B1.

Employment
Employment and Labour Practices

The Group believes that employees are our
momentum for innovation and also the keys
to our operation and sustainable development,
as well as our core competitive advantage.
To maintain working team harmony and retain
high-quality talent, we ensure all employees
are treated with justice and fairness in terms
of recruitment, opportunities of promotion and
training, and remuneration and welfare, and are
free from discrimination. Meanwhile, the Group
is committed to providing a safe and healthy
working environment and to safeguarding basic
rights of employees proactively, ensuring our
employees are healthy both physically and
mentally, which in turn enhances their working
efficiency.

The Group recognises the importance of
employment issues and safeguards basic
rights of employees, and also prepares and
implements strictly its “Staff Handbook”
and “Management System of Human
Resources” in accordance with the relevant
employment laws and regulations, including
but not limited to “Labor Law of the People's
Republic of China”, “Labor Contract Law
of the People's Republic of China” of the
PRC and “State Council Interim Measures
on Workers’ Retirement, Resignation of
China”, as well as “Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance” and “Rules in relation to
jurisdiction under Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance” of Hong Kong.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

Employment (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices
(Continued)

Specific rules of recruitment, attendance,
remuneration, welfare and others are
detailed in the Group’s “Staff Handbook” and
“Management System of Human Resources”.
The Group will strive for the best to review the
related policies regularly based on the changes
of policies and the feedback conducted during
the previous years. In addition, the Group
takes the health and welfare of its employees
seriously, and provides medical welfare to all
qualified employees, such as subsidies for
body checkup, provision of medical insurance
and personal accident insurance, in order
to enhance the sense of belonging of the
employees to the Group. During the Reporting
Period, the Group also distributed gift boxes to
its staff on the Dragon Boat Festival as a token
of its love and care for its staff.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly
complies with relevant laws and regulations
in respect of employment, including but not
limited to “Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and “Labor Contract Law of the
People's Republic of China” in the PRC. The
Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations related
to human resources.

B. #g(#&)
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

72

Employment (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has 93 (31
December 2023: 132) employees in total within
the Reporting Scope.

Total Workforce by Gender

B. #&(#&)

B1.

’E (&)
EREREZTER (%)

MN2024FE12 83180 » AEF R

REBEANES £F93E (B
2023%F12A31H : 132) »

BUuRE s NWEERE D M

Gender 4 Bl 2024 20234
Male 5 48 68
Female g 45 64

Total Workforce by Employment Type

BEREEISNESLH I M

Employment type EEER 2024%F 20234
Full time 2R 93 132
Part time =g - _

Total Workforce by Age Group

BERANISHNEERH D

Age group Fie4a 5l 20244 20234
Aged under 30 305 AT 9 27
Aged 30 to 50 30&E505% 77 96
Aged over 50 5055 A 7 9

Total Workforce by Geographical Area

B I NEELE DM

Geographical area & 2024%F 20234
Mainland China Fp B K B 85 124
Hong Kong, China R & B 8 8

During the Reporting Period, the turnover rate’
of the Group was 33.6% (2023: 28.8%).

Turnover Rate by Gender’

RREHE - AEBENEERK
R1533.6% (20234 : 28.8%) °

51 B85 NIEEF A

Gender 4 Bl 20244 20234
Male E2 33.3% 30.9%
Female g 33.8% 26.4%
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

B2.

B. #&(#&)

Employment (Continued) B1. EE#E)
Employment and Labour Practices EBREZETZH (Z)
(Continued)
Turnover Rate by Age Group' BERANEDWEERKE
Age group FH ARl 20245 20234
Aged under 30 307 AT 67.9% 46.7%
Aged 30 to 50 30E 505K 27.2% 20.0%
Aged over 50 503 - 25.0%
Turnover Rate by Geographical Area’ BiWEE D WEE R KR
Geographical area HE 20245 20234
Mainland China B A fE 35.1% 30.3%
Hong Kong, China FEEE 11.1% -
Note: Wit
1. Theturnover  Number of employees left during the 1. KRN REREE SR

rate of the financial year 00 RAER RANEEAY

Group Number of employees as at the ’ = NOTEEEREEAZ X 100%
first day of the financial year+Number +
of new hires during the financial year RO EE AL
EEAH

Health and Safety B2. BRHEZZ

The Group strives to provide a safe and
healthy workplace to its employees. We
have established a policy or guideline of
occupational health, in accordance with the
“Law of the People’'s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases” of the PRC, “Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance” of Hong Kong and
other related laws. The Group has encouraged
its employees to report to the administration
department of the Group for any health and
safety issues related to the workplace that
they are aware or concerned of, so that such
risks will be mitigated or reduced by the Group,
working together to build a healthy and safe
working environment.

AEEBHAARERERREZ2@E
B TAERIE - HAAR P E (P
FEARAXMBEBERBNEE) &
FENCBELZ 2 REBEIED)EF
38 FROE D R BLB R (2 R BOR S48
Sle AEETBEEEMALE
1T EB IR MR AL A7) 5 B L 2% 3R R
ETESNRRERRZEEE -
A% 7K 5% B B ORI AR R LR -
BFAETERRERZE2NTHE

R o
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B2.

Health and Safety (Continued)

There were no work-related fatalities or
permanent disability occurred in each of the
past three years including the Reporting Period
(0% for work-related fatalities). During the
Reporting Period, there were no lost days
(2023: 68 lost day) due to work injuries. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with
laws and regulations related to safety and
health, including but not limited to “Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Treatment of Occupational Diseases” of
the PRC and the “Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance” of Hong Kong, which have a
significant impact on the Group.

The Group has adopted the following
occupational health and safety measures:

o Purchasing ergonomic design furniture,
locating multi-function copy machines in
separate areas, and procuring lightings
suitable for reading, to reduce the risk of
health hazard for employees;

o Providing different occupational health
trainings for employees of different
positions (including drivers and security
guards);

o Arranging regular inspections on fire
equipment and safety facilities (including
installing fire distinguishers) in the
offices and replacement of expired fire
distinguishers;

o In addition to providing security guards
with torches, alarms and other safety
equipment, and providing training
courses for security guards to enhance
their awareness of self-safety;

° Arranging regular overhauls for vehicles
of the Group to ensure their proper
functioning so as to safeguard the safety
of drivers; and

o Organising regular safety education
seminars for tenants in the Shenzhen
GDC Building and employees and
arranging fire training and drills.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B2.

B3.

Health and Safety (Continued)

The Group regularly reviews relevant policies
and measures to ensure that employees’
health and safety are effectively protected.

The Group also pays attention to the employees’
physical and mental health while the administration
department of the Group organises leisure and
exercise activities for its employees regularly
to actively encourage them to seek a balance
between work and life. A leisure area for its staff
in the office of the Shenzhen GDC Building was
established, so that the staff from the creative
department are able to find new inspiration at any
time in the leisure area. Fitness and recreational
facilities are also provided to allow its staff to lay
down their jobs when necessary and take a break
to “recharge” themselves before getting back to
work.

Development and Training

During the Reporting Period, we organised
various trainings to help our employees
improve their professional standards and
industry intentions, including but not limited to
the following activities:

Training Event

EINEIR EEIEL:S

Training Objectives

B. #&(#&)

B2.

B3.

RERZZ(E)
AEBETFEHMRSBEBRREME
i BREENZELRBELZS
BRI B MAIRE ©

AEENREIREN T LEE
77BN BB = E B AR P UK PR 4R RO B
TRELH  WHEBHBEESE
kT VR A TE R 1 o SRYIIIRBR
FIERNENMRAEREE TIRA
& - EAIESL 8 T o] BERS MR E
ESHRFTNER MR TERS
MIRGELE FETAFTERK
TIEMIERE [REIRBHE
TIHE

R R

RBEHHE - RAEBT TEE
=R T B TR
BEACEFMITEES  BRET
RO TES :

Product Training
2 mig It

skills, and promote teamwork.

RITE THHERD THRMBRAEEN - RERMAIR - BRFHERT -

e E K17 B -

Anti-unfair Competition
Training
RAIEE HFE

Improve employees’ understanding and application capabilities of
new products, promote technological innovation, enhance sales

Enhance employees’ legal awareness and jointly maintain market
order and a fair and just environment.
RABINEZED  WMEARBKETSKFIRTHRFRE -
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B.  SOCIAL (Continued) B. #Hg(#)
B3. Development and Training (Continued) B3. BRERIEI(£&)
Training Event Training Objectives
ESBIE ZA B B
Civil Code Training Day Enable our employees to better understand their rights and
Byx#izsg interests and ethics, enhance their legal governance awareness,

clarify the implementation guidelines in various civil relations,
prevent and resolve disputes, and promote the construction of a
country with social moral governance.

FETFHNTHRECHENNER BRE TXEH PARESRE
REBRERTOITRER ARG HSt TR ERNE

Ethics Training Help employees to gain a better understanding of Hong Kong's
A anti-corruption legislation, acquire skills in identifying and

managing corruption risks, and enhance their vigilance against
corruption temptations in their daily work. This initiative will
contribute to GDC's establishment of an effective anti-corruption
system and a culture of integrity.

FRIEIIEE - B TRMBHBEREEMNRE ZEFENERE
FRRERT  TREERFILETHHESARNERL - ABHAEAE
B2 B MR E g s e -

A RN ANE
| manEmua
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B3.

Development and Training (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the number
of trained employees of the Group was 93
(2023: 130), and the average training hours
per employee' were approximately 15.57
hours (2023: approximately 0.57 hours). The
significant increase in training hours during
the Reporting Period was mainly due to the
improvement of the internal training hours

B.

HE(E)

B3.

BRERIEIN(E)

R¥FEBE  AEENZIES
ANEEI3A (20234 : 130A) -
FHEURERBMNZIEGE NS
15.57/\BF (20234F : #9/50.57/
BF) o BRI SRS EBEE
EAEZHRABEIEERT
RPN E o

statistics system.

Percentage of employees trained (%)>?
FZHEE B D (%)

2024 2023 2024 2023
By gender By employment type
BERIE D RESEHES
Male Manager level or above
Els 100 99 BRI 100 98
Female General staff
g 100 98 LRET 100 929
Average training hours per employee (hours)’
BEAGZINEE (M)
2024 2023 2024 2023
By gender By employment type
BIERIE D RESERE S
Male Manager level or above
Bk 15.75 0.53 BRI 22.92 1.03
Female General staff
g 15.38 062 EWET 11.71 0.30
Notes: K -
1. The Group's Total training hours of employees in 1. AEEM REHEESH
average the category during the financial year 100% BEAY ZENEE X 1009
training hours = Total number of employees in the ’ SilEgk - S o0
peremployee  category at the end of the financial G R ERZLER
year EEMAH
2. TheGroup's  The number of employees trained in 2. KEEH REREEHE
percentage the category during the financial year 100% TilEE B ERTHEE X 100%
of employees =~ Total number of employees in the : AARA AR '
trained category at the end of the financial RURFRERZ
year ERIEEHAR
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B4.

Labour Standards
Prevention of child or forced labour

The Group has complied with all laws and
regulations related to the prevention of child
or forced labour, including but not limited
to “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, "Provisions on the Special Protection
for Juvenile Workers” and “Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labor of the People’s
Republic of China” of the PRC, as well as
“Employment of Children Regulations” and
“Employment of Young Persons (Industry)
Regulations” of Hong Kong . During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not find any
material violation of laws and regulations
related to the prevention of child or forced
labour.

The Group strictly prohibits the employment
of any child labour, and requires applicants to
provide true and accurate personal information
in open recruitment, and submit it to the
recruiters for cautious review. The materials
to be reviewed include academic certificates,
ID cards, etc. The Group has created a well-
established recruitment process to check
the background of candidates and a formal
reporting procedure to handle any exceptions.
Besides, regular reviews and inspections to
prevent any child labour during the operations
will be conducted. If it is found that child labour
is mistakenly hired, the Group will immediately
suspend the child labour from work and follow
up the case.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B4.

B5.

Labour Standards (Continued)
Prevention of child or forced labour (Continued)

In order to avoid forced labour, the working
hours, public holidays and rest days are clearly
stated in the employee contract. As a matter of
principle, the Group advocates the completion
of work within normal hours and does not in
any way force any employee to work overtime
against their will or impose any form of work-
related corporal punishment or coercion on
any employee. The Group is also required to
grant appropriate time off or overtime pay to
employees who have been approved to work
overtime. In case of any forced labour found, it
will be immediately investigated by the Group.
Once a case of non-compliance is confirmed,
the Group may take disciplinary action against
any person responsible for the incident.

Supply Chain Management

In strict reference to the relevant provisions
including “Bidding Law of the People's
Republic of China”, the Group has formulated a
set of sound procurement systems. According
to the principle of fair competition, the Group
determines the purchase of materials in the
form of direct procurement or price comparison
based on the value of products or services.
Suppliers are carefully selected through
product or service quality and price to ensure
that the products and services are good value
for money, and to reduce the incidence of
fraud. In addition, the Group requires suppliers
to provide legal documents for production and
sales of products and licenses if necessary,
and ensures transparency and accountability
in the procurement process to safeguard the
security and compliance of the supply chain.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

Bb5.

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

In order to avoid bias in the selection of
suppliers, our administration department has
compiled the “List of Appropriate Suppliers”.
This not only saves time and money in
identifying suppliers and also ensures the
quality of suppliers. At the same time, the
Group carries out long-term quality monitoring
and regular reviews against all its suppliers.
If any significant changes in a supplier’s
qualification or serious quality problems arise,
the Group will immediately stop purchasing
products or services from that supplier.

In addition, the Group also takes full account
of the social, ethical and environmental
performance of suppliers in the procurement
process. The Group is required to review the
followings in the regular audit of suppliers:

° The suppliers understand the
environmental, social and ethical
issues related to its business and have
established minimum standards for
these issues;

° Key suppliers and suppliers with higher
risks have management systems in place
to deal with environmental and social
issues and risks;
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B5. Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Discrimination against small and medium
enterprises or local suppliers can be
minimised with the premise that the
needs of the Group can be met;

The accuracy of the information provided
by suppliers are identified through the
review, third-party verification or similar
procedures; and

Under other conditions being the same,
the Group prefers suppliers who are
responsible for the environment and
society, or those who promote products
and services that are favourable to the
environment.

The Group also regularly reviews policies and
measures related to supply chain management
to ensure its effectiveness.

In 2024, the Group had a total of 245 key
suppliers (2023: 199). All suppliers have
passed the review conducted by the above
practices during the Reporting Period. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material adverse impact on business
ethics, environmental protection, human rights
and labour practices of any of its key suppliers.

Geographical Distribution of Key Suppliers
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B6.

Product Responsibility

The Group has actively complied with “Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests”,
"Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic
of China”, “Trademark Law of the People's
Republic of China”, "Patent Law of the
People’'s Republic of China” and “Copyright
Law of the People’'s Republic of China” of
the PRC, as well as the “Trade Descriptions
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and other laws
and regulations. During the Reporting Period,
the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to product and service quality. For the
sustainable development of the Group, it is of
utmost importance to achieve and maintain a
high standard of product and service quality.
To ensure that we provide quality products
and services to our customers, the Group
regularly monitors the project process of
the products. Through a series of tests, we
compare the actual results with the expected
results, so as to identify anomalies and areas
for improvement and strive for excellence. As
the Group is principally engaged in creation,
production and management of digital assets
as well as property leasing and management
services. During the Reporting Period, the
Group is not engaged in product recall
procedures and does not have any products
sold that are required to be recalled for safety
and health reasons (2023: Nil).

Intellectual Property Protection

As a company in the creative industry, the
Group recognises the importance of adhering
to safeguarding and complying with intellectual
property rights. As for this, the Group has
formulated relevant internal measures, and
strictly enforced internal and external laws and
regulations to prevent inadvertent infringement
of the intellectual property rights of others
during the process of creation and business
operations. In addition, the Group will also
apply for copyright registration for original
drama series or films, and protect the Group's
intellectual property rights through commercial
confidentiality agreements and other
agreements restricting the use of the Group's
intellectual property rights.
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B6.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Customer Services and Complaint Handling

The Group is committed to providing high-
quality service experience to customers through
standardised service quality, humanised service
process and normalised service management.
Regarding the complaints about products and
services, the Group has established procedures
for handling complaints and has arranged staff
dedicated to follow up on each individual case
to resolve the problems raised by clients in
respect of designated matters. The property
management business of the Group conducts
surveys and visits to tenants on a regular basis to
collect opinions thereby improving the property
management plan. During the Reporting Period,
the Group was not aware of any significant
complaints concerning the products or services
(2023: Nil).

Protection of Stakeholders’ Information and
Privacy Policy

The Group exercises caution in its daily
operations to safeguard stakeholders’
personal data as well as uses and handles the
stakeholders’ personal data under “Personal
Information Protection Law of the People's
Republic of China” of the PRC and the
“Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance” of Hong
Kong accordingly, which includes setting up
password as to the electronic document of
stakeholders’ data and the password will only
be available to authorised employees. All
stakeholders’ personal data are for commercial
operation purposes of the Group only and
shall never be resold to any third parties. In
addition, all employees have entered into a
confidentiality agreement in order to regulate
and limit the utilisation of the Company's
data by employees, so as to further protect
the personal data of the stakeholders. These
measures and practices are also regularly
reviewed within the Group to reduce the risk of
data and privacy leakage.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

B7.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Advertising and Labelling

The Group has set up guidelines related
to advertising and labelling to regulate the
advertising and labelling of products. The
Group conducts a rigorous review of its sales,
marketing, advertising strategies and materials
related to the products and services it offers,
and ensures that our organisational marketing
and advertising to potential clients and agents
is ethical and accurate, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly requires all directors and
employees to act based on ethical conduct,
and prohibits all bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering. The Group has complied
with all laws and regulations related to the
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited
to “Criminal Law of the People’'s Republic
of China”, “"Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, "“Bidding Law of the
People's Republic of China” and "Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China” of PRC, as well as the “Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance” of Hong Kong. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non- compliance with laws and
regulations related to the prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, nor had
there been any concluded corruption lawsuits
brought against the Group or its employees.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B7.

BS.

Anti-corruption (Continued)

Upon discovery of any misconduct by any
colleague or superior, an employee may
inform the Group’s internal audit manager or
the Audit Committee directly through email
in accordance with the "Whistleblowing
Policy” and each whistleblowing email is
only available to the internal audit manager
or the Audit Committee. Upon receipt of
such whistleblowing emails, the internal
audit manager will immediately initiate an
investigation according to the procedures
and report the findings to the Chairman and
the Audit Committee. In addition, the internal
audit department regularly conducts internal
sampling reviews regarding daily operations
of the business divisions to reduce the
risk of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. During the Reporting Period, the
directors and employees of the Group received
training materials related to anti-corruption
and participated in lectures on anti-corruption.
Through relevant training, the directors and
employees at different levels have learnt
more about their corresponding roles and
responsibilities in respect of anti-corruption and
business ethics, as well as the precautions for
operation compliance.

Community Investment

Since its establishment 23 years ago, the
Group has been deeply involved in the
cultural and creative industry, conscientiously
implementing the government’'s policy of
“Developing the country through science and
education” (B4 #EE ), and actively supporting
the construction of community public welfare
in various operating locations. The scope
involved includes children’s science education,
culture and art and other fields, contributing to
the improvement of the quality of children’s
science and social development. Additionally,
we are honoured to be acknowledged by the
Shenzhen Women & Children’s Development
Foundation as a green public welfare partner,
enabling us to engage the Child Friendly
Expo’s green development initiatives and make
contributions to the development of child-
friendly public welfare undertakings.
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B8.

Community Investment (Continued)

According to the “Community Investment
Policy”, when making decisions on the
direction of community investment, the Group
relied on the company’s rich cultural and
creative animation resources from which the
Management selected appropriate content
and themes, and organised and participated
in various public welfare activities after taking
account into the needs of the communities
where it operates.

During the Year, the Shenzhen division of
the Group held a number of green classroom
charity activities to enhance public awareness
of ecological protection. During the event,
participants learned relevant knowledge
through interesting interactive classes, and
researchers from Chinese Yangtze River
Dolphin Bay were invited to explain the
importance of protecting Yangtze River
dolphins. The event not only promoted the
ecological protection of the Yangtze River,
but also demonstrated our commitment to
sustainable development. Through these
efforts, the Group hopes to inspire more
people to pay attention to and participate in
protecting Yangtze finless porpoises and their
ecological environment, and jointly create a
better ecological future.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B8.

Community Investment (Continued)

The Group has held hundreds of offline popular
science education activities with the theme of
original works, covering libraries, campuses,
classrooms and communities across the PRC in
the past. Among which, the National Defense
Lecture Hall (BIf7 A=) with the theme of
“Captain Shunliu (BB & )", the animation
lecture by the main creator and the public
welfare lecture on Caring for “Little Migratory
Birds (/M&ES )" were not only popular among
children, but are recognised by relevant
government authorities. Meanwhile, the
Group endeavoured to implement Shenzhen's
strategy of building a “Child-friendly City",
to popularise science in the cultural and
creative industry for children from time to
time, and to provide opportunities for children
to be exposed to cutting-edge scientific and
technological information. The Group was
awarded the honorary title of “Child-Friendly
Practice Base of Shenzhen”.

The Group also endeavoured to encourage
employees to participate in various social
services and public welfare activities. During the
Reporting Period, the Group participated in “A
Day with Food Angel” , which is an important
event aimed at raising awareness in society
about the issue of food waste. Participants
not only assist in preparing meal boxes but
also personally experience how to effectively
reduce food waste, thereby enhancing their
understanding of sustainable development and
social responsibility. On the day of the event,
colleagues from the Group's headquarters,
along with other volunteers, made 3,000 meal
boxes, which were distributed for free by
the Food Angel to individuals in need of food
assistance.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEREE

The Directors herein present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set
out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
112 to 230 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and
analysis of the Group’'s performance during the Year and
an analysis of the likely future development of the Group’'s
business are set out in the sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT"” and “"MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS” of this annual report.

Save for Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements,
of this annual report, there is no important event affecting
the Group that had occurred since the end of the Year up to
the date of this annual report.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance, key relationships with the
Company's key stakeholders as well as compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have significant
impact on the Company are set out in the section headed
"ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL and GOVERNANCE REPORT" of
this annual report.

THE GROUP’S PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group are set out in the section headed “CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this annual report and Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
Also, the details of the other key risks of the Group are set
out in the section headed "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT" of this annual report.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets
and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years
are set out on page 231 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the investment property of
the Group during the Year are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Particulars of the investment property of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period are set out on page 232 of
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the Year are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 116 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Mr. Xu Liang

Mr. Feng Xianhuai (appointed on 3 August 2024)
Mr. Chen Zheng*

Mr. Lam Yiu Kin*

Mr. Zheng Xiaodong*

Ms. Wu Chunhua*

Ms. Yang Siwei* (appointed on 19 August 2024)
Mr. Wang Hongpeng (resigned on 16 March 2025)
Mr. Xiao Yong (resigned on 20 May 2024)

Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law* (retired on 24 May 2024)
Mr. Li Yao* (resigned on 1 August 2024)

# Non-executive Director

* Independent Non-executive Director
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with clause 87(2) of the bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-laws”) and pursuant to Appendix C1 of
the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Xu Liang and Mr. Chen Zheng
shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to clause 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Feng Xianhuai
and Ms. Yang Siwei shall hold office until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting.

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT" on pages 6 to 9 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Xu Liang has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2023. Mr. Feng Xianhuai has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term from 3 August 2024
to 31 December 2026.

Mr. Chen Zheng has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 11 December 2023.

Mr. Lam Yiu Kin has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2024. Mr. Zheng Xiaodong has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term
commencing from 1 January 2025. Ms. Wu Chunhua has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term commencing on 1 June 2023 and ending on 31
December 2025. Ms. Yang Siwei has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term commencing on
19 August 2024 to 31 December 2026.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract with the Company, which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Executive Directors are
determined by the Remuneration Committee with
delegated responsibility regarding their experience,
duties, performance and the prevailing market conditions.
The remuneration of the Non-executive Director and
Independent Non-executive Directors are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the
Board. No Directors are involved in deciding their own
remuneration.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
including medical and retirement benefits, to eligible
employees. Apart from a basic salary, the Executive
Directors and employees are eligible to receive a
discretionary bonus taking into account the factors such
as market conditions as well as corporate and individual's
performance during the Year.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest
paid individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in
Note 9 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were deemed or taken to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which were required to
be and are recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of
dealings by Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares (the “Shares”) and
underlying Shares of the Company

RERRZF

EERBRSTRAERKRS - HBERORE
BRCEZRAKR

MR2024F12A31H EFER AR A ZSITHR
ABREMEESAZHEA TR ART K
HEMAER LR (EXA(EHRBEKRD)E
XVER) WD ~ B D EREF - BB A
BIE(EH KB KA EXVERET7R8HD B A
MEARRBI MBI ERS AR (BERE
(BERBERADNZERNESHER AR
EEBANESESOAR) N BRE R A
NARBERES KB ERAIEI2EMEFEEE R
iR RAR - SIBREGEM EM R AI55.46
E5.67KFTIMEBEER S M TIZEBME K
NIRRTz DA IT

RARAEBR (TR ) RBEBRN 2R

Number of Shares/underlying Shares held pp5roximate

in the Company

percentage
BEADARG HBEROEE of total
Interests issued share
Capacity in which Interests under equity Total capital of the
Name of Director interests are held in Shares  derivatives interests Company
¥ NG|
ERTRE
RBRALTE Lt A
BB BERERZEH RR@BzEE  THEz#EH R BHEH
Mr. Chen Zheng Beneficial owner 185,988,200 - 185,988,200 12.37%
[ BaBAA
Mr. Wang Hongpeng Beneficial owner 2,358,000 - 2,358,000 0.15%
(resigned on 16 March 2025)
TERBEE EaBAA
(20253 A16H & fT)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none & FXXFT# &SN - W2024F12A31H » &

of the Directors, chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise, notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in "DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES”
above, at no time during the Year was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that is
significant to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or its connect entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors had an interest in a business (other than those
businesses where the Director was appointed as a Director
to represent the interests of the Company and/or any
member of the Group) which is considered to compete
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
businesses of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements was entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

As permitted by the Bye-laws, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he/she may sustain
or incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties
of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto, and no
Director shall be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune
which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in
the execution of the duties of his/her office or in relation
thereto, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty.

There is appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had an interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares of the Company

Capacity in which

Name of shareholder interests are held

RERRZF

BEFZRERX

RIS R AR - BT AT A
BHATAMFARD B B BK
1B R B % 5 A 2 A 2 R P (S A
- B mEEARETHE KR AT A
AR AR ERELNEMER  AELT
ERUBHE - A BHCOR S E R E R
ERTHEEE -

ARACREZERAKESEBREREES
MEZELERBEEETRBRIERRE -

FERRRKRMD - HERO REEE 2 #DS
589

R2024F12A31H  MMESFAR Rk H
SEERD TP HEAERE(EFRBEERG)SE
XVERZE2 ] 37 BB SR [ AN A B #E 58 2l R
KRBIBECES NS KRN )FEIZ6IHEATE
MELMEENERIAEMALT(ESHA
RAEZEITHRABRIN T :

RAEARRGD ZFR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of total issued
Shares held share capital of

in the Company the Company

RN

ERITREAH 2

BRRER BFEREZER FrisAARRGHE BAED

Shougang Group Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled 619,168,023 41.18%
("Shougang Group”) dcorporations (Note)
HNEEARLAR ([EHER]) REEE 2w (Hfat)

Shougang Holding (Hong Kong) Limited Interests of controlled 619,168,023 41.18%
(“Shougang Hong Kong") __corporations (Note)
BHER(BA)BRQA R 2w (Hfat)

(I&aBEED

Upper Nice Assets Ltd. Beneficial owner 619,168,023 41.18%
("Upper Nice") EREBA (Note)
(B17t)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Long positions in the Shares of the Company (Continued)
Note: Upper Nice is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shougang Hong
Kong which is in turn wholly-owned by Shougang Group.
Accordingly, all these corporations are deemed to be interested

in the share capital of the Company which Upper Nice is
interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
an interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best of the knowledge of the Directors,
there is a sufficiency of public float of the Company's
securities as required under the GEM Listing Rules as at the
date of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

No share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
during the Year.
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, total of 260,000 shares which repurchased
in December 2023 were cancelled and the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value
thereof. The repurchases were made for the benefit of the
Company's shareholders with a view to enhancing the net
value of the Company and its assets and/or its earnings per
share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’'s listed securities (whether on the
Stock Exchange or otherwise) during the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any
reserves available for distribution.

UPDATE ON LITIGATIONS

Details of the business disputes between [& R iz EHS Al
BEX¥AMR AT ("Guangdong GDC"), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and ZKIEZ A BRE Q A
("Pearl River Film Production”) in respect of the Pearl River
Film Cultural Park and litigations resulted therefrom were
reported in the report of preceding financial year and the
interim report of the Year. Updates are as follows:

1. In April 2019, Pearl River Film Production filed an
action with the Guangzhou Intermediate People’s
Court, requiring Guangdong GDC to pay the property
occupation fee of the Pearl River Film Cultural Park
and related interest for the period between 23
March 2016 and 22 March 2019 in the amounts of
RMB148,745,800 and RMB9,593,000 respectively.
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UPDATE ON LITIGATIONS (Continued)

1. (continued)

On 13 December 2022, Guangzhou Intermediate
People's Court ruled that Guangdong GDC was
required to pay property occupation fee to the Pearl
River Film Production of RMB157,353,781 for the
period between 23 March 2016 and the day when
Guangdong GDC returned the entire Pearl River Film
Cultural Park to Pearl River Film Production.

Both the Guangdong Higher People’s Court and the
Supreme People’s Court of the People’'s Republic of
China upheld the above judgment.

2. In April 2021, Guangdong GDC has initiated legal
proceedings against Pearl River Film Production,
claiming for the (i) return of capital contribution
invested in the construction for the Pearl River
Film Cultural Park and the related interests in the
amount of approximately RMB240,000,000 and
RMB54,900,000, respectively, and (i) compensation
on losses of RMB20,000,000 borne by Guangdong
GDC arising from the said investment due to breach
of contract by Pearl River Film Production.

The above claims were rejected by the Guangzhou
Intermediate People’s Court, the Guangdong Higher
People's Court and the Supreme People's Court of
the People’s Republic of China.

On 16 August 2024, the above two cases were protested
to the People's Procuratorate of Guangdong Province. On
25 October 2024, the People's Procuratorate of Guangdong
Province made a decision not to support the protest.
Guangdong GDC then appealed to the Supreme People's
Procuratorate of the People's Republic of China on 27
November 2024. As at the date of the annual report, no
judgement has been handed down.

Should there be any significant update, the Company will
make timely disclosure on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “"CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT"” and "ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this annual report, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the operations of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group strives to conduct business in an
environmentally responsible manner. The Group has
internal guidelines on energy conservation and emission
reduction so as to minimize the impact on the environment
and natural resources during its operation. Details of the
Group's environmental protection measures and policies are
set out in the section headed "ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue attributable
to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
less than 30% of the Group's total revenue in the year, and
the purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases in the year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
and its subsidiaries have the following continuing
connected transaction that is subject to the annual review
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules:

(i)

Finance Services Agreement

On 5 December 2023, the Company entered into a
Finance Services Agreement (the “Finance Services
Agreement”) with Shougang Group Finance Co. Ltd.
(“Shougang Finance”), in relation to the provision
of the Deposit Services and Settlement Services by
Shougang Finance to the Group for a term from b5
December 2023 and ending on 31 December 2025.

Shougang Finance is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Shougang Group Co., Ltd. (“Shougang Group"), being
a controlling shareholder of the Company. Shougang
Finance is a connected person of the Company under
the GEM Listing Rules. Therefore, the transaction
contemplated under the Finance Services Agreement
constituted continuing connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As disclosed in an announcement dated 5 December
2023, the annual cap of the Finance Services
Agreement for each of the financial year ending 31
December 2023 to 2025 is RMB9,000,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

100

(ii)

Operation Management Agreement

On 27 December 2023, GBASTI Limited
("GBASTI") (formerly known as “GDC Institute
of Digital Economy Limited”) an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into an Operation Management
Agreement with Shougang Hong Kong,
pursuant to which the parties agreed to set up
the innovation centre (the “Centre”), Shougang
Hong Kong entrusted GBASTI as the manager
of the Centre to manage the Centre, including
managing and providing services to the tenants
of the Centre and managing the accounting
matter of the Centre for a term of two years
commencing from 27 December 2023.

Shougang Hong Kong indirectly held
approximately 41.18% of the issued share
capital of the Company, being a controlling
shareholder of the Company. Shougang Hong
Kong is a connected person of the Company
under the GEM Listing Rules. Therefore,
the management service to be provided by
GBASTI contemplated under the Operations
Management Agreement constituted
continuing connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

As disclosed in an announcement dated
27 December 2023, GBASTI is entitled to
receive an annual management fee of 12%
times the annual revenue of the Centre from
Shougang Hong Kong. The annual cap of the
annual management fee under the Operation
Management Agreement for each of the
financial year ending 31 December 2023 to
2025 is HK$4,000,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ANNUAL REVIEW ON CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company’'s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
PricewaterhouseCoopers has issued an unqualified letter
containing findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in the paragraph above in accordance with Rule 20.54 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 20.53 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions carried out
under the Finance Services Agreement and the Operation
Management Agreement, during the year and confirmed
that the transactions thereunder had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii)  according to the agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company's shareholders as a whole.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions, which were
exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements or do not constitute connected or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules, are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

RELATION WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group's success also depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
suppliers.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s
human resource management is to reward and recognise
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has 109 employees in
total (2023: 148).

Customers

The Interactive Entertainment and Digital Assets division
of the Group has established good relationship with
domestic and overseas clients over the years. The
division has maintained close communication with clients
and shared views with existing and potential clients
through participation in industry events in order to have
a better understanding of the clients’ and the animated
film industry’s requirements for the latest technology of
animation production and its development trend. This also
facilitates the research and development of computer-aided
animation software of the Group that caters to the market
demands and contributes to the provision of quality and
personalized production services to clients, which in turn
helps build up a long-term relationship with clients.

In respect of the leasing business, the Group, dedicated
to improving the quality of property management services,
collects information through various channels, including
regularly visiting tenants, conducting annual survey on
management services and gatherings at leisure time with
a view to gaining a better understanding of the tenants’
general opinions on the services provided by the Group.

Suppliers

The Group carefully selects its suppliers and requires them
to satisfy certain assessment criteria including track record,
experience, financial strength, reputation, ability to produce
high-quality products and quality control effectiveness.
Sound relationships with key service vendors of the Group
are important in supply chain, properties management and
meeting business challenges and regulatory requirements,
which can derive cost effectiveness and foster long-term
business benefits. The key service vendors comprise
external consultants which provide professional services
and suppliers of office goods/merchandise.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD WMEHB2EE

1. On 18 February 2025, Suzhou Global Digital 1. R2025%F2A18H  ARAIZEEEE
Operation Management Company Limited* (Zk/JIiz B RARBMNEREBEEEEGRA
KIS EESEEAMR AR ) (an indirect wholly-owned BIEREMER - MEEAFHEMNTRF S
subsidiary of the Company), as the lessee, issued a BBERBS AR QB EE — iR IEBA
termination notice in respect of the Lease Framework £ URIFTHEEZSETZE - 1202592
Agreement to Suzhou Wuzhong Financial Investment A18BRAEM - EHFBEHLH QA
and Merchants Services Company Limited* (&I — {7 HEIA2025F2 18R 2R 1L B
R ERIBERFER AT ), the lessor, to terminate BRIEHEERZWECRAEEEZT
the Lease Framework Agreement with effect on BEXFHNE -

18 February 2025. For the detail of the termination,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
18 February 2025 “Termination of discloseable
transaction in relation to acquisition of right of use
assets under lease framework agreement”.

2. Mr. Wang Hongpeng resigned as executive Director 2. T RIE S E£72025F3 16 H B E#TT

on 16 March 2025 and ceased to act as a member of BEEVTHRABRIEETHITZESK
the Executive Committee on the same day. 8o

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting FR&EHABEA 7 EXBHEESH NG AE
period are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial 7%} % M 5£35 ©
statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS EEEXN

No contracts concerning the management and & F2024F12A31BILFE REBTEHR
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the BERKTMEZXEBNEENITHR IIEEE]
business of the Group was entered into or existed during EIF/EEMRAL o

the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR 1% ¢l

The consolidated financial statements for the year & ZE2024F12A31HILFEZHRAMERR
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by CHZEERKESTMELSAIEZ - XHME
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Detail of the re-election of EZHIBHIRAALQAFEAHEREKEBAFKA
Auditor are set out at the circular of the Company's & 73 o

forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board EEEGD

Xu Liang ®RE

Chairman FE

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025 &% - 20253 H26H
¥ For identification purpose only x  (E ey
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % B R

L

pwc

To the Shareholders of Global Digital Creations Holdings
Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Global Digital
Creations Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 112
to 230, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024,

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

B ZBEARE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZEARE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

BREETER

FAREISHSREBERMANEXRHE  RRY
ARG AN BRRNEARA/EENEER - &
LERTARMEABEREAMBRR LA
AEARETREN - WM EHELFERE
HEBNER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to
valuation of investment property located in Shenzhen,

China.

Key Audit Matter
BRETFE

Valuation of investment property located in
Shenzhen, China
R B - R E Y& 1418

Refer to Note 18 (Investment property) to the
consolidated financial statements.

FELRGRAMBEHRRME18(REME) -

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the
Group's investment property located in Shenzhen,
China ("Property”) was amounted to HK$211.8
million.

20245128318 - EEEMLRPEIRYINKREDE
([MEDHRABER211.8EEEBTT °

Management engaged an independent external valuation
expert to assess the fair value of the Property. The
valuation requires the use of judgement in determining
the relevant methodologies and key assumptions used,
including market rent and yield rate used in the valuation
model.
ERECZREIINDHEERTEMENRAE - H
BEAFRAGECHEBERARRSR  2EGERE
PERAmSHES REE -
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RN B EMEEERR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BAH BTN EEARESEE

Our procedures in relation to assessing management’s
valuation of the Property include the following:
BHMBETHEEEUENGENEFERATE
I8

° Understood and evaluated the relevant

controls over the valuation of investment
property and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.
TR GEEREMELENRBZES - iR
BERMFIETHEERERAMEARREER
KE(FlaiE st - F8M - B2 REHBRERE
RAHEFHE)  FHEERERRANES
[ B o

° With the involvement of our internal valuation
expert, discussed with the independent
external valuation expert and assessed the
methodology and the key assumptions used
in estimating the fair value of the Property
and challenged the judgement and estimates
involved in the calculation with management.
ERBEMABEEZER  BEIIFEHEER
ETH R RAEARMEMEIABN A
REARRE - W E RS KA B &G H
EREBRLES -
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Key Audit Matter
R ESEE

We focused on this area due to the financial
significance of the Property to the Group and the
judgement and estimates involved in assessing the
fair value of the Property.
HRYESH EXENMBEE
BATE Re)# A ET R ME

MR EMEIR
JER LA, ©

FREBAZSERAERLA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZBEARE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B ET N EEERESFIE

° Evaluated the competency, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent external
valuation expert.
FHEB N ERERNEE e W REEIM -

o Assessed the appropriateness and reasonableness
of the key assumptions by making reference to
comparable market evidence on property prices
and market rental rates, and taking into account the
contractual terms and conditions, location and other
individual factors.
FRB2EYHEERETSHSHA ELEMIER
& RETRE RV IER G - B N A E Bl E
% CAHEARBRESHEREE

Based on the procedures performed above, we
found the judgement and estimates made by
management in determining the fair value of the
Property to be supportable by available evidence.
RiZ L PETTHRF  RAEREBEEEWER
7 E R PV A 2B R L ET RIS RE T FF o

Annual Report 2024 F£F3 107



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited & Bk & % A = &

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZHERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’'s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

110

Annual Report 2024 FF 3R

. HEERAKAECESTEARMRE L
TR & - IRIBFIERMEEE -
ERAFHEEFENBERABHNEAN
EM  mAEEss SRENF
BREENELEARE - MRHFIR
RIFEBATHEEE AL 2EZE
A PIRERAEIRF A M B RE
FHABEEKE - REABNRETE
AIRMEERRFERRERR - HFIH
rEwmEEN A RS B LRGN E
FHREE © AT > RIRFIENBEIAEE
B BEEETRFELE -

. AHEARAMBHRARNWERIHS N - &
BMAT  BHEEE  UWRSES MR
EETFERRZZMEIR -

. SPEIRMTTREEER Uit EXER
ERIEHEU L MBERNERTRE K
BEZERRE  ERHEAV B HRE
ERERNER - BEFZRAEE EE
LEHAETREEEZMATHERZ
T -BFERBSZERBERAER
(Ea

FrEMFEN  REBZZEEERE T T8
METEE FEZH  EXFFERST &
ERFIEFS PR H AR ES A ERNER
R B o

HPERERZESRER  SHRRMEF
ERBBMYIEMNARERERER - I E A
BBAN A ERR RS ERIB LR
BREEREMEER UREEANBERT A
VASHBR ¥ 98 S M B R BB B9 1T ) B SR BRI B
I



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited 3R ER B i Al S = R B R 2

ol

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor's report is Lee Chun Wah, Ryan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEEBRAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #£2024F12A31HIEFE

2024 2023
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
k23 FETT FETT
Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue W %5 5 70,432 70,189
Cost of sales $HE R A 8 (85,488) (65,092)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8) X (15,056) 5,097
Other income E U A 6 11,132 10,053
Distribution and selling expenses D REERY 8 (16,967) (8,863)
Administrative expenses THAX 8 (31,017) (33,064)
Reversal of provision for impairment of ©RIEENESLYEEZ
financial assets and contract assets AR ERE D 119 145
Other losses, net HhEE - F8 7 (12,050) (3,258)
Operating loss ReEmE (63,839) (29,890)
Finance cost B & AR 11 (502) (5)
Loss before income tax MRETEBAIEE (64,341) (29,895)
Income tax credit/(expense) FEBiERe,/ (FAX) 12 6,381 (3,303)
Loss for the year from continuing REFEKSEXERKZ
operations FEEBR (57,960) (33,198)
Discontinued operation BRI EERK
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(BE) %5 15 (5,852) 23,056
Loss for the year FEBSE (63,812) (10,142)
Other comprehensive loss: Ht2mEER:
Item that will not be reclassified to BB HEEEwm
profit or loss: HE :
— Exchange differences on translation —#E A2 HEEREL
to presentation currency ZIEH =% (8,426) (6,137)
Other comprehensive loss for the year 4/ H b 2 HE1E (8.,426) (6,137)
Total comprehensive loss
for the year FEZHBEASHE (72,238) (16,279)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 128318 LFE

2024 2023
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B it FETT FET
(Loss)/profit for the year LTALTEMEE
attributable to: (B8] &F
- Owners of the Company . VNEIES TSN
- Continuing operations —RBRREED (57,960) (33,198)
- Discontinued operation —ERRIEEEES (3,980) 15,678
(61,940)  (17,520)
- Non-controlling interests —JEVERRER
— Continuing operations —HECEER - -
— Discontinued operation —ERIEEEER (1,872) 7,378
(1,872) 7,378
(63,812) (10,142)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LU TATELEER2A
for the year attributable to: (B8 WAEEHE:
— Owners of the Company . Y/NEIESPEN
- Continuing operations —HECEER (79,672) (46,720)
— Discontinued operation —BERIEREER 5,055 20,700
(74,617) (26,020)
- Non-controlling interests —FE PR M A
— Continuing operations — B EES - -
- Discontinued operation —ERIEREER 2,379 9,741
2379 9,741
(72,238) (16,279)
HK cents HK cents
(Loss)/earnings per share EAREFEBEAEGER
attributable to the owners (B51|) BF :
of the Company: 13
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings R E R N s
per share (EB18) &7
- Continuing operations —BRKEER (3.86) (2.21)
- Discontinued operation —ERIEREER (0.26) 1.04
(4.12) (1.17)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income AR 4 & UL A K FE B2 BE TR 55 — GBI 8

o

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BB RR R

As at 31 December 2024 120245 12831H

2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENEE 16 11,384 12,336
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 17 8,271 8,126
Investment property "EY 18 211,809 231,388
Interest in an associate R—EBERT 2R 19 - -
Movies and television programmes B NERETE RE
rights 20 648 15,229
Productions work in progress TEEH 20 5,425 4,567
Deposit e 21 98 -
Total non-current assets ERBEELR 237,635 271,646
Current assets REBEE
Contract assets EHEE 5 1,111 899
Trade receivables EWE S5 E 21 3,289 11,120
Deposits, prepayments and other e AR EEM
receivables FEUL Fh 18 21 8,553 13,356
Restricted bank deposits BERESIRITFER 22 23 21
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBLEEY 22 223,713 248,039
Total current assets REEEHLE 236,689 273,435
Total assets EEHLE 474,324 545,081
EQUITY E&
Equity attributable to owners AATEFEEAEGER
of the Company
Share capital A& 2 23 15,033 15,036
Retained earnings REBF 437 62,268
Other reserves Hu G 25 342,796 355,579
Total equity attributable to owners ZAAQFFEAEGEZERE
of the Company 358,266 432,883
Non-controlling interests IR R (122,316) (124,695)
Total equity FERBE 235,950 308,188
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2024 120245 12831H

2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
a3 FET FET
LIABILITIES a8E
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 201 -
Contract liabilities aEH8aE 5 1,277 1,786
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFTSHAE 28 11,986 19,408
Other payables H th < 518 26 289 289
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEAE 13,753 21,483
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables FERE SR 26 47 -
Accruals and other payables EFFEAREMENRE 26 63,330 58,655
Provision for rental and settlement e REEREBEE
payables 27 138,225 140,822
Contract liabilities EH8aE 5 4,720 1,638
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 8,979 17
Deferred government grant iR IE B 6 BN 744 -
Current income tax payable & BN ER P 5 18 8,576 14,378
Total current liabilities REBAEEEE 224,621 215410
Total liabilities EEHBEE 238,374 236,893
Total equity and liabilities EZNEEEE 474,324 545,081

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 230
are approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025

and are signed on its behalf.

Xu Liang
®RE

Director

EF

The above consolidated statement of financial position

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

3H26H &
RE

HNEV1282308 276 B K K20255F
SEFedE THTIALRR

Feng Xianhuai

BER
Director
o
AR A B B AR 3% e LR B B R — BE RIS o
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FRREABAZSERER QA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #£2024F12A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LONGEZ-IN; '
Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling
capital  reserves  earnings Sub-totgl interests Total
Rx  HitfE REERA Nt FERER ait
(Note 25)
(H#25)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ iOOQ HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
AT AT AT TAT TET TET
Balance at 1 January 2023 M0BEIA1EZE% 15,042 364,140 79,788 458970 (134,436) 324,534
Comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (F8) /WA
(Loss)profit for the year EE(BR) /&H - - (750 (175200 7,378 (10,142)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income H‘liﬁ (B8) /WA
Currency translation differences EHphEEE - (8,500) - (8,500) 2,363 (6,137)
Other comprehensive (loss)fincome for the year £E £t 2 (58) /KA - (8,500 - 8500 2,363 (6,137)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FERE (BB /WALE
for the year - (8,500) (17,520) (26,020) 9,741 (16,279)
Transactions with owners BEAAETZRS
Repurchase of treasury shares (Note 23) BREROEE 223 - (67) - (67) - (67)
Cancellation of treasury shares (Note 23) BRROFE HH23) (6) 6 - - - -
Total transactions with owners REAAETZR74E (6) 1) - 67 - (67)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F 128310 2 &8 5,036 355,579 62,268 432,883 (124,695) 308,188
Balance at 1 January 2024 R024F1 1B 265 15,036 355,579 62,268 432,883  (124,695) 308,188
Comprehensive loss 2EFR
Loss for the year FEER - - (619400 (61,940  (1,872)  (63:812)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Ef2E (B8 /WA
Currency translation differences EHhEEE - (12,677) - (1267 4,251 (8,426)
Other comprehensive (loss)fincome for the year iﬁéﬁ‘r@%ﬁq@ﬂ%)/ui/\ - (2gm - 1281 4251 (8,426)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EEXE(FR) /WAEE
for the year - - (12,677) - (61,940 - (74,617) - 2,319 (72,238)
Transactions with owners REEAETZRS
Transfer of reserve upon of dissolution BEB AR R
of a subsidiary - (109) 109 - - -
Cancellation of treasury shares (Note 23) BRROFEH223) (3) 3 - - - -
Total transactions with owners BERAETZRZ4E (8)  (106) 09 - - -
Balance at 31 December 2024 20245128318 2 8 15,033 342,796 437 358,266 (122,316) 235,950
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity  FiltAR4& fEss & B3R B B BERIBY 5 — OFBIE o

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations
Income tax paid

Interest paid

RETHRENE
REMBAZAR
BT EHR

GEHEREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Net cash used in operating activities

EB T 2R B F R

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Additions on productions work in

progress

Purchase of property, plant and

equipment

REEFBHRERE
EHHBAARE
NEVE  BERKRE

Net cash used in investing activities

RE BB 2R FE

Cash flows from financing activities
Principal elements on lease liabilities
Repurchase of treasury shares

MEETHRERE

JE 77 it @ B8

Net cash used in financing activities

BMEGRSAAZIRS FHE

Net decrease in cash and cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ¥4 R ZE WD
on cash and cash equivalents

ReEkREEENZ
RENZBRE LR EEY

EERH e

Cash and cash equivalents at end

of the year

RERZRERAESEEY

HZE2024F 128318 LFE
2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
(744) (15,031)
(5,809) (1,144)
(502) (5)
(7,055) (16,180)
4,577 7,374
(10,575) (7,754)
(1,452) (1,037)
(7,450) (1,417)
(2,208) (475)

- (67)
(2,208) (542)
(16,713) (18,139)
248,039 270,584
(7,613) (4,406)
223,713 248,039

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bt R B3R S R E R FE HEBE M P — GBI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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118

GENERAL INFORMATION

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited (the
“Company") is incorporated in Bermuda on 9 October
2002 as an exempted company with limited liability.
The address of the Company’s registered office is at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 4 August
2003.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
principally engaged in provision of computer graphic
("CG") creation and production services, intellectual
property (“IP")-based value-added digital visual
business, New Cultural and Sports Space integrating
culture and technology development business,
and provision of property leasing and management
services in the People’'s Republic of China (the
"PRC").

These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements are for the Group consisting
of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of investment property which are carried
at fair value.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

(a)

Amended standards and interpretations
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amended
standards and interpretations for the first time
for their annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2024:

HKAS 1 {Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current liabilities
with covenants

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements -
(Revised) Classification by the Borrower of a Term

Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)  Lease Liability in Sale and Leasehack

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments and interpretation listed
above do not have any material impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current
or future periods.

FREBAZSERAERLA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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120

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards, improvements
and interpretations that have been issued
but are not yet adopted

Certain new and amended standards,
improvements and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for current
reporting periods and have not been early
adopted by the Group:

HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1
(Amendments)

ERSFENE2REEANBERE
ER B 2 B8FT

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

RN BRELEBFEIFR R
BEAMBREERNETRZIEET

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

BEMBREERNE IS BB
BELAFETR BEMBHRSEA
o BAVBRESEREI0H K
BEASHERNETR

Rz A s

HKFRS 18

Statements
BATBREERE18%
HKFRS 19

Disclosures
BATBREERE195%
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Amendments)
Clause
BEBRBER 2B
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)
BREMBMEEAEI05% K
BAGFTERE28R 2B

The Group is still assessing what the impact of
the new and amended standards, improvement
and interpretations will be in the periods of
initial application. It is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and amended
standards, improvement and interpretations
will have a significant impact on the Group’'s
results of operations and financial position.
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Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

The Group's risk management is predominantly
controlled by a central finance department (the
“Group Finance Department”) under policies
approved by the board of directors. The Group
Finance Department identifies, evaluates and hedges
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group's
operating units. The board provides written principles
for overall risk management, as well as policies
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk.

3.1 Finance risk factor
(a)  Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates principally
in Hong Kong and Mainland
China (for the purpose of this
report, “Mainland China” refers
to the mainland of the PRC
and does not include Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan). It is
exposed to foreign exchange
risk primarily with respect to
US dollar ("US$") and HKS$
denominated transactions. Foreign
exchange risk arises where future
commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities
are denominated in currency
that is not the Company and its
subsidiaries’ functional currency.

Majority of the cost and revenue
of the local operations are
primarily transacted in local
functional currency and therefore
foreign exchange transactional
risks are minimal.

e M HRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

3 FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBEEER(EF)
3.1 Finance risk factor (Continued) 3.1 BERBEZ(E)
(a)  Market risk (Continued) (a) W5 EE (&)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) HNEE R B (48)
Management manages its foreign EIEERBTE AR
exchange risks by performing EMEEEHINE R
regular review and monitoring % oK B IR H M E [
its foreign exchange exposure. R BEHERE
Management is of the view that B JT B SR T B
the Group's exposure to US$ is ) A kA 5 E
minimal since HK$ is pegged to ZHFETTRBRER
the USS.

As at 31 December 2024 and 7220244 }2023%F
2023, the Group has no material 12A31H " KAEH
foreign currency denominated MEERINEEE
assets and liabilities and does not MEE TEEX
have material foreign currency HNBE R B o A Ut
exposure. Therefore, there is no HAFEMEEE
material impact to the post-tax mEANTE (2023
loss for the year (2023: same). F: MR o
Exchange reserve arises from the b X W= EE A
translation of foreign operations TR Y] 3 E & H
with functional currencies ae B a8 N
different from presentation BETHREEE
currency. The Group is primarily - AEBEEXTZER
exposed to changes in HK$/ BT A AR
Renminbi (“"RMB") exchange (TARE]) [E =&
rates. The sensitivity of exchange By [ R o [ WA
reserve to changes in the HEHARKEXZ
exchange rate of RMB is as B BURMEAT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Exchange rate of HK$ BT A RS b R
against RMB
— strengthened by 3.5% — EF3.5%
(2023: 2%) (2023: 2%) 4,766 3,141
— weakened by 3.5% — T B£3.5%
(2023: 2%) (2023: 2%) (4,766) (3,141)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRERME

3 FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Finance risk factor (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating
cash flows are substantially
independent from changes in
market interest rates and the
Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets except for cash and
cash equivalents, details of which
have been disclosed in Note 22.

If the interest rate of cash at
bank, deposits and restricted
bank deposits has been 50 basis
points higher/lower, the loss
before income tax for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would
have been HK$1,086,000 (2023:
HK$1,185,000) lower/higher.

3 HBERERE)

31 B¥ERBREEE)
(@) WEEE (&)

(ii)

F 2 @

7N 5 B A9 W AR A
EHReREERE
25 F R # 4t
MEE BRESM
W& EEDIN K
EERBERNAE
BEEE BBFE
B ET22H 3R o

WIRTTIHE TR
% B BR &l iR 17 17 3¢
Z R R, R
S5OfE & 8L - A& =
2024412 A31H
HEFEFEZ2BRE
oAl B B R
/1% 111,086,000
Bt (20234
1,185,000 7T) °
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e HRRME

3 FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Finance risk factor (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group’'s credit risk arises from
trade receivables, contract assets,
deposit and other receivables, amount
due from an associate, cash and cash
equivalents and restricted bank deposits.
The carrying amounts of these financial
assets represent the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

(i) Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group
basis. Management considers the
Group has limited credit risk with
its banks which are leading and
reputable and are assessed as
having low credit risk. Majority of
bank balances are deposited with
reputable banks. The Group has
not incurred significant loss from
non-performance by these parties
in the past and management does
not expect so in the future. The
Group trades only with recognised
and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group's policy that all
customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures.
Receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Finance risk factor (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of
financial assets that are subject to
the expected credit loss model:

° trade receivables;
° contract assets; and
° deposit and other receivables.

While cash and cash equivalents
and restricted bank deposits are
also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss is
immaterial.

Trade receivables and contract
assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9
simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables and
contract assets.

To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables and
contract assets have been
grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days
past due. The contract assets
relate to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types
of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for trade
receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for
the contract assets.
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FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Finance risk factor (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract
assets (Continued)

Receivables relating to customers
with known financial difficulties
or significant doubt on collection
of receivables are assessed
individually for provision for
impairment allowance. The Group
also estimates the provision
for expected credit losses on a
collective basis by grouping the
trade receivables and contract
assets based on shared credit
loss risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for likelihood
of recovery, taking into account
the nature of the customer and
its ageing category, and applying
expected credit losses rates
to respective gross carrying
amounts of the receivables. The
expected credit losses rates are
based on historical credit losses
experienced over a period of 36
months before 31 December 2024
and are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking factors,
such as Gross Domestic Product
("GDP") and inflation, affecting
the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. As at 31
December 2024, the expected
credit losses of these collectively
assessed receivable balances is
HK$185,000 (2023: HK$320,000)
based on expected loss rates
range from 0.05% to 51.36%
(2023: 0.01% to 100%) applied on
different groupings.
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3 FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Finance risk factor (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract
assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract
assets are written off where there
is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in
a repayment plan with the Group,
and a failure to make contractual
payments for a period of greater
than 12 months past due.

Impairment losses on trade
receivables and contract assets
are presented as net impairment
losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised
cost

The Group adopts general
approach for expected credit
losses of deposits and other
receivables and amount due
from an associate. Except for the
amount due from an associate
which is fully impaired, the Group
considers these financial assets
have not significantly increased in
credit risk from initial recognition.
Thus, these financial assets are
classified in stage one and only
consider 12-month expected credit
losses. Considering the history
of default and forward-looking
factor, the expected credit loss is
immaterial.
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FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Finance risk factor (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management
implies maintaining sufficient cash, the
availability of funding from an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities
and the ability to close out market
conditions.

Due to the non-dynamic nature of
the underlying businesses, the Group
primary cash requirements have been
for payment for obligations under other
payables and accrued liabilities. The
Group mainly finances its working capital
requirements through internal resources.

The Group's policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient cash balances to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and
long-term.

The following tables show the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group's financial
liabilities, based on undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or,
if floating, based on rates current at
the date of consolidated statement of
financial position) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Finance risk factor (Continued)

e M HRR

3 HBERERE)

31 B¥ERBREEE)

(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) EBELEE (&)
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BRARBRR SN
On demand
or within Between Carrying
1year 1and 2 years Total amount
BREK 1% |
FIEFER 226 CEl REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2024 A2024%512H31H
Trade payables ERE SHRH 47 - 47 47
Other payables HiERNIE 28,448 - 28,448 28,448
Lease liabilities MERE 8,991 202 9,193 9,180
37,486 202 37,688 37,675
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHORERA SRS
On demand Between Carrying
or within 1 year 1and 2 years Total amount
BRER 19 |
FER 2% BE RHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2023 #2023%512H31H
Other payables HiER A 27,740 - 27,740 27,740
Lease liabilities HEBE 18 - 18 17
27,758 - 27,758 27,757
Capital risk management 32 EBXRERER

The Group’s objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholder and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may return capital to
shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.
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FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management (Continued)

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 are zero as the Group has no external
borrowing or debt.

Fair value estimation

(i)

Fair value hierarchy

This note explains the judgements and
estimates made in determining the fair
values of the non-financial instruments
that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To
provide an indication about the reliability
of the inputs used in determining fair
value, the Group has classified its non-
financial instruments into the three
levels prescribed under the accounting
standards.

The table below analyses non-financial
instruments carried at fair value, by
valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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e M BRERME

3 FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3  Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

3 HBERERE)

3.3 RAREMGMEE)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) DA EER(E)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ERF EVE 3k At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2024 420245128318
Investment property REME
- Office building /AN - - 211,809 211,809
As at 31 December 2023 7420235128318
Investment property REME
- Office building YN - - 231,388 231,388
There are no transfers between levels 1, FARW LB B L B2
2 and 3 during the year (2023: same). N EIR 2 EHERE (2023
F:M8R) -
Valuation techniques used to determine (i) FARETFEIRL BRI

level 3 fair value

The Group obtains independent
valuations for its investment property
every six months.

At the end of each reporting period,
the management update their
assessment of the fair value of each
property, taking into account the most
recent independent valuations. The
management determine a property’s
value within a range of reasonable fair
value estimates.

The best evidence of fair value is current
prices in an active market for similar
properties. Where such information is
not available the management consider
information from a variety of sources
including:
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FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(if)

(ifi)

Valuation techniques used to determine
level 3 fair value (Continued)

° current prices in an active market
for properties of a different
nature or recent prices of
similar properties in less active
markets, adjusted to reflect those
differences

° discounted cash flow projections
based on reliable estimates of
future cash flows

° capitalised income projections
based on a property’s estimated
net market income, and a
capitalisation rate derived from an
analysis of market evidence.

All resulting fair value estimates for
properties are included in level 3. The
key inputs under this approach are the
price per square metre from current year
sales of comparable lots of land in the
area (location and size).

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair
value

The following table summarises
the quantitative information about
the significant unobservable inputs
used in recurring level 3 fair value
measurements
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FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBEEER(EF)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 QAABEMKE#E)
(i) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair (iii) A1 A BOIR R B (B
value (Continued) ZBFIE (4&)
Fair value at Fair value at Range of Relationship of
31 December 31 December Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description 2024 2023 technique inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R2024% R2023% FER
128318 12A318 - TUBR BABEN FABEREA
fit LAnME JRRE REREG BARE 8E HEREARENBE
(HK§'000) (HK§'000)
AT FAT
Office building 211,809 231,388 Income Yield 7.5%  The higher the yield
approach rate (2023: 7.5%) rate, the lower the
fair value
LAY WAE Ya% hakag:
RAERE
Market rent RMB91 The higher the
(2023: RMB95) per market rent,
square meter per the higher
month the fair value
b1k AR nElERRE
(20235 - RMERR
ARH95T)
BRABTAR
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3 FINANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3  Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iv)

Valuation processes

As at both 31 December 2024 and
2023, the fair value of the investment
property has been arrived at on the
basis of valuations carried out by
Roma Appraisals Limited, an external,
independent and qualified valuer. Roma
Appraisals Limited is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, and
has appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations.

The Group's finance department
reviews the valuations performed by
the independent valuers for financial
reporting purposes. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are
held between the financial department
and the valuer at least once every
six months, in line with the Group's
reporting dates.

At each financial period end, the finance
department:

o Verifies all major inputs to the
independent valuation report;

o Assesses property valuations
movements when compared to
the prior year valuation report; and

° Holds discussions with the
independent valuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and judgements
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(a) Fair value of investment property
The fair value of investment property is
determined by using valuation technique.
Details of the judgement and assumptions
have been disclosed in Note 3.3.

(b) Overtime recognition of revenue from CG
production
Revenue from CG production is recognised
over time based on the stage of completion of
the contract using input method. Judgement
is required in estimating the progress of
performance and total contract costs which
may have an impact on percentage of
completion of the construction contracts
and the contract revenue and profit to be
recognised in an accounting period. In addition,
actual outcome in terms of total revenue or
costs may be higher or lower than estimation
at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Provision for impairment of movies and
television programmes rights and productions
work in progress

At the end of each reporting period, the
management assesses the amortisation policy
and expects useful lives of the movies and
television programmes rights and productions
work in progress classified as intangible asset.
The determination of amortisation policy and
expected useful lives requires management’s
significant judgement.

Other than the amortisation, the management
also assesses whether impairment
indicator exists on movies and television
programmes rights and productions work
in progress and provide impairment up to
its recoverable amount. For movies and
television programmes rights and productions
work in progress, the assessment is made
on a title-by-title basis for each series. The
recoverable amount of the movies and
television programmes rights and productions
work in progress is determined based on the
present value of the expected future cash
flow generated from the movies and television
programmes rights and productions work in
progress less future cost of revenue.

In determining the recoverable amount of
movies and television programmes rights and
productions work in progress, the Group takes
into consideration both internal and external
market information, for example, the forecasts
of box office receipts, licensing income and
patent fee income, the production, sales and
distribution costs budget and the general
economic condition of the relevant markets.

Based on the results of management
assessment on recoverable amounts, provision
for impairment of movies and television
programmes rights and productions work
in progress amounting to HK$1,808,000
(2023: Nil) and HK$2,682,000 (2023: Nil) are
recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024, respectively. For details, see Note 20.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subjected to income taxes in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that are initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

The income tax expense or credit for the year
is the tax payable on the current year's taxable
income based on the applicable income tax
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes
in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences.

Reassessment of the exercise of the lease
termination option for a lease of a technology
service centre in Suzhou (the “Technology
Service Centre”)

In late 2024, management implemented a
change to the business plan after evaluating
the Technology Service Centre's performance
to date and assessing the available resources.
Management consider that it is highly probable
to exercise the termination option and lease
terms of Technology Service Centre are re-
assessed as disclosed in Note 17.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Segment information

The chief operating decision maker (“CODM")
has been identified as the Executive Directors.
The Executive Directors review the Group's
internal reports in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on
these reports.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRR

4 EXRGTHEFRHE (E)

(d)

PIT 1S B8 B I SE P 15 75
AEBEEHREBRTBEAM
ZHSH - HEETEMBHAOEE
R SEZAELERHE - £IE
FEBBAET  BAZRH MG
EIHARRIEL KRR RIEE
E o AEBEAMEREE SN
BSNRIR - 1T RE R Y TR AR A
EREEZEE -MZEEFEZ
RERBERBEVNAR TR
TR ZEERRTERHEE
A EHMEHRMEERMEN
I

FEMSHAX B LR RRE
BEREEBRBHERAREESF
JE R AGHE B TR
I B 357 8 0 B = R AR P
BREENABENEB AR KE
ARHEEIEEL R

B AT A4 1T B AR M BT AR 75 AP 0
(MRMREH L)) HERILEE
i

R2024FFK - BEEEENEHE
RGP LESHRIREATRAE
R HEBHEELESE - §
BERBITELEEA MR
= W E A R AR A
HEKRT  FERMF17HE -

5 WEkosMEH

(a)

2 EBER

TERERRE ([TBEERK
FEEREERIPITES - 1T
E=ENAKENAMERS - AU
AHEAERAE DR ER - EEED

RIEZEREEELED

Annual Report 2024 F£F3 137



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited & Bk & % A = &

RERRZF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

Segment information (Continued)

The CODM considers the business from
service perspective and assesses the
performance of the operating segments based
on a measure of adjusted profit before income
tax before unallocated income/expenses for the
purpose of allocating resources and assessing
performance. These reports are prepared on
the same basis as the consolidated financial
statements.

Management has identified two reportable
segments based on the types of services,
namely (i) Interactive Entertainment and Digital
Assets and (ii) New Cultural and Sports Space.

There are no material sales between the
reportable segments for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: same).

5

WKk DEHER (&)

(a)

DEBER ()

TBEERRERRBAEZE
£ WRIERZAER S B A
i A (0B R D B U A B S AT
MDA S DB RE - A
DREBRMAFGES - ZFRS
HIRA MBS mA R RERER -

B IR FE AR 45 AR 75 2R 51 28 Bl P 118 78
2RO NOESHRERHTF
BE  R)XEH =R -

HZE2024F12A31HILFE A
EFmH Bz EEEKXNEE (2023
F:fER) -

Year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F12831BILFE
Interactive
Entertainment  New Cultural
and and
Digital Assets  Sports Space Total
TERET
HTEE XEHTHE A%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
- Revenue from CG production -KREEKBEGRREZWA 12,994 - 12,994
- Box office receipts -ZRIA 7,352 - 7,352
- Licensing income from television  —RE&FFAZEREHA
programmes and movies to online WERANTTTON
platforms 4,286 - 4,286
- Patent fee income from granting - RERLAEENENE
the right to access of trademarks WA 1,045 - 1,045
- Management service fee -EHRBEE - 15,987 15,987
- Rental income KON - 28,768 28,768
Total revenue from external KEIBEPZWGEIEE
customers 25,677 44,755 70,432
Segment results DEEE (46,167) (6,131) (52,298)
Unallocated income AHEMA 568
Unallocated expenses Ao REL (12,611)
Loss before income tax from REBECEERYL
continuing operations KA ST Al EE (64,341)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRERME

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

(Continued)

(a) Segment information (Continued)

WKk DEHER (&)

(a) DEEFR(E)

Other information: Hiupg
Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31ALEE
Interactive
Entertainment ~ New Cultural
and and Sports
Digital Assets Space Unallocated Total
TERLR
YTEE XBHEH KDE Af
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'00
FET FET FET FET
Depreciation of property, 1% BE R&xHE2

plant and equipment & (Maxs)

(Note 8) (1,526) (362) (105) (1,993)
Depreciation of right-of- {FREBENRE

use assets (Note 8) (PfizE8) - (4,748) (308) (5,056)
Impairment loss on right- {# R EERERE

of-use assets - (6,072) - (6,072)
Amortisation of movies B K BEH B ME 2

and television #8 (Msxs)

programmes rights

(Note 8) (19,424) - - (19,424)
Provision for impairment &% & B4R 60 B RER

of movies and television 7EELET B 7 EEE

programmes rights and ([ 5£8)

productions work in

progress (Note 8) (4,490) - - 4,490)
Employee benefit EBEEBMEY

expenses (Note 8) (Bizxs) (31,030) (9,704) (5,993) (46,727)
Marketing expenses misHEERY

(Note 8 (FizEs) (13,982) - - (13,982)
Subcontracting and movie BB REZREE

service fee (Note 8) (HizE8) (6,363) - - (6,363)
Utility expenses (Note 8) K& % ([fi:E8) - (5,916) (9 (5,925)
Building operation and WXL EREES

management fee (HyzE8)

(Note 8) (29) (5,167) - (5,196)
Change in fair value of  REMELREZ

investment property 2% (f:18)

(Note 18) - (11,711) - (11,711)
Interest income (Note 6) F S 4z A (Fit5E6) 4,006 14 557 4,577
Government grants BT By (Fi5E6)

(Note 6) 5,932 10 - 5,942
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WEkoHmER (E)

(Continued)
(a) Segment information (Continued) (a) DWMBER(E)
Other information: (Continued) HiER - (&)

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31B1LEE
Interactive
Entertainment  New Cultural
and and Sports

Digital Assets Space Total
BERER
YTEE XEBHEM G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Timing of revenue recognition for BEREAZRERPAY
revenue from contracts with U 2
customers
- At a point in time -RE-BE 11,638 - 11,638
- Over time —BEREEE 14,039 15,987 30,026
25,677 15,987 41,664
Rental income AEWA - 28,768 28,768
Total revenue from external REIEP 2 W8
customers 25,677 44,755 70,432
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRERME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WEkoHmER (E)
(Continued)
(a) Segment information (Continued) (a) DWMBER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZ2023F12831HLEE
Interactive
Entertainment  New Cultural
and and
Digital Assets  Sports Space Total
BERER
YTEE XEBHEM CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
- Revenue from CG production -KREEKBEGREZWA 15,295 - 15,295
- Box office receipts -ZRIA 2,951 - 2,951
- Licensing income from television ~ —REH FT &7 EREE
programmes and movies to online REZMRERA
platforms 3,492 - 3,492
- Patent fee income from granting the — K 8% L RIZRAOZHNE
right to access of trademarks WA 2,088 - 2,088
- Management service fee -BEERKE - 11,785 11,785
- Rental income -HelA - 34,578 34,578
Total revenue from external REMDEPZ W m B
customers 23,826 46,363 70,189
Segment results DEEE (33,633) 18,720 (14,913)
Unallocated income AABKA m
Unallocated expenses AHBERAX (15,693)
Loss before income tax from RERBREXKL
continuing operations BRAEEAER (29,895)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WEkoHmER (E)

(Continued)
(a) Segment information (Continued) (a) DEEHR(E)
Other information: (Continued) EMER : (&)
Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31ALEE
Interactive
Entertainment ~ New Cultural
and and
Digital Assets  Sports Space Unallocated
TERLR
YTEE R ET = AOE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Depreciation of property, 1% BE R&xHE2

plant and equipment & (Maxs)

(Note 8) (1,286) (440) (254)
Depreciation of right-of- {FREBENRE

use assets (Note 8) (fE8) - (272) (494)
Amortisation of movies EBEFREREBREZ

and television %8 (MzE8)

programmes rights

(Note 8) (11,663) - -
Write-off of productions i $47E 8267 B

work in progress (Pfi7E8)

(Note 8) (13,705) - -
Employee benefit EERMAX

expenses (Note 8) (FfI5E8) (24,792) (11,720) (6,807)
Marketing expenses misHEERX

(Note 8) (FI5E8) (6,560) - -
Subcontracting and movie 2 B & R EFREE

service fee (Note 8) (HyzE8) (5,273) - -
Utility expenses (Note 8) k& % (fffz18) - (5,759) (23)
Building operationand WXL EREEE

management fee (K zE8)

(Note 8) - (239) -
Change in fair value of  REWMERNLEZ

investment property 28 (f518)

(Note 18) - (3,084) -
Interest income (Note 6) | 2 U A (Fif56) 6,734 9 631
Government grants B H By (M 5E6)

(Note 6) 1,286 763 -

Total

A=

=)

HK$'00
FET

(1,980)

(766)

(11,663)

(13,705)
(43,319)
(6,560)
(6,273)
(5,782)
(239)
(3,084)
7,374

2,049
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

(Continued)

(a) Segment information (Continued)
Other information: (Continued)

e MR

WKk DEHER (&)

(a) DEEFR(E)
HE# : (&)

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12831HIEFE
Interactive New
Entertainment Cultural
and and Sports
Digital Assets Space Total
TERET
HTEE BT A%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Timing of revenue recognition for ZEHEAZKEEFEEH
revenue from contracts with e
customers
- At a point in time —RE—-BZ 6,443 - 6,443
- Qver time — B S 3B 17,383 11,785 29,168
23,826 11,785 35,611
Rental income Hel A - 34,578 34,578
Total revenue from external KENBEPZ WG 1A%
customers 23,826 46,363 70,189

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31

December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

R2024%F K2023F12A31H 2 3 &
ENBEMT

Year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12A31ALEFE
Interactive
Entertainment ~ New Cultural
and and Sports
Digital Assets Space Unallocated Total
EHRER
YTEE & Fikr APE CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
Segment assets NEHEE 159,036 302,657 12,631 474,324
Segment liabilities AEAE 41,476 45514 151,384 238,374
Additions to non-current JREIFERBEE
assets 11,074 19,582 2,104 32,760
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

(Continued)

(a)

Segment information (Continued)

Other information: (Continued)

WKk DEHER (&)

DEBER ()
HE# : (&)

(a)

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZ2023F 128310 LEE
Interactive
Entertainment ~ New Cultural
and and Sports
Digital Assets Space Unallocated Total
BERER
YTEE P& Eikr I CEH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Segment assets NEEE 210,125 304,860 30,096 545,081
Segment liabilities PHEE 44,083 38,914 153,896 236,893
Additions to non-current R EBIERBEE
assets 9,050 - - 9,050
Geographical information iz B F
The following table shows revenue generated TRETRBEPUE R RS

from the reportable segments by geographical
area as according to the location of the

5 2 5 ARt 3

customers:
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Mainland China AR A 69,606 69,679
Hong Kong BB 826 33
Republic of Korea AR RE - 477
70,432 70,189
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

Segment information (Continued)
Geographical information (Continued)

The following table shows non-current assets
by geographical segment as according to the
location where the assets are located:

e MR

WKk DEHER (&)

(a) DEEFR(E)
1 s E#Y (48
TRETRIBEEEMEDRIR

BOMEMIERBDEE -

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Mainland China A B A b 235,980 271,548
Hong Kong B 1,655 98
237,635 271,646
Information about major customers TEEFEH
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or T AHAEEAKETE10%
more of the total revenue of the Group are as A FWHEZER
follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A’ ZEA N/A3 8,782
Customer B? = FR? 7,135 N/A3

! Revenue from New Cultural and Sports Space
business

2 Revenue from Interactive Entertainment and
Digital Assets business

s The corresponding revenue did not contribute
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group

' PR SRR 2 e S 2 W

2 KEEHRERBFTEEERK
&

3 FERE UL 25 3 S (h AR S Bl 4B i 2
10% Ak
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
(Continued)

(b) Assets and liabilities related to contracts
with customers

The Group has recognised the following

WKk DEHER (&)

(b) HEFSHNHBNEEK&EE

AEBECHABATERERLS LM

assets and liabilities related to contracts with EMEENEE:
customers:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$000
FETT FET
Contract assets (Note (i) A& E (HE>0) 1,111 899
Contract liabilities — Current BHBE-RY
- Revenue from Interactive —REEHIREL B TEE
Entertainment and Digital Wz (M 5E(i))
Assets (Note (ii)) 3,561 1,508
- Revenue from New Cultural —REXEHEE WS
and Sports Space (Note (iii)) (PH i) 1,159 30
4,720 1,538
Contract liabilities — Non-current & 48 &—IERE)
- Revenue from Interactive —REGHRENEFTEE
Entertainment and Digital 2 Weas (B E (i)
Assets (Note (ii)) 1,277 1,786
5,997 3,324

Notes:

(i) These contract assets arise from Interactive
Entertainment and Digital Assets for the portion
of fee that the Group has not invoiced to
customers in relation to performance obligations
that have been satisfied.

(ii) These contract liabilities arise from Interactive
Entertainment and Digital Assets when the
Group receive payments from customers in
advance. Increase in contract liabilities balance
is due to increase in overall contract activities.

(iii) These contract liabilities consist of advanced

payments received from customers who have
leased the Group's properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WEkoHmER (E)

(Continued)

(b) Assets and liabilities related to contracts (b) HEFEHNHEBNEERAE
with customers (Continued) (&)
Revenue recognised in relation to contract H5 4B EIEE ) B ER KA -
liabilities:
The following table shows how much of the TRETRAFEHERE W P
revenue recognised in the current year related HEBENBEREENESE

to carried forward contract liabilities:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue recognised that is REVFFAEHEEREN
included in the contract BRI
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year:
- Revenue from Interactive —REEBRENHFTEE
Entertainment and Digital Z W
Assets 1,508 581
- Revenue from New Cultural —REXEBFHEE K=
and Sports Space 30 -
1,538 581
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WEkoHmER (E)

(Continued)

(b) Assets and liabilities related to contracts (b) HEFEHNHEBNEERAE
with customers (Continued) (&)
Unsatisfied performance obligation: KIETTHIEA)ZTE -
The following table shows unsatisfied TRETRERSEEH D HE
performance obligations with aggregate HRBITEANK S EHLBEITE
amount of the transaction price allocated to BN TIGRRET ZCRETT
contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied HWEXHERTE -

as at the end of the year and are expected to
be satisfied in the following time bands.

Revenue from Revenue
Interactive from
Entertainment  New Cultural
and Digital and Sports

Assets Space Total
p§=
BHRERYT RE N
BEZha HERzka A&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2024: 2024128318 :
- Within one year ——FHR 15,903 3,629 19,532
- More than one year but not more than —BR—FBTZR
five years R 1,276 3,932 5,208
- More than five years - BARF - 250 250
17,179 7,811 24,990
As at 31 December 2023: $2023F 128318 :
- Within one year -—FPR 8,044 4,435 12,479
- More than one year but not more than ~ —BBE—FBIFZR
five years g 1,346 8,742 10,088
- More than five years -BBRE 441 2,831 3,272
9,831 16,008 25,839
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when goods
and services are provided to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and
the applicable laws, goods and services may be
provided over time or at a point in time. Goods
and services are provided over time if the
Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

- does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

If good and service transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at
a point in time when the customer obtains the
goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation is measured based
on one of the following methods that best
depict the Group's performance in satisfying
the performance obligation:

- direct measurements of the value
transferred by the Group to the
customer; or

- the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance
obligation.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRR

5 WEkoBER(E)

(c)

WS TR 2 ERTBR
AEEEREFREHRERMRSE
R RERR UL A © 1R F B KRR @
RZERRE  EmERB 2
i) 4 A AR IR B ) s Y K — B T B
BE - WEANKEERQBRES
ZR T IMGRM - B m s RIS A5 B
EREREM

- RHMAEEPRZ KR
£ P 2 F 2
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- YEELAHAKBEMEA
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MR B R B RTTHE °

35 & Ko AR 7% 2 12 Il HE B & s
AEE - RIHEWRAZA XA
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RERRZF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

5

150

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable.
When determining the transaction price to be
allocated for different performance obligations,
the Group first determines the fees that the
Group entitles in the contract period and
adjusts the transaction price for variable
considerations.

The Group includes in the transaction
price some or all of an amount of variable
considerations only to the extent that it is
highly probable that a significant reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

(a) Revenue from CG production

The Group provides CG production
services under contracts with
customers. Revenue from CG production
is therefore recognised over time based
on the stage of completion of the
contract using input method.

The Group’'s CG production contracts
include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the service
period once certain specified milestones
are reached. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits
ranging from 10% to 30% of total
contract sum. When the Group receives
a deposit before service commences,
this will give rise to contract liability at
the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the specific contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(c)  Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Revenue from television programmes
and movies

Revenue from television programmes
or movies is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains the
control of the television programmes
and movies and the Group has present
right to payment and collection of the
consideration is probable. The normal
credit term is 30 to 60 days upon
delivery. Such revenue includes licensing
income from television programmes and
movies and box office receipts.

Licensing income of television
programmes and movies to customers
such as online platforms is recognised
at the beginning of the periods during
which the customers are able to use and
benefit from television programmes and
movies.

Box office receipts are variable
licensing fees and calculated based
on a predetermined percentage of the
proceeds received by the customers,
which are recognised as revenue on a
net basis when the sales occurs.

Patent fee income

Patent fee income relates to granting
licensees the right to use trademarks
created, developed and owned by
the Group in different categories of
licensees’ products, including license for
use on consumer products. The revenue
from the provision of licensing services
includes the minimum guarantee
and excess royalties. The minimum
guarantee is recognised over the
licensing period on a straight-line basis
and excess royalties are recognised
as revenue when cumulative royalties
exceed the minimum guarantee.

5 WEkoBER(E)

(c) WEBRZETHEE)

(b)

(c)

EWEARERZATIF Wz

MREFESEEHENE
TEHEANEERKA
ST R AR AT B WK (B
MR- BHREMA K
%%Fﬁﬁﬂ&/\ 2 T LA
R *&LT*EHH%&:H&
30%E60H - ;A_J'J‘IQ E?ﬁ
BREE RERHMRER
AAEZEFWA -

ﬁﬂ%%‘xt” 85 E P WEH
BRE %%E’JH&%H&Z
)\E%)f' LHERE

H &E%I?ﬁé‘#‘*‘/\ﬂ’]ﬁﬂ
%E%L/(ﬁ&u/u °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

5

152

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(c)  Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

(d)

Management service fee

The Group provides property
management services to tenants.
Income is recognised over the contract
period when the relevant services are
provided by the Group and the tenants
simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits provided by the Group's
performance. The Group typically
receives one-month management
service fee in advance at the beginning
of each month.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods and
services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. A receivable is recorded
when the Group has an unconditional
right to a consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

If a customer pays consideration or
the Group has right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional,
before the Group transfer a good to
the customer, the Group represents
the contract liability when the payment
is made or a receivable is recorded
(whichever is earlier). A contract liability
is the Group's obligation to transfer
goods to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

OTHER INCOME 6 Hig e A
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Government grants (Note) BT 8 B (M9 7E) 5,942 2,049
Interest income 4,577 7,374
Others 613 630
11,132 10,053

Note: MiEE -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, government grants
included subsidies of HK$5,942,000 (2023: HK$2,049,000)
received from the relevant authorities in the PRC which are
incentive payments mainly for industrial development to the

H ZE2024F128318 EFE > WIFH B BIE
B A B AR BE R P UK ER 2 5,942,000 7T (2023
F 12,049,000 7T) WAL - T BIEREASE
EREEER BEFUE  WEANET TS

Group whereby no future related cost is required or expected to BARKBEKA -

be made.

OTHER LOSSES, NET

Change in fair value of investment
property (Note 18)
Exchange difference, net

7 HtuEE - FE

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
%
(11,711) (3,084)
EREE I (339) (174)
(12,050) (3,258)
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

8 BMEEIZMAX

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Employee benefit expenses EB@HN X

(Note 9) (P 5E9) 46,727 43,319
Marketing expenses MG ER X 13,982 6,560
Subcontracting and movie services S BEEREBFRGE

fee 6,363 5,273
Amortisation of movies and B REHRENE REZ#H

television programmes rights (K$5E20)

(Note 20) 19,424 11,663
Provision for impairment of ERE B 2R EREE

productions work in progress (Bff3E20)

(Note 20) 4,490 -
Utility expenses IKEE 5,925 5,782
Legal and professional expenses EENEERGEE 1,707 2,084
Consultancy fee (Note 33(a)) EEfE & (F15E33(a)) 2,160 2,880
Depreciation of property, plantand % - BELZEZITE

equipment (Note 16) (M¥sE16) 1,993 1,980
Real estate duty and land use tax EE L 1 AR 2,262 2,316
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEE ZITE

(Note 17) (PffF5E17) 5,056 766
Rental expenses for short-term HEHAE s HERAX

lease - 423

Auditor's remuneration ZEEN BN &
— Audit services — BT R 1,180 1,320
- Non-audit services —IEEFT IR 390 370
Cleaning expenses BRE 1,066 1,013
Travelling expenses ZiRE 1,588 1,810
Repair and maintenance expenses  #ERREBMAX 852 886
Write-off of productions work in s RE H

progress (Note 20) (Pt 5E20) - 13,705
Building operation and MELEREEE

management fee 5,196 239
Impairment loss on right-of-use FRAEEEZREERE

assets (Note 17) (FF5E17) 6,072 -
Others (Note) H Aty (Bt 5E) 7,039 4,630
Total cost of sales, distribution HERA - DHEMEERX

and selling expenses and A RITH X 58

administrative expenses 133,472 107,019

Note:

For the year ended 31 December 2024, research and
development costs of HK$4,583,000 (2023: HK$8,121,000)

B 3

= 2,

REZE2024F 1283 1B ItFEEEE 2 RS
/34,583,000 7T (20234 : 8,121,000/ 7T) -

have been incurred and no capitalisation has been recognised in WHEASY R BREEREREREE FER

productions work in progress (2023: HK$3,433,000).
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EXPENSES BY NATURE (Continued) 8

Below represents the research and development
costs which are recognised within “cost of sales” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

during the year.

BUMEE S 2RAX (E)

NTEMEFRT ZRAXEFESAESE
ERAKRFPR[SHERA] P HER ©

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
Employee benefit expenses EERNHX 3,142 3,590
Others HAth 1,441 1,098
4,583 4,688
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 BEETARAX
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
Wages, salaries and bonus ITE - -HaeMmigs 43,647 40,992
Termination benefit BERE AR A 1,168 -
Pension costs — employer’s BREKA—RBEBRT
contributions to defined G &I R (M EE)
contribution plans (Note) 6,823 6,858
Other benefits H th 42 A 824 826
52,462 48,676
Less: Amount capitalised in movies i - BRI EBEZ &
and television programmes rights BRE B RE &
and productions work in progress HERHENz2E
Wages, salaries and bonus TE HaemEe (4,624) (4,349)
Pension costs — employer’s BRIKEKA—EBEBRTE
contributions to defined T EI Ak (B 3E)
contribution plans (Note) (1,109) (1,004)
Other benefits H th 42 A (2) (4)
(5,735) (5,357)
46,727 43,319
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) EEERMEX (&)
2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of sales & R 23,028 21,913
Distribution and selling expenses DHENEERX 1,764 -
Administrative expenses THHRX 21,935 21,406
46,727 43,319

For the year ended 31 December 2024 employee
benefit expenses of HK$5,735,000 (2023:
HK$5,357,000) have been capitalised in movies
and television programmes rights and productions
work in progress. The amount will be subsequently
recognised in “cost of sales” when obligations are
performed.

Below represents employee benefit expenses
incurred from the Bk5Z 3L E S E (the “Cultural Park”)
during the year which are classified as “discontinued
operation” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

H Z=2024F12A31HILFE  EB
& F B9 325,735,000 JT (20234 :
5,357,000/ 70) EEARMEEET RER
EEMERERMNEN - EBOE %
CREMEBEIHEER AP ER -

ATREFEREREXCEXE (XL
EXR])ELEZRERANMAX - NEa
EPHRARAESBR/ERIERER
%l

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Wages, salaries and bonus IE - -HFamigs 949 944
Pension costs — employer’s BREKA—EBERRT

contributions to defined et EIR
contribution plans 43 43
992 987

Annual Report 2024 FF 3R



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited 3R ER B i Al S = R B R 2

ol

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

Note:

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”),
a defined contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group (the employer)
and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
generally at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under
the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The monthly
contributions of each of the employer and the employee are
subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per month
(for period after 1 June 2014) and thereafter contributions
are voluntary. The Group has no further obligation for post-
retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for employees
of its subsidiaries established in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2024, there are no forfeited contributions
available to offset future retirement benefit obligations of the
Group (2023: same).

Five highest paid individuals:

The five individuals whose emoluments are the
highest in the Group for the year include two (2023:
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented in Note 10. The emoluments
paid/payable to the remaining three (2023: three)
individuals who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company during the year are as
follows:

9

e M HRR

BERBANMX (&)
P o

AEEDLZHEEEREMABTHEAESE
B (BB ASENTBERGTE) ([8E
©FFEl]) - EREREET AEBE(BEE) K
HEREESAMZTEELMER—% BRI
RESENAATNEBERAKNSYS - BEEX K
EESAFAERNESERERAST A1,500
BT (2014F6 A1HEMERME) » REMENE
BREE o BREEFRIN - AL EE H R KRR T
5IE -

RBHBEZREROBRE  AEEAHEAES
WAL A I A ARV (B B M B 5 A B MY IR K

BE L

2024128318 « HIEATARIKHEEAEBE R
R R B E IS B2 W3 (2023 ¢ MR ©

AfREHHAL -
FA-AEBLUKSHFMALS M
# (20235 MB) REE - REZHZ
EMEE1025 20Tk - &ZEHEE
REVER T =8 AL (20234 : =& ) W IE
ARBEFLRHTHRAR  RECDH
SN2 FEBET

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FAETT

Wages, salaries and bonus TE FHamiEs 2,296 2,338
Pension costs — employer’s BREKA-EEMRT

contributions to defined HRET R K
contribution plans 54 144
2,350 2,482

The emoluments for these three individuals (2023:
three) fall within the following bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Z£%1,000,000/% 7T

ZE=%(2023F : =%) AL ZHE®
BT

2024 2023
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 9

During the year, no emoluments have been paid by
the Group to the directors or the five highest paid
individuals mentioned above as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office (2023: Nil).

10 BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of each director and
the chief executive for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

BERAMX (&)
AEBYEMENEELRLS

IShy—g==2

S eSEd )|

ALTERHEMENS - MIEARSERFER
IRASK I AR & H 1% 2 42 ) of Bl B 4 (2
(20234 : ) -

10 EFZEMNEAZ

(a)

EERESTHRABKHMH

H E2024F12A31HILFE  BAE

ENERITHRAENHFMMNOT

Employer's
Estimated contribution
money toa
value of  retirement
Discretionary Termination other benefit
Name Fees Salary ~ bonuses  benefits  benefits  scheme Total
EtENm  EEIM
&% RIEA
e ik ¢ BETL  EEET BE EMER CE
HK$'00 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
tEr  FEr  TEr TEr FErT TET FEn
Executive directors BiTES
Mr. Xu Liang (Chairman) BEEE(ZR) - - - - - - -
Mr. Feng Xianhuai (Notefil) B %8 %4 (R &E0) - - - - - - -
Mr. Wang Hongpeng (Notelill) T R4 4 (Fisk(i) - 912 - - - 18 930
Mr. Xiao Yong (Noteliii) EEy B - 273 - 1,168 1 33 1475
- 1,185 - 1,168 1 51 2,405
Non-executive director ~ FHTEES
Mr. Chen Zheng BLE 150 - - - - - 150
150 - - - - - 150
Independent non- BUFHAES
executive directors
Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law B X441
(Note(iv) Pz (iv)) 9 - - - - - 95
Mr. Lam Yiu Kin MREEE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Zheng Xiaodong HRREE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Li Yao (Note(v)) F54 (FiEw) 97 - - - - . 97
Ms. Wu Chunhua REERT
(Note(vi) (B Evi)) 195 - - - - - 195
Ms. Yang Siwei mRELt 55 - - - - - 55
922 - - - - - 922
Total at 1,072 1,185 - 1,168 1 51 3,477
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10 BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

The remuneration of each director and

the chief executive for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out below:

e M HRR

10 E=ZzEMNENZEGE)

(a)

EERBESTHRAESNEMN(Z)

HE2023F12A831HIEFE -
BUEERESTTHRA B
W

Employer's

contribution

Estimated toa
money value retirement

Discretionary Termination  of other benefit

Name Fees Salary  bonuses  benefits  benefits  scheme Total
ﬁ%ﬁﬂ@ ‘Eim
\ X o e 8% ﬁWﬁjJ \
#h% we ¢ WEEL  BEEA BE FEHHT A
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS00  HKS'000
FET FET AT FET FET FET FAT
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Xu Liang (Chairman) BRERE(TRE) - - - - - - -
Mr. Wang Hongpeng BV v - 1,080 - - - 18 1,098
Mr. Xiao Yong HERAE - 573 31 - 4 78 686
- 1,663 31 - 4 9% 1,784
Non-executive director FYTES
Mr. Chen Zheng BIE4 150 - - - - - 150
150 - - - - - 150
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors )
Prof. Japhet Sebastian Law ~ ZEXHHR 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Lam Yiu Kin MER LA 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Zheng Xiaodong ORREE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Li Yao BEgk 150 - - - - - 150
Ms. Wu Chunhua (Note(vil) ~ REZx+
(R3Evi) 88 - - - - - 88
958 - - - - - 958
Total ait 1,108 1,653 31 - 4 9% 2,892
Notes: BsE -
(i) Mr. Feng Xianhuai was appointed on 3 August (i) BRI ER 2024F8 A3 H
2024. ERE -
(ii) Mr. Wang Hongpeng resigned on 16 March (ii) TRWEHEER 202543 A 16 H
2025. BHE ©
(iii) Mr. Xiao Yong resigned on 20 May 2024. (iii) BE&XENR2024F5 H 20 H
BHE ©
(iv) Prof. Jephet Sebestian Law retired on 24 May (iv) BXARHIRN 20245 A 24 H
2024. BT o

(v) Mr. Li Yao resigned on 1 August 2024.

(vi) Ms. Wu Chunhua was appointed on 1 June 2023.

(v) ?%%i%zm4¢sﬁ15%
F o

(vi) REFEL LT 2023F6 A1H
EZLT -
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BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors receive or will receive
any retirement benefits during the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

One of the directors receives termination
benefits amounting to HK$1,168,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company do not pay consideration to any third
parties for making available directors’ services
(2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
there is no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected
entities of such directors (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 33, no other
transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company is a party and in which
a director of the Company has a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsists
at the end of the years or at any time during
the years.
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EECBEARNE (&)
(b) EEZRKEF

(c)

(d)

(e)

HZE20245F12831HILFEE - ]
BB EN B ASE ST AERIRAE
A (2023%F : ) o

BEEREBERN

H E£2024F12A8318 It F & -
—ZERWEBEBEN €85
1,168,0005 7T (20234 : &)

RESEERFEMEAE=FRMH
AR E

HZE2024F12A31BILFE - &
Na i ERESEZREETMA
BE=FHRERE (2023F - £) -

BRNES ESNIEFEE
REESNWHEEEAXTAZE
P EERREMRZ 2EH

H E2024F 128318 L FE
BMENES BEEMNIEHEE
MEENBEEEBASZAZ
B -EEFEEMR S (2023
Fm|E) o

EERNRG ZHHEHNPHE
R

BRMTEESSPIIREE SN AARFE
EMBERFRIFEATMEFTF
BRARRBNWERRIA )T HEAR
SEXBBEIERNRS - ©H
REXNTHAERXMEEZERKR
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profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing
in the cities in Mainland China in which the Group
operates. The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in
Mainland China is 25%, except for one subsidiary (2023:
two subsidiaries) of the Group in Mainland China which
is approved as High and New Technology Enterprise
and accordingly, it is subject to a reduced preferential
CIT rate of 15% for a 3-year period according to the
applicable CIT Law.

FINANCE COST 1 B & B A
2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance cost on lease liabilities HEBBZRMERA 502 5
INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12 FB8H(ER) BX
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Continuing operations HEREER
Current tax: BNEAREIE -
- PRC corporate income tax —HE RSN
(“CIT") ([EMmFH]) 618 1,626
— (Over)/under provision for prior —BEFEz (B%E),/
years (Note f) TR B (MIFER) (318) 5,695
300 7,321
Deferred income tax credit (Note 28) JEIEFT{5H K & (i1 i28) (6,681) (4,018)
Income tax (credit)/expense Frig®i (%) "HAX (6,381) 3,303
Notes: B 5
No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as there is a. AR ARFEEETATEELEZRH S
no assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for the year o B EETIR BB S8 (20234 -
(2023: Nil). ;) o
PRC CIT represents taxation charged on assessable b. FRESEMSHIERAEEEEFTEY

AR B kb Ik T ER TR R R R R R A
HE s #HE - BARPEALHEBA
AR 525%  ETNEERPE AL
EREBSBMEENAEE MM
B AR (2023 - MENE QA -
IERBBEANCEMSHETIRESR
EMBRBEHERI5%EHE - AH3
¢ °
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INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

C.

According to the applicable CIT Law, for eligible
enterprises which meet the criteria of small and thin-
profit enterprises, the annual taxable income up to
RMB3,000,000 shall be recognized at 25% of income
and be subject to a CIT rate of 20%. One entity of the
Group is eligible for small and thin-profit enterprises and
subject to stated preferential income tax rates (2023:
same).

According to applicable tax regulations prevailing in the
PRC, dividends distributed by a company established
in Mainland China to a foreign investor with respect
to profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
subject to a 10% withholding tax. Such dividend
rate is further reduced by applicable tax treaties or
arrangement. According to the tax treaty arrangement
between the PRC and Hong Kong, the withholding tax
rate on dividends paid by a Mainland China resident
enterprise to a Hong Kong resident enterprise is further
reduced to 5% if the Hong Kong resident enterprise
holds at least 25% equity interests in the Mainland
China resident enterprise.

As at 31 December 2024, there is no deferred income
tax provided (2023: same) in relation to the unremitted
earnings as the Group’s management has approved
that Mainland China subsidiaries have no intention and
are not probable to declare dividend in the foreseeable
future and the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is decided
that the unremitted earnings will not be remitted in the
foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the State
Taxation Administration of PRC has been finalizing the
tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Taking
into account the latest status of the tax affairs, the
Group has recognised the under-provision of income
tax expenses amounted to HK$5,662,000 in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
In January 2024, the relevant under-provision is fully
settled by the Group.

Annual Report 2024 FF 3R

12

Frig®i (%) Bx (&)

C.

BEEATEMERE  HRFE/NE
WATEBEENTE  TBBARE
3,000,0007T H 4F [& JE 3R T A IR A
H26%HMER » B B1R20% > ZE 15
R EBWTR - AEEE —ROEH

ANEUR R EE  BRAMEHER
FiR (20234 : #HRA)

RIEFBERITERORUCER - INER
BEPRBEAMAKILE R F 8200841
A1 B EERERE R F Eﬁﬁ%gkﬁ
Wﬁ%m% JEERPISH - MBS
%Qﬁkﬁmmﬁﬁmiﬁﬁk—
iﬁﬁ RIFPBRMBENORBEHE
WEEEEREERATEAMERD
X2 L2b% ks mRTEAMERD
%ﬁ%%%ﬁm%%iﬁ% =Rt
R — S IR EEP

MR2024%12A31H RN AL EE 12
EE# AR BRI B AR B ER
FERAMBRTAAEZIRKE R AE

B AL SRS Z R A D AR - Bk
TERAERNBERIELAEGEELNA
F o+ #R LR BB H B A EHRIEE TS
i (20234 : MRA) -

HE2023F12A3MHEFE PR
RESRREEEEEAEES THE
NEINTIEEE - L ARFEBHEN R
5 /R AEERERAEZEBRARSF
RS X B & T 25,662,000
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INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense on the Group's loss before
income tax from continuing operations differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the
taxation rate of the home country of the Group
companies as follows:

12

e MR

Frig®i (%) Bx (&)

AEBREFELERB ZBRAEHA
BRZAEHARRAARERE 2
MEMAEZEmR B EZRW N

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
Loss before income tax from REFBEKEER 2
continuing operations B BT 15 15 B /B 18 (64,341) (29,895)
Tax calculated at the domestic tax e AR A R R m Rl A
rates applicable to profit in the N ERFER T IE
respective countries (14,624) (6,768)
Income not subject to tax DEIE T UN (148) (109)
Expenses not deductible for tax MREME T AL
purposes 4,302 2,480
Tax losses not recognised REERKIEEE 4,699 2,007
Utilisation of previously unrecognised &) F 5E R R HER 2 B 75 18
tax losses - (2)
(Over)/under provision for prior years @FEE 7 ({B58) /T EEE (318) 5,695
Tax concession HIE R 2 (292) -
Income tax (credit)/expense for the FREFEKLSELK I FE
year from continuing operations B (%) X (6,381) 3,303

Annual Report 2024 53 163



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited R K E B A Z =R ER 2 5

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRME

13 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

13 ER(EE) BF

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FE T
(Loss)/earnings for the year AKANEFBEARMZFEE
attributable to owners of the (E18),/ &F
Company
- Continuing operations —RHEREEL (57,960) (33,198)
— Discontinued operation —BERIEREER (3,980) 15,678
(61,940) (17,520)
2024 2023
No. of shares No. of shares
gk - ¢=| f& 15 & B
‘000 ‘000
Fig FR
Weighted average number of BT B NE T8
ordinary shares in issue 1,503,420 1,504,000
2024 2023
HK cents HK cents
B BN
Basic and diluted loss per share G E R B B 1
- Continuing operations — BB ET (3.86) (2.27)
- Discontinued operation — BRI EET (0.26) 1.04
Total basic and diluted loss per share &R E RS 7 BB 4258 (4.12) (1.17)

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss attributable to owners of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares

B&%) (Bt 5E23) o

repurchased by the Company (Note 23).

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss
per share as there are no potential dilutive ordinary
shares outstanding during the year (2023: same).
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DIVIDENDS

No dividend is paid, declared or proposed during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, and no
dividend has been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

As set out in Note 27, the Cultural Park operation
is classified as discontinued operation since 1
December 2018. Certain costs continue to be
incurred during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2024 as the matters as set out in Note 27 are
still ongoing.

The Cultural park is operated by BEHRIRKEFFEIZE
¥ B A7) (“Guangdong GDC").

Guangdong GDC is a company incorporated in the
Mainland China. The equity interest held by the non-
controlling interest is 32% as at 31 December 2024
(2023: same).

Set out below is summarised financial information
for Guangdong GDC that has non-controlling interest
that is material to the Group. The amounts disclosed
for Guangdong GDC are before inter-company
eliminations.

14

15

e M HRR

’E

B E2024%F N2023%F 128318 1FF
B BEEN - EIRSERRNERR
B ARG H R AR I E R AT
AT E o

BERIEREXE

AR FE27FREL - EEERMNLEEE B
2018F12A 1 HEFBEADKRIEKLEE
e mREERME2ITNEENEE
17 B 22023%F K&2024F 128318 1+
FENDEEBEEERTHA -

MEEXERERRREBASEEXR
[RAF ([ERRREE]) &2 -

BRIRNEE A —BR B E AT M
S 7 A A e FA20244E12 8318 - 3E
120 e 5 P I 232 % (20234F = 48
@) o

TXEIGA A BB E AR
SNERRREB UM BERME - &
RRBBERBEN S BAF AR EIE

Cultural Park MILEXEE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Other income H A 2 384
Administrative expenses THRF X (1,174) (3,049)
(Provision)/reversal of provision for & M&EER K (BiE)
rental and settlement expenses B E (4,680) 25,721
(Loss)/profit before income tax BrETSBLAT (E518) @ F (5,852) 23,056
Income tax expense FRe i - -
(Loss)/profit for the year from REERIEKEEBE 2
discontinued operation FE(EBB) /5T (5,852) 23,056
(Loss)/profit allocated to SR TIFERER 2
non-controlling interest (EB18) & T (1,872) 7,378
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166

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 15 CRIESEER(Z)
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net cash outflow from operating LETEE) IR R
activities (1,191) (2,735)
Net cash inflow from investing KE G 2B RAFE
activities - -
Net cash inflow from financing MEEE 2 RS MAFE
activities 1,203 2,680
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and PR IFQRLEK7IRE R
cash equivalents in discontinued ReEEMEM D) FHE
operation 12 (55)
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS EE
Current assets mENEE 662 3,120
Total assets EEHAE 662 3,120
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities mEBE 383,911 393,834
Total liabilities & i 383,911 393,834
Net assets BEFRE (383,249) (390,714)
Accumulated non-controlling interest Z &t IEIEAR S (122,852) (125,028)
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 ¥ -BERRXE
Equipment,
furniture
Building Leasehold and  Computer Motor
(Note (i) improvements ﬂxtu\res equipment vehicles Total
8 ®E G0 |
(Wam)  BEXE kEE  ERRE nE GH
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET & & FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 142023%151A
Cost A 11,767 233 2,913 33,656 3,012 51,581
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (905) (145) (2,738) (31,229) (2,794) (37,811)
Net book amount REFE 10,862 88 175 2,427 218 13,770
Year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%
12831BLEE
Opening net hook amount ENEmFE 10,862 88 175 2,427 218 13,770
Additions NE - - 3 1,034 - 1,037
Depreciation (Note {ii)) & (F3E) (346) (88) (38) (1,613) (154) (2,239)
Exchange realignment ERA% (189) - (5) (38) - (232)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 10,327 - 135 1,810 64 12,336
At 31 December 2023 1#2023F12A831R
Cost KA 11,561 233 2,868 34,100 3,003 51,765
Accumulated depreciation RiHE (1,234) (233) (2,733) (32,290) 2,939) (39,429)
Net book amount RHFE 10,327 - 135 1,810 64 12,336
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 ¥ -BERSZ®EE)

(Continued)
Equipment,
Building Leasehold furniture  Computer Motor
(Note (i) improvements and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
BF R Gk
(PEEG) HEZE REE  BHRE nE A&t

HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$000 ~ HK$000  HK$'00
T TR TR FAT TAT TAT

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F12831H

LEE

Opening net hook amount ENEmFE 10,327 - 135 1,810 64 12,336

Additions NE - 759 248 445 - 1,452

Depreciation (Note (ii]) 8 (i akii) (339) (59) (74) (1,478) (64) (2,014)

Exchange realignment [ERA% (347) - (9) (34) - (390)

Closing net book amount FREEFE 9,641 700 300 743 - 11,384

At 31 December 2024 12024512A831R

Cost KA 11,166 992 3,008 33,273 2,987 51,426

Accumulated depreciation e (1,525) (292) (2,708) (32,530 (2,987) (40,042)

Net book amount BREFE 9,641 700 300 743 - 11,384

Notes: Bt 5E -

(i) As set out in Note 26, the building acquired during the (i) L0 BT FE26FT & - F E 220204512 531
year ended 31 December 2020 is located at Foshan, the HIEFERENEFAAPRGGILT -
PRC.

(ii) Depreciation expense of HK$1,806,000 (2023: (ii) ¥ & I 21,806,000/8 7T (20234 :
HK$1,696,000) has been charged in “cost of sales” 1,696,000/ jT) 2 5t A [#5 & ok A |
and HK$187,000 (2023: HK$284,000) in “administrative A+ 187,000/ 7T (20234 : 284,000/%8
expenses”. The remaining amount of HK$21,000 (2023: o) BERFATITERA S A - #2%821,000
HK$259,000) represents amount capitalised in movies 77T (20234 : 259,000 7T) BIE &1L
and television programmes rights and productions BYLAERMEREREREGERA -
work in progress. The amount will be subsequently BEHETHER ZoBEREERERA
recognised in “cost of sales” when sale is performed. [SEEMA] -
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

This note provides information for leases where the
Group is a lessee.

(i)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

17

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

EREEEREERE

AR MAEEEARAANE
&2 AR o

(i) HESESYBKRAXRTEINEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land use right b 5P AR A 7.573 8,111
Buildings B¥ 698 -
Office equipment N ] - 15
8,271 8,126

Lease liabilities HESRE

Current e 8,979 17
Non-current ERH 201 -
9,180 17

Technology Service Centre in Sushou

On 14 May 2024, Suzhou Global Digital
Operation Management Company Limited* ( &k
MIRRBIEELERARART) (“Suzhou GDC
OMC"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a lease framework
agreement (the “Lease Framework Agreement)
with Suzhou Wuzhong Financial Investment
and Merchants Services Company Limited* (%t
MNHRFPESEBEIREER AR (the “Wuzhong
Jinfu”) for Technology Service Centre. The
value of acquiring the right-of-use assets
under the Lease Framework Agreement is
RMB18,198,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$19,5667,000), which is calculated with
reference to the present value of the
aggregated lease payments to be made under
the Lease Framework Agreement.

* English entity name is for identification purpose only

BRI F 17 AR 7+ A0

R2024F5H148 - ARAZEES2E
B RAREBMNRIREIBEEEEREEGRA
A ([ERMIRRETFEE B2 ) EHER M
MRFPEHMBERBERAR([RF £
BRDFTZAEELE G ([HEEER
&) NHEERMREFL - REHEE
EXRBRRBEEAREEZEEAAR
#18,198,0007T (HHE M 419,567,000
BL)  N2EHEEEBERE N HE
TRMHEENREEZREFESE -

* RXEREHEERSZA
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17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(i)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

Technology Service Centre in Sushou (Continued)

In late 2024, management implemented a
change in the business plan after evaluating
the performance of the Technology Service
Centre to date and the available resources.
Management consider that it is highly probable
to exercise the termination option under the
Lease Framework Agreement and accordingly
reassesses the value of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, taking into account the
lease payments of estimated remainder of
the lease term and liquidated damages due to
such early termination. The financial effect of
the reassessment is a decrease in recognised
lease liabilities and value of the Technology
Service Centre in Suzhou of HK$9,074,000
(2023: Nil). Subsequent to the date of
consolidated statement of financial position,
the termination notice has been issued on 18
February 2025 as disclosed in Note 35.

In addition to the abovementioned acquisition
of right-of-use assets in relation to Technology
Service Centre, there is also another acquisition
of right-of-use asset amounted to HK$1,047,000
(2023: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Furthermore, according to management’s
assessment, impairment of the right-of-use
assets amounting to HK$6,072,000 (2023: Nil)
is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within “cost of sales” for
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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(i)

EREHMBERRRIERNESE
(#&)

BN BENTARFE 0 ()
R2024F K - B2 B A7 3%
MREPLESHRBELATRE
B BEBHEELEE - &
BERBGENRITEHEESE
I TR AR bR R - WHEE
MEFHAERAEEERTEES
ENEE TEEIGHTHE
HMWHEENRAEAZREER LT
EENETEERES EHFT
Y BT ERERRTEEARE
K gk M £ 40 IR %5 R 0 2 (BE R D
9,074,000/ 7T (20234 : &)
REA BRI KR B % - &I
BAE 7202528188 % -
B MI 35 E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

e MR

17 EREEEREERE(E)

(i)

ERE2HBARAER 2SR

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Depreciation charge of ERAEEEZNE
right-of-use assets
Land use right b 5P AR A 267 273
Buildings BF 4,774 478
Office equipment WNERME 15 15
5,056 766
Interest expense (included in FMEXZEH (BEEMEREAN)
finance cost)
Buildings BF 501 4
Office equipment RN 1 1
502 5
Impairment of right-of-use assets {FRAEEE 7 HME 6,072 -
Expenses relating to short-term HHREHHEE ZMX
lease (included in administrative  (BIEETTEHEZA)
expenses) - 423

The total cash out flow for leases during the
year is HK$2,710,000 (2023: HK$903,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various land, offices and
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made
for fixed periods of 2 to 33 years and do not
have extension options.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are
held by the lessor. Leased assets are not used
as security for borrowing purposes.

(iii)

FRN - HEMBELARALERS
£2,710,000/%8 7T (20234 :
903,000/ 7T) °

AEENHEFHREARASRX

AEBHREEZRI  PWAE
MEBE - -FRIVUBEAHNBES
N F2233FMEFTHR - B8
EEHRERE -

HEMRENEEZE LEE
SRR AR R AR - B
AFBANEEEENERER
S - HE W AR E TR -
HEEETHIFEERRF -
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172

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 18

Investment property, principally comprising
buildings, are held for long-term rental yields and
are not occupied by the Group. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. Subsequently, they are carried at fair value.
Changes in fair values are presented in profit or loss
as part of other losses, net.

REWMF

RENEETEREET @ DHEFERIE
HHS W AW IFRAREGA - KE
MENTERAGTE - BEBBERIHK
AREERA(ER) - & HiZ
RAEIN - ARBEZEHNIRET 2
P EREMERE  FRZ—®HD -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FETT

Non-current assets — at fair value FRBEE-BRARE
Opening balance as at 1 January B1R1B FE &k 231,388 238,677
Net loss from fair value adjustment A EHEE YV EEIE (11,711) (3,084)
Exchange realignment PE i, 38 #& (7,868) (4,205)
Closing balance as at 31 December W12 318 FE K& 211,809 231,388

The investment property is located at Shenzhen, the
PRC.

The following amounts have been recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
investment property:

REWMEMRN BRI

HREMERGEE2APRARTERER
ATEH

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
Rental income from operating leases K E&LHEE 2 H L KA 27,512 33,621
Net loss from fair value adjustment A EEE 7 FE1E (H:7)
(Note 7) (11,711) (3,084)
Direct operating expenses from EXMe AN
property that generated rental BEELEHRX
income (2,311) (2,367)
Refer to Note 3.3 for the fair value estimation on the BRKEMENLABEGE  BF2EK

investment property.

Refer to Note 31 for minimum lease payments
receivable on leases of investment property.
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19

Set out below is the associate held by the Group as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 and is accounted for
using the equity method.

A1 B S
e

Opening balance at 1 January
Share of result

e MR

R—EBEQT z2ERE

n
AR 2 7N £ B 7820244 2023512 A
NBEAMEE AR WEHBAEREZ

e
= o
Ea

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
TET T

R12A31B FREE5%

Closing balance at 31 December

Particulars of the associate, which is unlisted, as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

establishment/ value of issued share capital

Name of entity operation

R20244F [2023F12H31H 3k £™
ZHBERNA ZFEHBOT

Proportion of nominal

AR/ mAEEHEIERTR

EEEH AL/ B R

G. D.C Institute of Digital Media Technology (Macau) Macau
Limited (“IDMT (Macau)") P
RSB EBR RPN ERAF

No summarised financial information in respect of
the Group's associate is set out as the financial
information of IDMT (Macau) is considered as
immaterial during the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023. The Group has stopped recognising its
share of losses of an associate when applying the
equity method.

Principal

held by the Group activities

AEREEL FEXH
2024 2023

49% 49% Provision of

CG animation

creation and
production services
RESHKE &
BERIERBIERS

B E20244F &2023%F 128318 1F4F
[§ - ERIRIREES CRPY) |BEKE - i
REHAEBHZ RN E) 2T EE B
T o REB D RIRBIRE LK IEER
B/ —MEBE AR ZEE -
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20

174

MOVIES AND TELEVISION PROGRAMMES 20 E¥
RIGHTS AND PRODUCTIONS WORK IN

PROGRESS

RERGEREREREH

Movies and
television Productions
programmes rights work in progress Total
EIRE B RiE R A At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1A
Cost XA 72,992 43,016 116,008
Accumulated amortisation Rt EE (72,992) (5,218) (78,210)
Net book amount REFE - 37,798 37,798
Year ended 31 December 2023 & £2023%F
12B31HLEE
Opening net book amount FNEEFE - 37,798 37,798
Transfer 2% 27,020 (27,020) -
Additions NE - 8,013 8,013
Amortisation B (11,663) - (11,663)
Write-off (Note) s (P eE) - (13,705) (13,705)
Exchange difference fERZ% (128) (519) (647)
Closing net book amount FREE@FMAE 15,229 4,567 19,796
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F12A31H
Cost XA 99,117 23,445 122,562
Accumulated amortisation EaE 3 (83,888) (18,878) (102,766)
Net book amount REFE 15,229 4,567 19,796
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MOVIES AND TELEVISION PROGRAMMES 20
RIGHTS AND PRODUCTIONS WORK IN

PROGRESS (Continued)

==
=1

RERBEREREREGE (&)

Movies and
television Productions work
programmes rights in progress Total
EX- A%
EX L R A A%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%

12B31HLLEE
Opening net book amount FNEEFE 15,229 4,567 19,796
Transfer 2% 6,880 (6,880) -
Additions NE - 10,596 10,596
Amortisation B (19,424) - (19,424)
Provision for impairment AERE (1,808) (2,682) (4,490)
Exchange difference ERER (229) (176) (405)
Closing net book amount FREMFE 648 5,425 6,073

At 31 December 2024 R2024%12831H
Cost BAR 102,484 26,287 128,771
Accumulated amortisation ER 3 (101,836) (20,862) (122,698)
Net book amount REFE 648 5,425 6,073

For the year ended 31 December 2024, amortisation
amounting to HK$19,424,000 (2023: HK$11,663,000)
is included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within “cost of sales”.

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, write-off of
productions work in progress amounting to HK$13,705,000
is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income within “cost of sales".

B Z22024F12831H 1t F & -
19,424,000/ 7T (20234 : 11,663,000
BIL) 2 BB R A
[SHERMA] -

B i

2 ERARE

H E2023F12A318 It FE - ERE B M 3H
13,705,000 T E st A A 2 WA R [
ERlA] -
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176

MOVIES AND TELEVISION PROGRAMMES
RIGHTS AND PRODUCTIONS WORK IN
PROGRESS (Continued)

The Group considers each series of movies and
television programmes rights and productions work
in progress as a separately identifiable CGU and
performs impairment assessments on each of the
CGU with impairment indicators by considering the
recoverable amount of such assets at series level.

The carrying amount of the movies and television
programmes rights and productions work in progress
is written down to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

For movies and television programmes rights and
productions work in progress with impairment
indicators identified, management has performed
impairment assessment using the value in use
("VIU") method, which is calculated based on the
present value of future net cash flows directly
generated by the relevant movies and television
programmes rights.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group identified impairment indicators for movies
and television programmes rights and productions
work in progress, as the driven by the performance
falling below management’s expectations and the
occurrence of substantial operating losses.
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MOVIES AND TELEVISION PROGRAMMES
RIGHTS AND PRODUCTIONS WORK IN
PROGRESS (Continued)

When estimating the future cash flows to be
generated by the relevant movies and television
programmes rights considers inputs including but not
limited to revenue streams from different distribution
channels such as theatrical release, television release
or internet release, the expected timing of various
revenue streams, and production and distribution
costs. Key assumption used in the VIU calculation for
each series are mainly forecasted revenue including
box office receipt, patent income and licensing
income based on historical performance with
reference to similar series and anticipated market
conditions.

When calculating the present value of future cash
flows, management has used pre-tax discount rate
of 11%, which reflected time value of money and
specific risks of the relevant industries.

Based on the results of the assessment, provision
for impairment of movies and television programmes
rights and productions work in progress amounting to
HK$1,808,000 (2023: Nil) and HK$2,682,000 (2023:
Nil), respectively, are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within “cost
of sales” for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Management considers that any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions would not cause the
recognition of a further impairment loss.

20

e MR

i

REEREREREGE (&)

EWR

EMFEREE RERGEBELHR
KEERER  @EEEEENRRNE
BN R#TRE (WNEP LR - B8 L
BR kB B R ) MU A SRR - iR
)\Xﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ VA K2 B B BT AR
Ao GTHEZRINEREEEMEAN
TERRBBABA  BEEFRA
BEMEWANAREIA - I AR KRB
MBERBRBHMSERARELE -

EAEARKASRENRER  BEE
RA11 %M B ATITR R - ZITRE B

ERNRREELRBBITENEER

G o
A

BRIEFT G &R B E2024F12H31H
EFE EYRERGHE RERER

£ B &R E B 5 Bl 21,808,000 JT
(20234 : #) £22,682,0007% T (2023

F:|) ERGEEZEBAKRIEEK
ZISJWEEE OEEEEWUEE}‘ZTEX E’]{E
MERMEEHITSERERELRE
&8 o
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178

TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 21 EWRESER &S BNRRHEAM
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES FE W E
(i)  Trade receivables iy ERZEZRX
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables from contracts KEHZEFAELHZ
with customers FEUE 5 BR K 1,738 3,397
Rental receivables s FH & 1,736 8,043
3,474 11,440
Less: Provision for impairment B R E G (185) (320)
3,289 11,120

Except for rental receivables from tenants,
which is due for settlement upon issuance of
invoices, the Group generally grants a credit
period ranging from 30 days to 120 days. The

B pE AR F UE 2 T & A B A B
ZRIBEEIN  AEE—RIT
H N FI0EE120BEEH -
FEWE ZERFBBITREAHZ

aging analysis of the gross trade receivables BRI UT -
based on invoice date is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current to 90 days BIHRZ=90H 3,236 11,440
91 to 180 days 91TH=E180H - -
Over 180 days 1808 KA £ 238 -
3,474 11,440

The Group has applied the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires the
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the assets. This provision
matrix is determined based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life
of the trade receivables with similar credit risk
characteristics and is adjusted for forward-
looking estimates. Note 3.1(b)(ii) provides for
details about the calculation of the allowance.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 21 EWRESENR & BESRRHEAM

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES EWRKE (&)
(Continued)
(i)  Trade receivables (Continued) (i) BWE ZRR(EZ)
Movements in the provision for impairment of FEWE SERFRERENESE
trade receivables are as follows: i N
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
Opening loss allowance at M1ATBFEEERE
1 January 320 2,215
Decrease in loss allowance REZERZREFE
recognised in profit or loss from & & %7 7 BB EEHR D
continuing operations (119) (145)
Receivables written off during the 4 A4l 5 2 5K Uk [B] 7 FE U BE 3¢
year as uncollectible - (1,711)
Exchange realignment BE 5, 38 B (16) (39)
Closing loss allowance at M12A31 BN EREBEREE
31 December 185 320

The carrying amounts of trade receivables
approximate their fair values. SME e

Balances are denominated in RMB and there
is no concentration of credit risk with respect
to trade receivables as the Group has a large
number of customers.

The creation and release of provision for
impaired receivables have been included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive

account are generally written off when there is
no expectation of recovering additional cash.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
trade receivables amounting to HK$294,000 is
directly written off due to the liquidation of one
customer (2023: Nil). :: I

EWE HERFNEmERIEA

BHRAAREINE ARAEH
BREREREP FtEKE SR
ROEERRIL TEH -

& Uk B SRR (B B M B FE RO RE PR
Bt AGRAZERARA - &8
HAgWEENRSHE - Bl
income. Amounts charged to the allowance HESUBETME -

HE2024F12A31BILEFE -
—HEPEEMEEMERERKE
5 BE 50294,000/% 7T (20234 :
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TRADE RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS,

BRESKRX RE  AARREAM®

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES FEEWFRIE (&)
(Continued)
(ii) Deposits, prepayments and other (i) &2 FBAARREAMERR
receivables
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deposits e 4,580 7,069
Prepayments FEAT 3K 2,019 1,157
Other tax receivables HoAth JE UL B 58 872 1,002
Other receivables H b JiE U I8 1,180 4,128
8,651 13,356
Less: current position B BIEAEE (8,553) (13,356)
Non-current position FERNHR L 98 -
Denominated in: HIME -
- RMB —AR% 8,029 12,5675
- HK$ —%&TT 622 781
8,651 13,356
The carrying amounts of deposits and other IH B BR (B

receivables approximate their fair values.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

e M HRR

RERRESEYURERERITHE

=k
TA

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Restricted bank deposits (Note (i) BRESIRTER (HEEG) 23 21
Cash and cash equivalents HeMHEEEY
— Cash at bank —iR1TRE 67,191 63,452
- Deposits —FK 156,475 184,562
— Cash on hand —FHEES 47 25
223,713 248,039
222,736 248,060
Denominated in: SI{E :
- HK$ -7t 6,350 9,080
- RMB (Note (ii)) — AR (B (i) 213,958 221,983
- US$ —%7 3,428 16,997
223,736 248,060
Notes: B 5

(if)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, restricted
deposits amounted to HK$42,485,000 is used for
partial settlement of provision for rental and settlement
payables. As at 31 December 2024, approximately
HK$23,000 (2023: HK$21,000) are restricted deposits
held at one (2023: one) bank account as reserve under a
court order granted for a litigation claim on the Cultural
Park (Note 27).

Cash and cash equivalents comprised of cash at bank
and deposits that are interest-bearing ranging from
0.01% to 3.55% (2023: 0.05% to 3.74%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$213,958,000 (2023: HK$184,562,000)
of the Group are denominated in RMB and deposited
with banks in Mainland China. The conversion of the
RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies is
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

(if)

(iii)

H £2023%F12A831HIEFE > BR
HI117 742,485,000/ 7L B A EAA E 3
DN S R4 E REE - K2024%F
128318 » B &l 1F 5 423,000/ 7T
(20234 : 21,000 70) A — @R TR
F (2023%F : —@) 58 - EAREE
RSt EXBEFAREMRTZ
1 (fsE27) -

BekBeEBYRRERTRESRET
o ERMENTF0.01%%E3.55% (2023
F:0.05%%E3.74%) °

M2024%128318 » AEBWHBEEL R
IR & EEY4213,958,000/ 7T (2023
F 1 184,562,000/ 70) AARBZIE -
WAFRAEF E A RITH o AR
EMEHEIRAINE BB BEBTE
AR HME S Bl A8 B AR T o
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e HRRME

23 SHARE CAPITAL 23 BR A
Number of Nominal
ordinary shares value
TERAR D& B [ENED
HK$'000
FETT
Authorised: JETE

As at 1 January 2023, 72023F1H1H » 2023%F

31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 128318 - 20241 A1H

and 31 December 2024 at ’2024%12 8318 » &

HK$0.01 each 0.017% T 2,400,000,000 24,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREC
As at 1 January 2023 at 20231 H18 -

HK$0.01 each FH0.01E T 1,504,161,540 15,042
Cancellation of treasury shares EREA (592,000) (6)
As at 31 December 2023 and 72023F 12 A31H k20244

1 January 2024 at HK$0.01 each 1H18 - §&0.0187T 1,503,569,540 15,036
Cancellation of treasury shares JEE 77 % 17 5 88 (260,000) (3)
As at 31 December 2024 at M2024%128318 -

HK$0.01 each FR0.01E T 1,503,309,540 15,033

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company repurchased a total of 852,000 of its own
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
at price of HK$0.075 to HK$0.087 per share for a
total consideration of approximately HK$67,000.
592,000 shares are cancelled during the year ended
31 December 2023 and the remaining shares are
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2024.

182 Annual Report 2024 £ 3R

H E2023F12831HIEFE - AR
AEABHAERIFABRAGBNUNER
0.0758 L £0.087 B T ERER &
#852,000KE BB KM BRELH B
67,0007 7T ° 592,000k & & RE =
2023F12H3MH EF R - mE%
B B R E £20245F12A31B L E E
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company adopt a share
option scheme at the annual general meeting on 18
June 2013 (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”). No
share option has been granted under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme since its adoption. The 2013 Share
Option Scheme has expired on 18 June 2023.

An option may be exercised at any time during the
period to be determined and notified by the directors
to the grantee but may not be exercised after the
expiry of ten years from the date of offer of that
option. Option is immediately vested at the date of
grant and a consideration of HK$1 is payable upon
acceptance of the offer.

The exercise price is determined by the directors,
and will not be less than the higher of the nominal
value of the share on the date of offer, the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer;
and the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of
offer.

No share option is granted or exercised during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

24

e MR

BRESE

AN EIAEEMN2013F6 A18H BT 2 /&
REFALBAFMNERETS (12013
AR ERE]) BERMB R BE
BE R R 15201308 IR ERT Bl E R -
2013 F BT E 2 1 2023%F6 H18H
JE W o

BREITRESEEITNGERAZH
MRz EARMTE  EREREEA
HARBE M T 18171 - BBRERE L A
HYZASE  MEBEMENRASNRE
1785 7T o

TEERESFET B TMEREHNA
Hifth 2 H{E - ARRIRMHNEL B
ZW B RO R B E X B HAT R {E
LEAZTFHETE ARSERE)

H E20244F K2023%F12A318 1F 5
B HMERIEREIBRETERER
T o
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OTHER RESERVES 25 HtifEE
Share Capital  Contributed Property Treasury
premium contribution  surplus  Statutory revaluation  Exchange Other share
feSeIVe  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve Total
Hﬁfﬁmﬂg@ﬁ EUSC VN L W%iﬁﬁ / , BN ‘
ffE & Bl iThHE B ELRE ZHREE ffE Bt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Fér  FEr  TEr  TEr  FEr TEr TEr FET FEn
(Note (i)} ~ (Note (iil) ~ (Note (i) (Note (iv))
(Risk))  (WERRG)) (AR (K3Eiv)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1R1B 48 74,687 445 245881 11,679 45787 (32,199 17,860 - 364,140
Other comprehensive income  Eft2 &N A
Currency translation differences #2245 - - - - - (8,500 - - (8500
Total other comprehensive ~ Ht2ARAEE
income - - - - - 8,500) - - (8,500)
Transaction with owners HEEAETZRS
Repurchase of treasury shares BRI EE - - - - - - - (67) (67)
Cancellation of treasury share BTz (40) - - - - - - 46 6
(40) - - - - - - (21) (61)
Balance at 31 December 2023  M2023E12A31R &8 74647 445 245,881 11,679 45,787 (40,699) 17,860 (21) 385,579
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25 OTHER RESERVES (Continued)

25 Hitf#E (=)

Share Capital  Contributed Property Treasury
premium contribution  surplus  Statutory revaluation  Exchange Other share
feSeIVe  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve Total
Hﬁfﬁmﬂggﬁ EUSC VN L W%iﬁﬁ / , BN ‘
fifE e Bl iThHE B ELRE ZHEE i Bt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Fér  FEr  TEr  TEr  FEr TEr TEr FET FEn
(Note (i)} ~ (Note (iil) ~ (Note (i) (Note (iv)
(Risk))  (WERRG)) (AR (K3Eiv)
Balance at 1 January 2024 WN04F1 AR &S 74,647 445 245,881 11,679 45,787 (40,699) 17,860 (21) 355,579
Other comprehensive income  Eft2 &N A
Currency translation differences EHHBEZE - - - - - [12,677) - - (1267])
Total other comprehensive ~ Ht2ARAEE
income - - - - - (12677) - - (12677)
Transaction with owners REAAETZRE
Transfer of revenue upon NG |
dissolution of a subsidiary WAZE - - - (109) - - - - (109)
Cancellation of treasury share BRI 1 (18) - - - - - - 2 3
g - L - - - aN (109
Balance at 31 December 2024  W2024E12A31R &8 74629 445 245,881 11,570 45,787 (63,376) 17,860 - 342,79
Notes: B
(i) Capital contribution reserve represents accumulated (i) BB G E R E AR A 58
effect of imputed interest on amount due to other ZHERNBZ 2R E -

(ii)

related parties.

Contribution surplus reserve represents (a) the
difference between the nominal value of share capital
of the Company and the aggregate amount of nominal
value of share capital of subsidiaries acquired by the
Company through an exchange of share pursuant to
a group reorganisation which was completed on 31
December 2002 and; (b) the transfer of the share
premium reserve to contributed surplus reserve which
is applied to eliminate the deficit of the Company.

(if)

BABRBEERE QAR FRAEERA
NEIREEEEAR (7X2002F12/831H
TERK) i 3B AR 1) 22 1R P Wi B B 8B 1 B B
REERRZZE - Kb B i E R
BREMABBREBANRBEART ZE
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186

OTHER RESERVES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ifi)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Articles of Association of the companies
incorporated in Mainland China now comprising the
Group, it is required to allocate at least 10% of their
after-tax profit according to the PRC accounting
standard and regulations to the statutory reserve until
such reserve has reached 50% of registered capital.
Appropriations to the enterprise expansion fund and
staff welfare and bonus fund are at the discretion of
the respective board of directors of the subsidiaries.
The statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to
offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may be converted
into registered capital in proportion to their existing
shareholding, provided that the remaining balance of
the statutory surplus reserve fund after such issue is no
less than 25% of registered capital.

The other reserve is generated from the transactions
with non-controlling interests relating to the change of
shareholding in subsidiaries.

On 11 January 2021, the Group disposed of 10% equity
interest in Foshan Global Digital Media Technology
Co., Ltd.* (FBILIRIREIFHEERIEBR A F]) (“Foshan
GDM"), a then wholly-owned subsidiary indirectly held
by the Group, to Foshan Xincai Property Development
Co., Ltd.* (#ILE8M B XM BR A A) ("Foshan
Xincai”) for a non-cash consideration by transferring
the legal title of a property with a fair value, net of
tax, of RMB16,984,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$20,172,000) to the Group. After the transaction, the
Group owns 90% equity interest of Foshan GDM. Refer
to Note 26 for the details of the arrangement.

* English entity name is for identification purpose only
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Hitofw s (&2)
i ()

(iii)

(iv)

RIFFRABERERLERAEEA
B AR B A3 S AR SZ ) R B A
Ei2 - ARERA BRI B A FIA
BhBEE R LR EIEER B RN E
P0RDEDEERBFHEE  EEMHE
ERES HAMRA Z50% B - B
BRESURBE TRANMESE S AR
HEMBARSEMNETERE AT
BER AR S AT DA 2O 68 LA B F RO /S
B(A)  LAREREREL IS
BREEMER  EETRNEERHA
BEHREIFINREMEARMN25% -

o % 7R 2 SRR AR M 1T P
BRARAREED XS

R2021F1A11MH > ALEE HEHIL
REEEHEEREAER AR ([#ILER
HEHEE]) (AEEERNMES2E
MEBAR)10%BETHLENEE
HEARAR([FLEN])  ERE
REZBEAAEBEBE AR BEARE
16,984,0007T (#H & 7 #720,172,000/%
T (BEMBRRIE) MWESEIMEES
o R 5% AEEBEEEILIRKET
IHEE00% IR IE - BRAL BB 26
5126 ©

* EXEREHEFERSZA



26 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 26

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited ¥z

PAYABLES

(i)

(i)

Trade payables

The ageing analysis of the trade payables
based on invoice date are as follows:

Current to 90 days

ENEIZE90H

FREBAZSERAERLA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

BNEZERR B BAREMEN
IR

(i) ENEZERR
J‘&‘ﬁf’f%ﬁﬁ NI ZHH 2 BR ik
DT -
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F#ET
47 -

The carrying amounts of trade payables
approximate their fair values and are

denominated in RMB.

Accruals and other payables

BNEZRANREERIER
nE WAAREIINE -

(i) EEERARAEMENTR

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAETT

Advance payment from FEPE AR M 2 2 TR E (B 3E)
non-controlling interest (Note) 21,277 22,026
Accruals =t E A 6,442 5,765
Salary payable AN 9,326 8,149
Deposits b 10,946 11,404
Construction cost payables FEAS TRERC AN 3R 1,913 1,968
Other tax payables H b & A B 58 333 177
Advance from leases 8 AR E A 1,504 670
Others H A 11,878 8,785
63,619 58,944
Less: Current portion B BNERER 9 (63,330) (58,655)
Non-current portion: JEBNHAEL 75 289 289

Denominated in: HIME :

- RMB - AR 60,723 55,705
- HK$ — BT 2,896 3,239
63,619 58,944
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26 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES (Continued)

(if)

Accruals and other payables (Continued)

The carrying amounts of accruals and other
payables approximate their fair values.

Note:

On 17 December 2018, Institute of Digital Media
Technology (Shenzhen) Limited* (3RERESEEERIHT
75 ORI BBR A A ) ("IDMT Shenzhen”) and Foshan
GDM, both indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, entered into a cooperation agreement (the
“Cooperation Agreement”) with Foshan Xincai and
Brilliant Link International Limited ({E%BEE AR AT )
(“Brilliant Link"), both independent third parties.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Foshan
Xincai agreed to contribute a property located in
Foshan to Foshan GDM as capital contribution in
exchange for 10% equity interests in Foshan GDM
while Brilliant Link agreed to contribute cash in the
amount of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$22,026,000) to Foshan GDM in exchange for 5%
equity interests in Foshan GDM. The full amount of the
advance payment formed part of the cash consideration
payable by Brilliant Link under the Cooperation
Agreement.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the legal
title of the Property was transferred to Foshan GDM
at its fair value of RMB19,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,000,000) as at date of the transfer
of legal title of the Property. The corresponding amount
formed a part of the consideration by Foshan Xincai for
the acquisition of 10% equity interest in Foshan GDM
which the transaction was completed on 11 January
2021.

As at the date of this report, the transaction with
Brilliant Link is yet to be completed as the transfers of
the 5% equity interest in Foshan GDM to Brilliant Link
has not been completed.

* English entity name is for identification purpose only
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(ii)

EtERRAEMEATRE(Z)
EETERREMENKIENERT
BEEEARE-

B 5E -

MN2018512H17H - IR EUG a2 )
Bz ORI BRAE (DRYIERER 2
ﬁ%J)&ﬁ%mfaﬁﬁM@% (Z&EH AKX

RENEERZEWNEBQE) EEL(ER

REZFEBEAERAR(EED (MEH
REIFE=T7) I A FE (& 1F
@) e

RIBEERE - FhILERRBREHLR

TRETS IS B AL L 2 - iR
BB ILRIREIS E B 10% A4 : RE%
k= mﬁ:m&aﬁ%@% HEBRES AR
#20,000,0007T (8 & M 922,026,000
;%fc) LM%HM%M&IT%(W% 5% %

o JENE E‘JE%E%W*%E#AVEWJ
& hfsﬁﬁsﬁiﬁﬁfﬂ?‘;aﬁ—ﬁﬁ

H 220209 12831HIEFE &Y
ENMAEMAEDEBREMHILIIRER
BISEE  RNEVENEEMBEREZ
ERAH ZWEIZARBERARE
19,000,000t (A8 & 7 %923,000,0007%
JL) ° tHRA SRR AR LS B Uk BB R L
RIS EE10% IEN LA RE - M
BAZ SO MN2021F1B11H =K ©
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PROVISION FOR RENTAL AND SETTLEMENT
PAYABLES

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and
make good obligations are recognised when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’'s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Accrued rental and settlement
payables and late payment
surcharge (Note)

27

e BRI & REE K
Pk EACED)

e M HRR

EREEREERBE

EASEABEEHMAREREL
R ST MBETEETHRAES
2ERRL - BEESBEAFEAIERE
B DEERERAR RBRELZ
ZETEERE TERARELEER
HEREE -

MERZBEBAUEE  FEERME A
BITEENAREDKEERBRBEER
PR EETE » BNE L RIE & (£ ] — I8
HIBRERRHEORTBEENK - DR
B -

B EERA RS NRYBITRAR
£ 7 78 0 3%t T {0 8 o £ 3 O B £
g AREERENEREARMER
IS S 5 R R R B R AR A
ST (MO BLAT AU o

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T
138,225 140,822

Note:

The legal dispute between Guangdong GDC, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and ¥#KIZEFZRHFERA
Al ("Pearl River Film Production”) progresses through multiple
trials, appeals and re-trials in respect of (1) the return of the
entire Cultural Park; (2) the claim for the property occupation
fee of certain parking spaces and related interests; (3) the claim
for the property occupation fee of the Cultural Park and related
interests; and (4) the claim for the capital contribution invested
in the construction for the Cultural Park and the related interests
from 2019.

The return of the entire Cultural Park and the claim for the
property occupation fee of certain parking spaces and related
interests are completed and settled in prior years. Litigation and
results of the remaining two cases are filed and reported for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

B 5t

ARRZIFEEWEB R R ERRIREE EIKOT
BERHAARQR ([IRFEA ) ERUMDE
BEREM  LHREEF  SROBEREX
EEXRE : 2ptE TEURBEEE 2 M¥ES
REZEZR QXL EXRELHBREZZY
EXERBZRER RS EXE RAREE
HE2019FEZERBRAES ZHR °

RERECEEZBRNE TEEMNYDEHER
BENEERE ARENBEFERANIT -
HZE2024F12A31HILLFE K TRREMD
FRARBERNOT
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190

PROVISION FOR RENTAL AND SETTLEMENT
PAYABLES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

1. Property occupation fee of the Cultural Park
Guangdong GDC applied a re-trial to the Supreme
People’s Court of the PRC* (FR Bl &z & A R & Fr )
(the “Supreme People’s Court”) in respect of the
judgement on the property occupation fee amounting to
RMB157,353,781 dated 7 October 2023. On 26 February
2024, the Supreme People's Court rejected the re-trial
application. The civil judgment from the Higher People’s
Court of Guangdong Province of the PRC* (FEIERE &
W ANRJEBR ) (the “Guangdong Higher People’s Court”) is
the final judgment on the case.

On 29 March 2024, the Company received an
enforcement order issued by the Intermediate People’s
Court of Guangzhou City of Guangdong Province of the
PRC* (REIEHRE EM T HAARZER) (the “Guangzhou
Intermediate People’'s Court”), which released the
restricted deposits of approximately HK$42,485,000
and rental receivable of approximately HK$2,554,000 to
Pearl River Film Production. This restricted deposit of
approximately HK$42,485,000 was transferred to the
account under the name of the Guangzhou Intermediate
People’'s Court in December 2023 for partial settlement
of provision for rental and settlement payables.

2. Capital contribution invested in the Cultural Park
Guangdong GDC applied a re-trial to the Supreme
People's Court for the (i) return of capital contribution
invested in the construction for the Cultural Park and
the related interests in the amount of approximately
RMB240,000,000 and RMB54,900,000, respectively, and
(i) compensation on losses of RMB20,000,000 borne by
Guangdong GDC arising from the said investment due to
breach of contract by Pearl River Film Production. On 27
June 2024, Guangdong GDC was informed that the re-
trial is rejected by the Supreme People’s Court.

On 16 August 2024, Guangdong GDC applied a protest
to People's Procuratorate of Guangdong Province*
(BREAR®BER) (the “Guangdong People’s
Procuratorate”) regarding the above two cases and
it is rejected on 25 October 2024. Subsequently,
Guangdong GDC submitted a protest application to
the Supreme People’'s Procuratorate of the People's
Republic of China (F Bl & & A K #& 22 Bt ) (the
"Supreme People’s Procuratorate”) on 27 November
2024 and is currently awaiting the judgement.

Based on the magnitude and likelihood of occurrence
for the possible outcomes of the current litigation
status as advised by the independent external lawyer,
management determines that provision for rental and
settlement payables and surcharge in relation to the
litigation amounts to HK$138,225,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$140,822,000)
and no reversal is recognised under discontinued
operation for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$25,721,000).

* English entity name is for identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRERME

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

28 EEFIBH

The net movement on the deferred income tax BIEFMBHZFEBMT ¢

account is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Deferred income tax assets RS EE 2,337 2,153

Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSTAE (14,323) (21,561)

Net deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTIS T B EF5E (11,986) (19,408)

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Balance at 1 January R1ATB &% (19,408) (23,831)
Recognised in the statement of REEBRAXKER (HEE12)

comprehensive income (Note 12) 6,681 4,018

Exchange realignment [P 741 405

Balance at 31 December M12 A31H & &4 (11,986) (19,408)

The movements in deferred income tax assets
and liabilities without taking into consideration

the offsetting of balances within the same tax

jurisdiction, are as follows:

RERR—BiE AR A HARERS
MEEMBENEFHBEROT

Deferred income tax asset EERBHEE Tax losses

75 B 18

HK$'000

FETT

At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 2,153

Credited to statement of comprehensive  REmEUWA KT A

income -

At 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H 2,153
Credited to statement of comprehensive ~ RA2EUW A FKET A (H3E12)

income (Note 12) 260

Exchange realignment bE o 38 B (76)

At 31 December 2024 R2024%F12831H 2,337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 28 EEFEH(E)
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTSRIAE
Capitalised
costs of
movies and
television
programmes
Fair value rights and
change productions
of investment work in
property progress Others Total
BEYNEGREE
REWMEZ WRENEREE
AREE HERMEKAR Hit A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET THET FET
At 1 January 2023 202361418 16,748 7,901 1,335 25,984
Credited to consolidated REAZEBARTA
statement of comprehensive (HzE12)
income (Note 12) (771) (3,127) (120) (4,018)
Exchange realignment P 5% (268) (115) (22) (405)
At 31 December 2023 and 12023128318 &
1 January 2024 2024F1H1H 15,709 4,659 1,193 21,561
Credited to consolidated RixE2ERARETA
statement of comprehensive (M312)
income (Note 12) (1,914) (3,503) (1,004) (6,421)
Exchange realignment P A% (622) (175) (20) (817)
At 31 December 2024 720245128318 13,173 981 169 14,323
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities of HK$8,145,000
(2023: HK$11,656,000) have not been recognised
for the withholding tax and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries. Unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding tax total HK$162,891,000 at 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$233,137,000). The
directors of the Group are of the view that such
amounts are not intended to be distributed in the
foreseeable future to the Group companies outside of
Mainland China.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
loss carry-forward to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through the future taxable
profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group does not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HK$12,487,000 (2023: HK$6,909,000) in respect
of losses amounting to HK$59,183,000 (2023:
HK$37,712,000) that can be carried forward against
future taxable income.

No deferred income tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the above tax losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams.

The expiry date for the unused tax losses is as
follows:

28

e MR

TS H ()

EEFFSHAE (&)

I 5k E T H B A B RE AT 2 BT
FEMHR R EMEBERRELEMESHAasE
8,145,000/ 7T (20234 : 11,656,000/8
JC) ° 7A2024F12 A31H » BHS FER
B K E R & F4S 162,891,000
7577 (20234F : 233,137,000 7T) © 7Zx
EEEERE HBARBEEZNRATLE
Wik F e B A LA SN 2 B R A

SLAEE MBS B R MR R E S

BEERNREB RGN RAEAIERB
RIRERF R MNEIRAED o 1K2024%F

12A318 » AEE W R A S8R E 1B
59,183,000/ 7T (20234 : 37,712,000
T ERIEEFT 15 B & E12,487,000
77T (20234 : 6,909,000/ 7T) LA 6]
HARKRERBTUA

R AR SR AR R 9 N AT TR - E R
BB EEREAREMSRE
7o

AARBEECDHANT :

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FETT

Within 1 year 1F AR - 549
Between 1 and 2 years 1524 2,523 -
Between 2 and 3 years 2E34F 9,794 2,571
Between 3 and 4 years 3FAF 8,679 9,978
Between 4 and 5 years 4FEBF 22,415 8,842
Without expiry date fm 2| Hf A 15,772 15,772
59,183 37,712
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 29 SeRIAZHE

The following is an analysis of financial instruments T RIZER SR T AN DT
by category:

2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets EHMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEBHEK AT EZEMEE
- Trade receivables (Note 21) —FEWE 5 BRFK (M7E21) 3,289 11,120
— Other receivables and deposits —H bW RIE iR E
(excluding non-financial assets) (GE& @ EEERKRIN
(Note 21) (F$7E21) 5,760 11,197
— Restricted bank deposits (Note 22) — AR H|$R1T75% (M :F22) 23 21
— Cash and cash equivalents -HekReEED
(Note 22) (Fi5¥22) 223,713 248,039
232,785 270,377
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost Z#EER A EZ S HEE
— Trade payables (Note 26) — B E SR (M3E26) 47 -
- Other payables (excluding —HENFKIEGEemAaEE
non-financial liabilities) B A1) 28,448 27,740
— Lease liabilities (Note 17) —MHEAaEMF17) 9,180 17
37,675 27,757
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

CASH USED IN OPERATIONS

(a)

30 RERAZRE

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to (a) MREFIERAISEHEKLSEFMANE
cash used in operations EHE R
2024 2023
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B & FET FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax 2K 8 LA 18 2 B A iS5 Al
from 2 (BB wmF
— Continuing operations —BHEKEETS (64,341) (29,895)
- Discontinued operation —ERIEREETE (5,852) 23,056
(70,193) (6,839)
Adjustments for: TIATIB B EH 5 -
— Depreciation of property, —ME - BELREOITE
plant and equipment 16 1,993 1,980
— Depreciation of right-of-use ~ —{fREEERE
assets 8 5,056 766
— Reversal of provision for —TRMEERANEEZ
impairment of financial BB RO
assets and contract assets (119) (145)
— Fair value loss on investment —I8&W¥E 2 AR EEE
property 11,711 3,084
— Provision/(reversal of -~ e REERYTRE
provision) for rental and (BEEm)
settlement expenses 15 4,680 (25,721)
- Interest income —F B A 6 (4,577) (7,374)
- Finance cost on lease —HEEENREKAK
liabilities 11 502 5
— Write-off of productions work —i$47E 865 B
in progress 20 - 13,705
— Provision for impairment of —BYNERE B RER
movie and television rights ERE B 2R EEE
and productions work in
progress 20 4,490 -
— Amortisation of movies and — B RERE B R
television programmes
rights 20 19,424 11,663
— Impairment loss on right-of- —{EAEZE ZFEEIE
use assets 17 6,072 -
- Write-off of trade receivables —#itEEUWE SRR 21 294 -
Operating cashflow before LEEC BRI LR
changes in working capital mE (20,667) (8,876)
Changes in working capital: BiEEw 7 EE
Restricted bank deposits ERE%I$E{T1F — 42,485
Trade receivables EE 5B K 7,431 51
Deposits, prepayments and e~ BT E A ER R
other receivables I8 1,982 (6,522)
Trade payables ERE SRR 47 (202)
Accruals and other payables JEET & F N H b & 3R 7.108 (549)
Provision for rental and EREE REE TR
settlement payables - (42,485)
Contract liabilities aHamE 2,844 382
Contract assets AHEBEE (248) 685
Deferred government grant i XE RS #E B 759 -
Cash used in operations REMAZRE (744) (15,031)
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A BB RRMT

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30 REFAZEE(£)

(Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b)

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are liabilities
for which cash flows are, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.

0 18 0 2

AREEBEEMNEENHIR

TRFLAEEAMEETHESE
B ARERBES
MBEERRERELRKREDR
ERAEEGARERERTD

BIERE TSRS RENALE

Lease

liabilities

HEBRE

HK$'000

FET

At 1 January 2023 7®2023F181H 492
Cash flow from operating activities KEEHHEERE

— Interest paid —BEfHE (5)
Cash flow from financing activities MEFEHREERE

— Principal elements on lease liabilities —HEBBEz2ARH D (475)

Interest expense FERX 5
At 31 December 2023 and ®2023F128318 &

1 January 2024 2024%F1H1H 17
Cash flow from operating activities CEEFRER=E

— Interest paid —E2F A (502)
Cash flow from financing activities MEEYRESRE

— Principal elements on lease liabilities —HERBEZzARHD (2,208)

Interest expense MERX 502

Addition to lease liabilities FIHEa®E 20,614

Re-assessment of lease liabilities EHHEERE (9,074)

Exchange difference I X Z R (169)

At 31 December 2024 R2024%12831H 9,180

The interest expense represents the related
finance cost of HK$502,000 (2023: HK$5,000)

(Note 11) arising from the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

COMMITMENTS 31 AR
Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor KREHERE-FEBEAEBEA
The investment property is leased to tenants under BREMERBKCEHERTHL B2
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. BIRAAT -
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of REDMFEHENREEWHEE N KA
investment property are as follows: N
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 1 year NS 21,532 29,445
Between 1 and 2 years 1229 18,510 21,898
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 4,558 20,248
Between 3 and 4 years 3FE4F 632 13,243
Between 4 and 5 years 4FEBF 632 4,332
Over 5 years 5 LA 1,052 17,009
46,916 106,175
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32 Z|AEE

As detailed in Note 27, the Group is subject
to uncertainty regarding the final outcome of a
litigation claim. Having considered the various
possible outcomes of the current litigation status,
management considers a provision for rental and
settlement payables amounting to HK$138,225,000
as at 31 December 2024 to be sufficient and not
excessive.

WA FE27FR  AEBEEFRRREDN

REERFTEFETHPERZ - &£E5 &
BEFARINZEAELER R - B2
BRAR2024F12831HENE S
N 45 8 3k B #5138,225,00058 7T JH B B
B T HREE -
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e HRRME

33 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33 BEALTEE
The Company's substantial shareholder with RARRBEEERENNETERRAE
significant influence is Shougang Holding (Hong S (BE) AR AR (TEHEE]) -
Kong) Limited (“Shougang HK"), which is a wholly ErEaMEEAR AR (—HBtRE
owned subsidiary of Shougang Group Co., Ltd., a BEEEEEEZECEREENEEA
state-owned enterprise under the direct supervision TtEINEZEWBAF -
of the Beijing State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administrative Commission.
The following transactions were carried out with EEAEE HETTUATRS -
related party:
(a) Related party transactions (a) BEBALXRZ
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Consultancy fee charged by TN EHEENERS
Shougang HK (2,160) (2,880)
Rental expense to a subsidiary A E A S — R B A T
of Shougang HK HeMX (281) -
Renovation costs to a subsidiary S &HilES —MH B QA
of Shougang HK HiEEH (650) -
Management fee from KWREHEENERE
Shougang HK 534 -
Activity income from EEIECENCEILLON
Shougang HK 50 -
Interest income R B U A 137 2

The terms of the above transactions are
mutually agreed between the Group and the
counter parties.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Year end balances

RHEBBATERBERA

ol

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

33 EBEBALTHE(E
(b) ERLER

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amount due from an associate U — R N T RE
Amount due from an associate, & — a1 B 2 R B R IE
at cost 29D 1,095 1,134
Less: Provision for impairment of & : FEU —REIHG 2 A B 3IE 2
amount due from an associate LB (1,095) (1,134)
Exchange difference BE 5, 3 B - -
Amount due from related parties [& I B8 8% A + 78
Amount due from JE L & i) 5= [ B 7S
Shougang Group BR QA
Finance Co., Ltd. (Note) B (MF3E) 8,646 -
Amount due from Shougang HK  FEUK & i & % 3518 34 -
Note: BftsE -

The term of the finance services agreement with
Shougang Group Finance Co. Ltd shall commence
from 5 December 2023 and shall continue up to 31
December 2025 (both dates inclusive). The Group may
deposit funds into the deposit accounts in Shougang
Group Finance Co. Ltd in return for interest income. The
daily maximum balance of deposits placed by the Group
shall be not more than RMB9,000,000 (approximately
HK$9,879,000) during the term.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, interest
income derived from the abovementioned deposit
amounts to HK$137,000 (2023: HK$2,000).

The receivable from related party is unsecured, interest-
free and receivable on demand. The carrying values of
the balance approximates its fair value.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no provision
for impairment of amount due from an associate (2023:
Nil) is recognised and included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within “provisions
for impairment of financial assets and contract assets”.

HERMERMPBERARAI 2SR
i IEEE 2023412 A 5 HFEK
SEZ 202512 A31 H (BIEEEM
B) - AEEGRESR ENERTE
ERABZEREFPUESHEWAD
o AEBRZBRABAAFERZT
FESEBTEZR AR 9,000,000
7t (#79,879,000 87L) -

HE2024F 12 A31 BILFE kB
Rt FEREF B U A A 137,000 78 T
(2023 € : 2,000 77T) °

FEUS BaRsE A £ FRIE A EEA - 8 A
REREW - ENREAERLE AR
-

HE2024F12 A3 ALLFE &
MR FE UL — B & 2 R FRIE 2 R B B
(2023 F : &) KRt AZAZEHBAR
M [eRmEERGNEERERE]
pq °
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33

200

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Key management compensation

Key management personnel includes directors,
(executive, non-executive and external
directors) and the senior management of the
Group. The compensation paid or payable to
key management for employee services is
shown below:

33

B ALTIRE (&)

(c)

TEEE A S HMH
FEEEABREESE (MTE
EERTEERINPES) &
AEBSHREEAE  HEER
BENKENEZEE A S
WRETR

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Salaries and other short-term HehHEMEHESEF
employee benefits 2,258 2,796
Termination benefit BEEE 12 A 1,168 -
Post-employment benefit RKEF 51 96
3,477 2,892

Transaction with other PRC government-
related entities

The Group has entered into various banking
transactions, including deposits placement and
corresponding interest income, with certain
bank and financial institutions and use of public
utilities which are state-controlled entities in
its ordinary course of business. In view of the
nature of those transactions, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that separate
disclosure would not be meaningful.
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33 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 33

(f)

Principal subsidiaries

()

The following is a list of the principal

subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiary

WELFLHR

Direct subsidiary

ERNEAR
GDC Holdings Limited

Indirect subsidiaries

AENELT

GDC Asset Management Limited

GDC China Limited
RREBYEERAT

GDC International Limited

BREEERARAA

GDC Management Services
Limited

BRABEEREERAT
GDC Cultural Parks Limited

BREBIE N ERE
BRAE

GBASTI Limited (Formerly

known as "GDC Institute of
Digital Economy Limited")

RERREPOERAT
mﬁ{%ﬁﬁﬁ@%wﬁﬁﬂ
5BA7)

Place of incorporation or
establishment and kind of
legal entity

BLIAER

RS RAEEES

The British Virgin Islands
("the BVI"), limited liability
 company
AERNEE([ABRNE
8l) BREEAR

The BVI, limited liability
company

ABRLEE RREALT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BE BRELAT
Samoa, limited
liability company
BELRS BRAFAT
Hong Kong, limited liability
company
BA BREAAA
Hong Kong, limited liability

company

EE BREALT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EE BREALT

Principal activities and
place of operation

IREBNZENE

Investment holding
in Hong Kong

RERRERR

Investment holding

\ in Hong Kong

REBREZR

Investment holding
in Hong Kong

RERRERR

Provision of CG

animation creation and

RHHBARE

ERABRLQE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRR

B ALTIRE (&)

TEMEBLT

TEWBRRZIRNT :

Issued share

capital or

registered
capital/paid-up
capital
R
imBE/EERA
(Note]

(h)

US$5,214,181/
US$5,214,181

54 181ET/
52141815

USS1IUSS1
1ET/1%7
HKS2/HKS?
2R/ 1E
USS1/USS1

production services in Hong

Kong

REERIERERDE

A RRERE

Provision of administrat

E1/1%1

ion and HK$2/HK$2

management service in Hong

Kong

RERRRTBRERRE

Investment holding
_ in Hong Kong
RERREER

Operation of technology

innovation centre
_ in Hong Kong
REREEMEDL

WL/ 0ET
HK$1/HKS 1
BT/ 18T

HKS1/HKS

WL/ 1A

Proportion of ownership

interest held by the Company

FRARRZARRLN
204 203

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRME

33

202

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 33 BEBMALTEEE)
(f)  Principal subsidiaries (Continued) (f) FEWBLR (&)
Issued share
capital or
Place of incorporation or registered
establishment and kind of Principal activities and capital/paid-up Proportion of ownership
Name of subsidiary legal entity place of operation capital interest held by the Compa
) L o  BEfEE o
WELAAR K% R EES TERRANEELY ihiRE/ ESRA KRRAREZBRELDI
(Note) 2024
(h)
Indirect subsidiaries (continued)
L) PEIE)
BREHER %Wiﬁﬁ % Mainland China, limited liability  Provision of CG and animation /5$26,000,000/ 100%
(FINERDE company* creation and production 15826,000,000
services, development of
multimedia software and
hardware, provision of
related technical
consultancy services
and property holding in
the Mainland Chma
RRAERENARE hEA BREEAT BB s R -If%@bz 26,000,007/
(RH)ERAR ElfERBER W TORE  26000000%7
SRRRRRAERA
BRRHRSENE
MImEREEZ R Mainland China, limited liabiity ~ Animation Investment in the RMB3,000,000/ 100%
BRAT ‘ company Mainland China RMB3,000,000
RmEREEE B RERY BREFAT MEREEDE ARH3,000,0007/
ERAT ARE3,000,0007
S EE et Mainland China, private non-  Provision of CG and animation RMB200,000/ -
nterprise institution training in the Mainland RMB200,000
China
RmELERRAE ISR REAS REECEEL  RPER m@@ REG R ARH200,0007/
HERER ARE200,0007
ERRRUBHEERERDA Mainland China, imited liability ~ Provision of culture, RMB10,000,000/ 68%
company* entertainment and related RMB10,000,000
commercial property
investment in the Mainland
China
ERERUBHEEZERLA mER AREEAD WJIW oI BER ARE10000,0007/
REEXNZERRE AK10,000,0007
ENEHEZEEEEERLT Mainland China, limited liabilty ~ Provision of building RIB1,000,000/ 68%
company* management service in the RMB1,000,000
o Mainland China
ENRRnEEeERERAR mER AREEAD ReBRBRENZEERE  ARE10000007/
AR 1,000,000
FRBAERRYEERER Mainland China, limited liability  Provision of graphic animation RMB15,000,000/ 100%
BB company creation in the Mainland RMB15,000,000
China
L REER R ERER mERY BRELAT ArERREEEEEEE  ARE150000007/
ERAF AK15,000,0007
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33 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 33

(f) Principal subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

WELFLHR

Indirect subsidiaries (continued)
BEWEAA(Z)
HITRREBE ENHERD

MITRAABLEHRARD

MITRRNFERRRAA

MITRRNFERRRAA

BUBREERRNRERAT

Place of incorporation or
establishment and kind of
legal entity

B AED
RUtEREEES

Mainland China, limited liability
company

REMY BREELT

Mainland China, limited liability
company
hEMD BREEAT

Mainland China, limited liability
company

Proportion of ownership

interest held by the Company

B A 5B ()
(f) FEWBAR(E)

Issued share

capital or

registered

Principal activities and capital/paid-up

place of operation  capial

-  BEfEE

TERRANEENY ihRA/ EERE

(Note)

(h)

Provision of graphic animation RMB2,000,000/

creation in the Mainland RMB2,000,000

China

ReERLREEGHEAE  AREL000,0007/

ARE2,000,0007

Provision of building RMB,000,000/

management service in the RMB1,000,000
Mainland China .

REERLRENZEERE  ARK1000,0007/

ARE1,000,0007

Provision of CG and animation RMBT1,111,112/
creation and production RMB2,111,112
services in the Mainland

China
BURREERENRARLT hER BREEAT MeERERESEERR  AREN, H1nn/
DEEERERE AE%N
RORRGERR (H#) BBAT  Mainland China, limited liability  Provision of culture, sport and RIMBS50,000,000/
company* related property development RMB710,000
and operation in the Mainland
China
BYRREENE (N8 ERAT ARG EREFLE MIW iRl - 85 R AR50,000,000T/
BNEERREE ARE710,0007
BNRREBELEEARLA Mainland China, limited liability Provision of property RMB500,000/
company management and leasing RMB500,000
business in the Mainland
China
BNRREBERERERDA RENY BREEAT RERDRRNEER ARH500,0007/
RBERH AR %500,0007
# Registered as foreign investment enterprise in #
Mainland China
* Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises *

in Mainland China

Note:

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of

GEE

other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, Eo
result in particulars of excessive length.

None of subsidiaries have issued any debt securities at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

EREFIEER
ﬁEﬁIE%QZWE T B=R
HIPFEHIE R R FET

RRARAZBRELN
2004 202
100% 100%
100% 100%
0% 0%
100% 100%
100% -

J‘;‘EFWWE\IHW%M\%&EQ
fiqﬂ BAMEMRIEBEE D

RE AN B2 EE
}E""Fmiﬂﬁ’\ﬂd

ZEM B R RRAFRRFRERERE
BEEITEMNES
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34

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

AATRMBRRBRNREEEE

2024 2023
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B & FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary REBRARZERE - -
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and "e  BENRKE
other receivables H {th g U 58 391 426
Cash and cash equivalents BENBELSEY 1,656 1,003
2,047 1,429
Total assets EEHE 2,047 1,429
EQUITY xR
Equity attributable to owners of ZAAQTFEAEGER
the Company
Share capital A% 7 15,033 15,036
Reserves & (a) 289,731 289,728
Accumulated losses RETEE (a) (303,601) (304,589)
Total equity R 1,163 175
LIABILITY a8fE
Current liability REEE
Accruals and other payables FEETE A K H4th fE A~ 28 884 1,254
Total liability EEHEE 884 1,254
Total equity and liabilities EZNEEEE 2,047 1,429
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34 ZAARUMBRRABERNBESS(£Z)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Note (a) Reserves and accumulated losses @) A B ZEERET SRS
movements of the Company
Share  Contributed Treasury
premium surplus Accumulated reserve
reserve reserve losses share Total
RIVEE MARB BERH |
i &l RiEE B AF

HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000
T/BT TiET TET T TET

At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 74,687 215,102 (303,813) - (14,024)
Loss for the year FEER - - (776) - (776)
Repurchase of treasury shares — EFR{H [ HE - - - (67) (67)
Cancellation of treasury shares B {0584 (40) - - 46 6
At 31 December 2023 and R2023512A318 K

1 January 2024 202451818 74,647 215,102 (304,589 (21) (14,861)
Profit for the year FERA - - 988 - 988
Cancellation of treasury shares B {75+ (18) - - 21 3
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12831H 74,629 215,102 (303,601) - (13,870)

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING 35 HEHARLECZEIER
PERIOD

Subsequent to the date of consolidated statement RERE AR K B BiE - BRINIREREK
of financial position, Suzhou GDC OMC, as a HiEEER (IERRHEAN) REEERED
lessee, issues a termination notice in respect of the FEARPERBEEKRIIEE  RIEHE
Lease Framework Agreement to Wuzhong Jinfu, to WEZR 1% > B2025F2H18H B A -

terminate the Lease Framework Agreement with
effective on 18 February 2025.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

36.1

Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the
Group has control. The Group controls
an entity where the Group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities
of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting
is used to account for business
combinations by the Group (refer to Note
36.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results
and equity of subsidiaries are shown
separately in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.1

Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not
control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds
between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method
of accounting (see (c) below), after
initially being recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting,
the investments are initially recognised
at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’'s share of the
post-acquisition profits or losses of
the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group's share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable
from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in
an equity-accounted investment equals
or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the other entity.

36 HMEBEEE

(c)
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e HRRME

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(c) Equity method (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions
between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in
Note 36.9.

(d) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control as transactions
with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results
in an adjustment between the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received
is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of
Company.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.1

Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)

(d)

Changes in ownership interests
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate
or equity account for an investment
because of a loss of control or
significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate
or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associate
is reduced but significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.
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36

210

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.2 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for all business combinations,
regardless of whether equity instruments or
other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability

resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity
interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HithEBZEEEASHREME(£)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.2 EBKEH(E)

36.2 Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquired
entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those
amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash
consideration is deferred, the amounts
payable in the future are discounted to their
present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity's incremental
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms
and conditions. Contingent consideration is
classified either as equity or a financial liability.
Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured to fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.
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36

212

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.2

36.3

36.4

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted
for at cost less impairment. Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a
manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Executive
Directors of the Company who makes strategic
decisions.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.5 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

I[tems included in the financial
statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates ("“the
functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company’s subsidiaries
operating in Mainland China is RMB.
The Company functional currency is
RMB, while the consolidated financial
statements are presented in HKS.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates
are generally recognised in profit or
loss. They are deferred in equity if they
relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and
qualifying net investment hedges or are
attributable to part of the net investment
in a foreign operation.

All foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on
a net basis within “other losses, net”.
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e HRRME

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(if)

(ifi)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value is
determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held
at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of
the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of
foreign operations (none of which has
the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position

U income and expenses for each
statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions), and

o all resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) ~ Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

36.6 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognised when replaced.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost, net of their
residual values, over their estimated useful
lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements
and certain leased plant and equipment, the
shorter lease term as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the
unexpired lease term or
their estimated useful
lives of no more than 50

years
Leasehold Over the shorter of terms of
improvements the lease or 10 years
Equipment, 5 years
furniture and
fixtures
Computer 3 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 5 years

e MR

HiBEERSHBRME (F)

36.5 HNHEBE ()

(i)  AKEEFKE A (E)
W BIINEBRFEE 2
BRARERABERBZE
INEHZEERBE I
RWTHERKBE -

36.6 W MENKRE

FREYME  BEMRBHRESL
PRASE ST E SR - E LA B
EEBBRKBRAENHE -

HERAEERZIAR AR 2K
KEERN A A RAANEHE -
MZBAB KRR SEHAE
B DRt ABEZRE S R
RRSEFHEE (WER) - ERE
BEE AR EMRARBD K
E{ERE R R LR - TEH
i RREREELENRE B
NEBEEMR -

FrEREMGET A EAFHARA
BROEDBERAR (MR R E
B)FE HSHERERS
THEMRE &&E - AIZIA TR
RHEMEHE -

BF BAREREE Y
K E 81850
F o fhEH Al 2
REFEHRPZH
k)

HERE EHEHH105F
ZBEE

Wi EMR  BF

KE

BhRE  3F

Annual Report 2024 =% 215



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited & Bk & % A = %

RERRZF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB RRMT

36

216

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.6

36.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

An asset’'s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset's carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 36.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing proceeds with carrying amount
and are recognised within “other losses,
net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have
an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’'s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.8 Discontinued operation

36.9

A discontinued operation is a component of the
entity that has been disposed of or is classified
as held for sale and that represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area

of operations,

is part of a single co-ordinated

plan to dispose of such a line of business or
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale. The results
of discontinued operation are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Financial assets

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement
categories:

° those to be measured
subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit
or loss), and

o those to be measured at
amortised cost.

The classification depends on the
entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in
profit or loss or OCI. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at
fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.
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e HRRME

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date on which the group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group
measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(ifi)

Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’'s
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset.

Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets
is included in other income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in “other losses, net”
together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as a separate line item
in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures
all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Group's management has
elected to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised
in profit or loss as other income when
the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at FVPL are recognised in
“other losses, net” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as
applicable.
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36

220

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.9

Financial assets (Continued)
(iv)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-
looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 21 for further details.

36.10 Offsetting financial instruments

36.11

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position where the
Group currently has a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts, and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Group has also entered into arrangements
that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but
still allow for the related amounts to be set off
in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or
the termination of a contract.

Movies and television programmes rights
and productions work in progress

Productions work in progress

Productions work in progress are carried
at cost, less accumulated impairment loss.
Cost includes all direct costs associated
with the production of movies and television
programme. Productions work in progress
are transferred to “Movies and television
programmes rights” upon obtained the release
permit licenses.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HtZEEEASHKEMRE (£)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.11 Movies and television programmes 36.1M EXRERTEREREHEGE
rights and productions work in progress (#&)
(Continued)
Movies and television programmes rights EXREHEENRE
Movies and television programmes rights are B L ERE B R AKX AT
carried at cost, less accumulated amortisation R BEZFFEELEFRER
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. BE) ZEEFLEREHE
Amortisation for these movies and television IRER SN TERA AT A AN
programmes rights is charged to profit or loss AEENERNR -
on the systematic basis over the expected
useful life.
The carrying amount of movies and television B NERE B RENRTERE
programmes right and productions work in BHEREEDREM 36771
progress are tested for impairment accordance 2 BERETRERR -
with the policy described in Note 36.7.

36.12 Trade receivables 36.12 EWWE SRR

Trade receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services
performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement within
120 days and therefore all classified as current
assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair
value. The Group holds the trade receivables
with the objective of collecting the contractual

EWE SRR AN B EER AR
& 7 am S bR R AR e MR
P2ZRE - ZERA—RE120
BRZBGEE  FAlEosBESR
BEE -

BB B RN T R E R HE
TRER  BRIFEBEIEARE
RIDARAREER - NEERE
BUREZER  §HEKEE R
ERE AERRBERNE
ERBHEAARRAE - BREAE

cash flows and therefore measures them ERWEZERSTRENE—
subsequently at amortised cost using the FER  BH2AWMF21 - mME#
effective interest method. Further information AEBREBKRNHE  BFL2E
about the Group's accounting for trade M 3E3.1(b) °

receivables are set out in Note 21 and the
description of the Group's impairment policies
is set out in Note 3.1(b).
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

36.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the
Company’s equity instruments, for example
as the result of a share buy-back plan, the
consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income
taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to
the owners of the Company as treasury shares
until the shares are cancelled or reissued.

36.15 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods
and services provided to the Group prior to
the end of financial year which are unpaid. The
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid
within 60 days of recognition. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period. They are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HithEBZEEEASHREME(£)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.16 Current and deferred income tax 36.16 BNHA R IEAE FR 15 %1

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’'s
taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred income tax assets and
liabilities attributable to temporary differences
and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using
the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax liabilities are
not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

The deferred income tax liability in relation to
investment property that is measured at fair
value is determined assuming the property will
be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets
are not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the
company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current income tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred income tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current income tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMZEEEASHBERE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.17 Employee benefits 36.17 EEEF

Short-term employee benefits are recognition
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leaves) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Pension obligation

The Group operates various defined
contribution plans for its employees in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions to publicly
or privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

In addition, pursuant to the relevant regulations
of the PRC government, the subsidiaries in
Mainland China participate in local municipal
government retirement benefits schemes
(the “Schemes”), whereby the subsidiaries
in Mainland China are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the basic salaries
of its employees to the Schemes to fund
their retirement benefits. The local municipal
governments undertake to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of those
employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland
China. Contributions under the Schemes are
charged to the consolidated income statement
as incurred.
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(i)

(ii)

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.18 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of
the company, excluding any costs
of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted
for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the
figures used in the determination of
basic earnings per share to take into
account:

the after-income tax effect of
interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number
of additional ordinary shares that
would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMZEEEASHBERE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.19 Leases 36.19 #HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-
lease components. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative
stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis.
Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable

° variable lease payment that are based
on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating
the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the liability.

HEEHEEERIHAKEER
ZEHERREREEENERER

$0

A4 4B BB EA AT AR
253 o A S BRI AR BB SL (B 18
8 b R E DRI EAE
T 35

MERMELZEENRABNSIE
REEEFE HEABEEN
THENRNFRE

o BENZ (BREREDHET
3R R EE RN EE
e

. AEREHI LRI NS
B HIR $E Bk b R ) 5
ERMAIEEE N

° RABEERTOAREE
8 HA FE AN 5R0R ¢

. BEEEENITEE (MR
SEABEETITEZER
#) R
. E@fﬂi?fﬁﬁ&ﬁ%$’;l§ﬁ
EEREFEERLEER &
IFHERMEREEIR -

RIEAERTEEAEZEFELN
HEMNRIFTABREBENETE

Annual Report 2024 F£F3 227



Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited R K E B A Z =R ER 2 T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRME

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.19 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment
with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate,
the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing is received

° uses a build-up approach that starts
with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for
credit risk for leases held by the Group,
which does not have recent third party
financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the
lease, e.g. term, country, currency and
security.

Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HithEBZEEEASHREME(£)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.19 Leases (Continued) 36.19 #HE (&)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received

o any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset's useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’'s useful
life. While the Group revalues its land and
buildings that are presented within property,
plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do
so for the right-of-use buildings held by the
Group.

Payments associated with short-term
leases and all leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor is recognised in income on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial
direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense
over the lease term on the same basis as
lease income. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position based on their nature. The
Group did not need to make any adjustments
to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a
result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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36

230

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.19 Leases (Continued)

The lease term is reassessed if it is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option, or
not to exercise a termination option, upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a
significant change in circumstances that: (a) is
within the control of the lessee; and (b) affects
whether the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise an option not previously included in
its determination of the lease term, or not to
exercise an option previously included in its
determination of the lease term.

36.20 Government grants

36.21

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received,
and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are
deferred and recognised in the profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with
the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of
property, plant and equipment are included in
non-current liabilities as deferred income and
are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose or giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial assets to that asset’ s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
TFEMBEREE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS BE¥E
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

Continuing operations BREREEK

Revenue Wz 78,635 84,689 72,295 70,189 70,432
Profit/(loss) from operations LR/ (BE) 10,561 22,345 4,227 (29,890) (63,839)
Finance cost BEMAK (65) (14) (22) (5) (502)
Profit/(loss) before income tax B FTERATET/ (BE) 10,496 22,331 4,205 (29,895) (64,341)
Income tax expense EHRX (2,389) (6,368) (2,327) (3,303) 6,381

Profit/(loss) for the year from RERHEREER 7EER

continuing operations I/ (B8) 8,107 15,963 1,878 (33,198) (57,960)
Discontinued operations BRIEEEER
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBKRIEEERFE

discontinued operations (B8 /&7 (1,035) (15,140) (11,857) 23,056 (5,852)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF/ (BR) 7,072 823 (9,979) (10,142) (63,812)
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES mEEERERE

At 31 December
M12A31H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FAT TET FAT F&T TET

Total assets BERRE 650,302 690,083 632,363 545,081 474,324
Total liabilities BERE (317,202)  (326,268)  (307,829)  (236,893) (238,374)
Net assets BERE 333,100 363,815 324,634 308,188 235,950
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PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY
REN=HE

Details of the Group's investment property at the end of the MU TARBEHRAEEBLZ T 2R EMEF

reporting period are as follows: 15
Attributable
interest of
Location Existing use Lease term the Group
rEE
it B RERAR HEH FEAL =
No. 9, Gaoxin Central Avenue 3rd
Nanshan District, Shenzhen
the People’s Republic of China Commercial Medium
REARLIMEDRYITE LESHH =B95% SES 5 100%
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